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Norske Skog’s arena is the market for the 

dissemination of information, group identity

and entertainment. A background article 

discusses the relationship between paper-based

information and new, electronic media. There

are many indications that the media and enter-

tainment sector will grow faster than the rest of

the economy, becoming a more important 

component of the world economy. Strong

growth in the total market will also lead to

growth in the segment in which Norske Skog

works.

During 2001 publication paper markets became

gradually weaker throughout the world, but

trends differed somewhat from region to region.

This section also discusses several projects in the

area of marketing and human resources.

“Now we shall prove that we have the know-how

and the energy to reinforce our position as one

of the leading companies in the industry,” writes

Jan Reinås.

The limitations 
of the crystal ball
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increasing productivity and paying off debt.
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to give its shareholders a total

return matching that of the

best companies in the sector.

During the period 2000-2001

Norske Skog achieved a return

which was 18% higher than

that of the companies in a

comparable group.
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   

world’s second largest
producer of publication 
paper, with 24 wholly- and
partly-owned mills in 15
countries on five conti-
nents. Norske Skog has a
13% share of the global
market for newsprint and
magazine paper.

Norske Skog was 
established in 1962, and
its first newsprint machine
came on line in 1966.
Acquisitions, construction
of new capacity and mer-
gers made the Company
the undisputed leader of
Norway’s paper and pulp
industry during the 1970’s
and 1980’s. In the 1990’s
Norske Skog built a strong
European platform through
acquisitions and new

plant construction in
Norway, France, Austria
and The Czech Republic.

Since 2000 the Com-
pany has been a leading
global player, with activi-
ties in Asia, North America,
South America and Aus-
tralasia. In 2001 it further
strengthened its position
by acquiring two more
mills in Europe, increasing
its ownership in the com-
panies in Asia and South
America, and selling activi-
ties outside its core area
publication paper.

From 1991 to 2001 ope-
rating revenue rose from
NOK 8.6 billion to NOK
30.4 billion, and its mar-
ket capitalisation from
just over NOK 2 billion to
over NOK 22 billion.

This is Norske Skog
INTRODUCTION
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INTRODUCTION

Renewed efforts
Profitable growth
    too much on the 
excellent results attained in 2001. We have
come far. If we look at our vision, goals and
strategy, as they were formulated in 1999,
and compare them with where we stand 
today, there is every reason to give great
credit to the organisation for the results
achieved. We can look back on two years of
profitable growth, with good demand for
our products. Operating margins are on a
level with – or better than – our main com-
petitors in publication paper. Norske Skog
is now a clear, distinct company.We have
divested everything outside our core busi-
ness and can go forward with complete 
focus on improving our competitiveness,
particularly in a weaker market for news-
print and magazine paper. We see no im-
provement in 2002, at least not before the
second half of the year. It is now that we
shall prove that we have the necessary
knowledge and ability to strengthen our
position as one of the leading companies 
in our sector.

Paying off debt
     for consolidation.
Paying off debt has priority. Norske Skog is
a soundly structured company where past
investments are well matched with access to
cash flow from the various parts of the Group.
A basic requirement is to stay focused on
efficiency and costs. We shall improve our
competitiveness by adapting products and
quality. By implementing best practice

throughout the value chain, Norske Skog
will contribute to its customers’ competitive-
ness and value creation. The goal is to be
the market’s preferred supplier of publi-
cation paper.

Challenges
  our industry is continuing,
and Norske Skog shall still be a part of this
trend. However, we have recently demon-
strated through our purchase of the Haindl
mills Parenco and Walsum that we have
ability to actively participate in the market.
This project gave us the chance to offer our
customers an even broader range of maga-
zine paper products, but it also entailed
tough integration challenges in a very weak
market. Norske Skog is favourably placed in
the most important growth markets for
newsprint and magazine paper. We are
strong in Asia through our 50 per cent stake
in Pan Asia Paper Company, and we have a
dominant position in the South American
market. Exploiting and further developing
this promising position offers great possi-
bilities. Our position in the South American
market is unique, with great market poten-
tial and highly efficient operations.
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OPERATING REVENUE
PER PRODUCT

Main figures for 2001

INTRODUCTION
Shareholders' 
General Meeting 
The ordinary General
Meeting will be held on
Monday 29 April, at 1 p.m.
at Rica Sjølyst Konferanse-
senter, Drammensveien 154,
Oslo.

Financial 
information 2002 
Shares will be listed ex
-dividend 30 April. Pay-
ment of dividend to share-
holders who are listed in
the company’s register 
of shareholders as of
29 April, 16 May.

Publication of
Quarterly Results
2002
First quarter 29 April
Second quarter 29 July
Third quarter 24 October

Additional 
Information on 
the Internet
Additional financial 
information concerning
Norske Skog may be
found on the Internet:
www.norske.skog.com

Including:

• All result reports
• Press releases
• Presentations to the
stock market
• Information about the
Group’s organisation,
management and activity
• Information about mills,
products, markets,
environmental questions
and research
• Links to other relevant
sources

6   |       

Newsprint 68%

Pulp 10%

SC magazine paper 10%

LWC magazine paper 7%

Other 5%

OPERATING REVENUE 
PER AREA

Europe 47%

North America 18%

South America 6%

Australasia 15%

Asia 8%

Other activities 6%

CAPACITY PUBLICATION 
PAPER PER AREA

Europe 46%

Australasia 12%

South America 6%

North America 23%

Asia 13%



Main financial figures

NOK Million 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992

Profit and loss accounts
Operating revenue 30,354 26,635 18,054 14,908 13,312 13,265 12,548 9,170 7,338 7,557
Operating earnings 5,096 4,211 2,129 1,780 1,083 1,916 2,500 732 299 -47
Earnings for the year 2,494 1,958 1,300 1,020 590 1,317 1,699 206 -47 -516

Main financial figures
Cash flow from operating activities 7,052 4,922 2,162 2,859 1,615 2,616 2,555 866 492 256
Depreciation 3,323 2,388 1,689 1,323 1,140 1,132 832 616 552 575
Investments in operational fixed assets 1,422 1,351 1,154 3,983 1,814 1,053 926 565 1,127 2,220
Gearing 1.18 0.92 0.65 0.71 0.45 0.63 0.61 0.67 1.13 1.07

Profitability
Gross operating margin % 27.7 24.8 21.1 20.8 16.7 23.6 26.6 14.7 11.6 9.6
Return on capital employed % 13.7 13.1 11.0 11.7 8.4 15.9 25.4 8.3 3.4 -0.6

Shares and shareholder structure
Net earnings per share after tax 20.68 19.17 14.01 11.36 6.94 16.99 22.01 2.88 -0.74 -8.80
Net earnings per share
after full conversion 20.68 19.17 14.01 11.36 6.94 15.10 19.33 3.21 0.69 -6.80
Equity per share 146.66 218.04 126.17 111.71 107.34 99.19 84.82 66.21 108.14 64.57

Main financial figures per area

NOK Million 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992

Europe
Operating revenue 14,219 13,229 12,102 10,539 9,284 9,493 8,066 5,831 4,731 4,773
Operating earnings 3,247 2,266 1,809 1,946 1,134 2,078 1,708 454 469 95
Operating margin % 22.8 17.1 14.9 18.5 12.2 21.9 21.2 7.8 9.9 2.0

North America
Operating revenue 5,455 4,157 - - - - - - - -
Operating earnings 329 529 - - - - - - - -
Operating margin % 6.0 12.7 - - - - - - - -

South America
Operating revenue 1,939 1,035 - - - - - - - -
Operating earnings 473 231 - - - - - - - -
Operating margin % 24.4 22.3 - - - - - - - -

Australasia
Operating revenue 4,473 2,801 - - - - - - - -
Operating earnings 725 545 - - - - - - - -
Operating margin % 16.2 19.5 - - - - - - - -

Asia
Operating revenue 2,434 2,572 1,988 485 - - - - - -
Operating earnings 616 526 336 61 - - - - - -
Operating margin % 25.3 20.5 16.9 12.6 - - - - - -

Other Activities
Operating revenue 2,319 3,881 4,132 4,037 4,043 3,800 4,504 3,546 2,756 2,890
Operating earnings 98 372 37 -90 33 -100 778 324 -102 -112
Operating margin % 4.2 9.6 0.9 -2.2 0.8 -2.6 17.3 9.1 -3.7 -3.9
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Norske Skog is one of the world’s largest users of recycled paper. In 2001 Norske Skog Albury, in Australia, had recycled and used
1 million tonnes of waste paper since the mill commissioned its de-inking plant in the mid-1990’s. Don Stals, operator at the plant, is
proud of the company’s contribution to the environment.
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   active in the three regions, Europe, South America

and Australasia, while its presence in North America and Asia is 

represented by the partly-owned firms NorskeCanada, Pan Asia and

Malaysian Newsprint Industries. Information about individual mills

including their products, capacities and locations – may be found in

the table on page 42.

During 2001 markets for publication paper grew gradually

weaker throughout the world – initially, and most markedly, in

North America, and last of all in Europe. Norske Skog’s output 

of publication paper in 2001 totalled 4.8 million tonnes, against 

4.1 million tonnes in 2000. Lower demand necessitated production

curtailments - corresponding to a total of 297,000 tonnes - at the

Group’s wholly-owned mills.

Weaker markets
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Mixed market situation
     in 2000,
the demand for newsprint in Europe was
healthy in the first half of 2001. In the second
half, however, the gradually declining eco-
nomic climate and decrease in advertising
expenditures led to a 4% reduction in the
demand for newsprint. Softening markets
outside Europe reduced export possibilities
considerably. The capacity utilisation aver-
aged approximately 92%, down from ap-
proximately 97% in 2000. Price levels in
Europe were strong and stable in 2001,
whereas a reduction in prices occurred out-
side Europe during the year.

Deliveries of uncoated (SC) magazine
paper to Europe experienced a healthy
growth for most of the year, but after a 
decline in demand in the last two months it
equalled 2000 levels. The growth was parti-
cularly strong for the SC-B quality paper,
due to substitution from other higher value
grades. The decrease in exports to North
America and Asia was partly offset by 
increased exports to Eastern Europe and

Strong earnings 
despite softening
demand 

    strong earnings and

cash flow in 2001. The acquisition of the two mills

Walsum and Parenco at the end of the year improved

the product portfolio significantly. Norske Skog Europe

is now well placed to take a leading position as a 

supplier of publication paper in the region.

EUROPE

Latin America. Consequently capacity utilisation was close
to 95%. Prices for SC remained at a satisfactory level
throughout the year.

The coated mechanical (LWC) market weakened early
in the year, due to substantial capacity increase and a weaker
economic climate. European demand decreased by approxi-
mately 6% in 2001. Poor markets outside Europe reduced
the exports by 10%. Capacity utilisation was approximately
83%. Prices for LWC stayed at a reasonable level despite a
gradually increasing downward pressure.

Continuous productivity improvements
    a total of 2,571,000
tonnes of publication paper this year, 3.5% less than last
year. The lower production is a result of production curtail-
ments during the last two quarters. The overall productivity
development was positive, with an increased per-hour pro-
duction of close to 3% from 2000.

Norske Skog initiated a European performance improve-
ment program, and by year-end three of the mills had im-
plemented this program. The remaining mills are scheduled
to start in 2002. The program is designed to improve per-
formance along the value chain on a continuous basis with
high focus on people involvement and knowledge sharing.

Total newsprint production was down by 0.9% 



Cathrine Bakke wants to work in the paper and pulp industry, and is an apprentice at 
Norske Skog Saugbrugs. Her guide and mentor is Kjell Aune.



TRENDS IN NEWSPAPER ADVERTISING INCOME 
IN WESTERN EUROPE 
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compared to 2000. All newsprint machines showed positive
productivity development, and the focus on quality remained
high. Additional efforts and investments were made to achieve
a standard Nornews quality on newsprint from Norske Skog
Steti. The productivity development at Norske Skog Golbey
continued to surpass planned targets. Total magazine paper
production in Norske Skog Europe decreased by 8.5%,
mainly due to production curtailments due to weaker 
demand.

During 2001 investments in capital projects was mini-
mal at the mills. The focus has primarily been on efforts to
improve and maintain paper quality, together with replacing
equipment to keep productivity levels high and increasing
in the future. The two main projects were:
- installation of a new quality control system on 

Norske Skog Union’s PM 6, and the
- rebuild of the paper machine at Norske Skog Steti to 

improve paper quality.

Environment: Planning for EU/IPPC
    the emission limits during 2001.
Norske Skog Skogn and Norske Skog Saugbrugs showed
positive development. Planning has begun for compliance
to the 2007 EU/IPPC (Integrated Pollution Preventive and
Control) for emissions. No major environmental invest-
ments were made in 2001.

Focus on organisational development
    , Norske Skog Europe has 5,943 em-
ployees on the payroll, 50% of whom are employed outside
Norway. Corresponding figures for 2000 were 4,056 and
1,332 respectively. The acquisition of the Parenco and 
Walsum mills has contributed to the significant increase in
the total number of employees.

Despite weakening markets throughout the year, the 
region was able to maintain full employment during 2001.
This was due to increased activities in training and 
employee development.

Several ongoing activities for organisational develop-
ment were the area of focus in 2001. The activities include
increased exchange of personnel between units, develop-
ment and implementation of a new management program,
and introduction of an operator development program.
Focus on personnel and organisation development will
continue into 2002.

MAIN FINANCIAL FIGURES EUROPE
NOK million 2001 2000 1999
Operating revenue 14,219 13,229 12,102

Operating earnings 3,247 2,266 1,809

Operating margin % 22.8 17.1 14.9

THE OUTLOOK FOR ADVERTISING SPEND IN EUROPE, 
THE MIDDLE EAST AND AFRICA

Investments in advertisements and other publicity
in Europe, The Middle East and Africa are 
expected to show annual average growth of
7.7% during the period 2000-2005. News-
papers' advertising income is estimated to 
increase by an average of 4.9% per year, while
that of magazines will rise by 7.7%.

Total
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Integration of two new mills
an enormous undertaking

  

required a solid and com-
mitted team approach. The
separation/integration teams,
led by a strong steering
committee, represented six
functional areas: Supply,
Commercial and Logistics,
Information Technology,
Finance, Manufacturing,
and Organization, Human
Resources and Communi-
cation. The process was
based on the Norske Skog
values, defined during the
integration of Fletcher
Challenge Paper. Norske
Skog’s core values are open-
ness, honesty and co-opera-
tion.

As the process progressed,
representatives from Parenco
and Walsum joined the sep-
aration/integration teams.
This structure was incorpo-
rated to help achieve a 
balanced-view as they
looked at the future busi-
ness, defined improvement
projects and prepared their
implementation in order to
develop value at all levels in
the organisation.

After an extended period
of preparation and planning,
work began in earnest in
August. A committee with
representatives from Norske
Skog, Haindl and UPM was
formed to co-ordinate the
whole process.

Their goal was to facilitate
the completion of the due
diligence process and en-
sure smooth separation and
integration planning.

A status report, along
with critical issues and up-
dated action lists from all
teams, was presented to the
Norske Skog Steering Com-
mittee at the end of October.
On 14 and 15 November ,
an integration and closing
kick-off meeting was held.
Functional representatives
from both Walsum and
Parenco gathered to devel-
op a final integration or-
ganisation, along with
working plans for the inte-
gration teams. The closing
of the transaction was suc-
cessfully completed on 30
November.

Meeting all the expecta-
tions of the various regula-
tory bodies, as well as the
needs of employees who are
joining Norske Skog’s global
family, is a significant chal-
lenge. But through the
commitment and team-
work of all involved, Norske
Skog Europe is laying the
foundation for a new era of
success, for the benefit of
customers, employees and
Norske Skog’s shareholders.

Most raw material prices down
    was
good, however prices 
remained at a relatively high
level. Recovered paper prices
were lower than in 2000,
but still above historical 
levels. Pulp prices dropped
continuously throughout
the year and stabilised 
towards the end of 2001.

Energy prices remained
stable throughout 2001. The
liberalisation of the energy
markets in France and 

Eastern Europe progressed
more slowly than expected.
Energy trading continued
to generate positive results
in 2001.

Prices for chemicals and
other production consum-
ables were on average higher
than in 2000, mainly due to
high oil prices at the begin-
ning of 2001. The high oil
prices also influenced the
natural gas markets.

The take-over of Walsum and Parenco was marked by special
events at the two mills. Lorenzo, a paper magician, and Karin 
Lindner, Norske Skog Walsum, enjoy the celebrations.

Integration of large organizations, such as Walsum, Germany, and Parenco in the 
Netherlands, into the Norske Skog Group is an enormous undertaking. The two mills 
employ 1,367 people and have a combined publication paper capacity of 880,000 tonnes. 



EUROPE
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Demand for newsprint in
Europe is low at the begin-
ning of 2002, but a gradual
improvement could come
later in the year. Capacity
utilisation is expected to be
lower than in 2001.

Demand for uncoated
magazine paper (SC) is 
expected to be largely main-
tained, in both Europe and
the US. There is some
growth in capacity for 
SC-B, and capacity utili-

sation will probably be 
lower than in 2001.

Demand for coated
magazine paper (LWC)
could be higher than in 2001,
if the expected economic
upturn takes place. Signifi-
cant volumes are, however,
coming onto the market
following the start-up of a
new machine in Autumn
2001, and capacity utilisa-
tion is expected to remain
at 2001 levels.

Several initiatives to improve H&S performance

Norske Skog Europe has 
established the “zero mind-
set” and H = 0 as the vision
and goal, in order to drive
improvements. H=0 forms
the base for all efforts with-
in Health & Safety. In 2001
the region made a priority
of introducing the program
TAKE CARE 24 HOURS,
an umbrella for all H&S 
activities. The program in-
cludes a framework and 
activities focussed on
around-the-clock health
and safety performance

among all employees. This
will continue into 2002.

Behaviour Based Audit-
ing (BBA), safety manage-
ment audit training, has
also been introduced and
implemented in 2001. More
than 90% of all injuries are
caused by unsafe acts. This
fact is the principal driver
for implementing the audit
system.

In 2002, the key initia-
tive for continuous im-
provements will be a sys-
tematic management of be-

haviour and the introduc-
tion of Self-Assessment.
Self-Assessment is a contin-
uous, structured process in-
tegrated into the day-to-day
business of Norske Skog
Europe focussed on three
management components
(people, assets and systems).
Self-Assessment is applic-
able to all activities and 
operational aspects within
Norske Skog Europe.

The average rate of ab-
sence due to illness and in-
juries is 5.5% compared to
5.4%  in 2000. The rate of
absence in the Norwegian
mills is still significantly
higher than in the interna-
tional mills. A new national
agreement has been intro-
duced in Norway to improve

the situation in this area.
Norske Skog Europe has
also taken measures to 
reduce absenteeism through
several initiatives at its mills.

The “get into shape” pro-
gramme at Saugbrugs 
attracted wide participation
from most of the company’s
employees. The goal was
thereby achieved – to get the
“couch potatoes” exercising
for better health!

The market situation for publication paper is closely linked to general economic trends, and develop-
ments in the US will be particularly important. An economic upswing in the US, which many believe
could occur later in the year, should mean increased demand in both North America and Europe. At the
beginning of 2002 both mill and customer inventories were at a relatively low level, and consequently a
rise in demand could rapidly lead to increased capacity utilisation.

The H-value (lost time accidents - LTA - per one
million working hours) for Norske Skog Europe
was 8 for 2001, which was the same level as last
year and a result that did not meet internal tar-
gets. On a positive note, Norske Skog Steti has
had a zero LTA since April 2000.

Weak first half 2002
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Norske Skog increased
its market share

     for South America’s dailies.

Economic slowdown and currency devaluation in some countries

meant decreasing advertising revenue, reduced pagination and lower

demand for newsprint. Norske Skog increased its market share in the

region despite substantial market-related production curtailments.

S0UTH AMERICA

Norske Skog PISA, Brazil. The mill was built by the Mesquita family in 1984. Nearly 80% of its employees have worked there
since it started operation.



   in the re-
gion decreased by 14% to 1,050,000 tonnes.
The largest market, Brazil, saw a reduction
from 625,000 tonnes in 2000 to 490,000
tonnes in 2001. In the second largest mar-
ket, Argentina, demand fell by 22%. Other
markets followed the same trend, but at
lower levels. Pagination was affected by weak
advertisment and content rationalisation as
an effort to reduce newsprint costs.

Prices down
   balance in-
volved price pressure. Throughout the year
the reference price varied by more than
USD 200, reaching the USD 460 level for
standard newsprint in Brazil in December.
Prices in other South American markets
followed a similar trend. Competitive price
pressure from North American suppliers to
the region has slowed down, which may indi-
cate that the bottom of the cycle is nearing.

Norske Skog’s market share increased
from 26% in 2000 to 28% in the region and
from 42% to 46% in Brazil. Imports from

SOUTH AMERICA
North America are estimated to have declined by 20% to
420,000 tonnes in 2001. Regional capacity remained un-
changed at 780,000 tonnes.

Due to the weak market situation a total production
curtailment of 45,000 tonnes was completed in the region
during 2001. The Norske Skog regional production volume
in South America was 314,200 tonnes of newsprint and
other publication paper grades. No major investments were 
undertaken at the mills during 2001.

New regional organisation
      was closed and the Sales 
organisation was moved to the South America  regional
Head Office in Curitiba. A new entity was created to manage
all sales to the markets in South America. This includes from
1 January 2002 the sales from Norske Skog’s activities in
Europe and North America to South America. Compre-
hensive restructuring has taken place in the South America 
operations including the divestment in December of the
forest plantations in Brazil. Following the sale of the forest
properties, PISA has secured its wood supply through a
long-term agreement.

Norske Skog South America employs 579 people,
compared to 660 in 2000. Performance within Health and
Safety is good, particularly at PISA.

Several environmental projects
      to reduce the
disposal of waste. In September an IMS - Integrated 
Management  System (Environment) was implemented at
PISA. Bio Bio is in the process of installing a primary effluent
treatment plant and a number of projects are underway to
reduce noise and dust downfall. The mill is working on the
implementation of ISO 14001, and the certification is 
expected to be obtained in 2002. In Brazil, a new environ-
mental tax linked to water consumption is underway.

Future prospects
     in most
South American markets are not expected to improve 
before the third quarter, but further deterioration of
newsprint demand is not expected. At year end inventory
levels were low at Norske Skog’s mills. Newsprint demand
in Brazil may be favourably affected if the authorities, as 
expected, allows foreign investors  to venture into Brazilian
media companies. Events like the Football World Cup and
the presidential elections in Brazil in 2002 may also be an
incentive to newsprint demand.MAIN FINANCIAL FIGURES SOUTH AMERICA

NOK million 2001 2000 1999
Operating revenue 1,939 1,035 -

Operating earnings 473 231 -

Operating margin % 24.4 22.3 -
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THE OUTLOOK FOR ENTERTAINMENT AND MEDIA 
SPENDING IN LATIN AMERIKA 2000-2005

Total

Other

Newspapers

Magazines

Internet

Average annual growth is forecast to reach
12.5% during the period for the sector as a
whole, while the corresponding figure for news-
papers is 9.5%, and for the magazine sector
11.0%. Average annual growth for Internet is 
estimated at just over 40%.

(Source: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Wilkofsky Gruen Associates, May 2001)

USD million
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   

and changes in ownership legislation
for media companies might fuel in-
vestments in this sector in Brazil.
At present, only individuals can
own a media company and foreign
capital is not allowed. A liberalisa-
tion of the legislation is now being
considered. Brazilian analysts 
expect this will entail substantial 
expansion in the media industry.

Long-term prospects for South
American newspapers are considered
to be encouraging. In their report
on global media outlook 2001-2005
PricewaterhouseCoopers estimates
an average annual growth of
approximately 8% for the period
both in Argentina, Brazil and Chile.
In the magazine segment even
stronger growth is expected.
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Latin American newsprint consumption per 
capita is still at a comparatively low level.
1985-2000 the region’s combined consumption
increased by approximately 50% .
(Source: Newsprint Data)

CONSUMPTION NEWSPRINT 2000, 
KGS PER CAPITA

2001 was a bad year for South American media companies, but
there is a light to be seen at the end of the tunnel. The situation
was heavily influenced by the economic development in Brazil
and Argentina. These two countries represent almost two/thirds 
of newspaper advertising in the entire area of Latin America. 
Fluctuations in the regional economy also produce a cyclical 
character to the media industries. During January-September
2001 the newspaper advertising revenues in Brazil and 
Argentina declined 24% and 16%, respectively.

Great fluctuations for
South American media

Argentina

Brazil

Chile

Latin America

The World

The employees 
at Klabin take the 

cablecar to and 
from the mill.
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Norske Skog Tasman has made great efforts to restore the wetlands around the mill. Its work has now been rewarded with a prestigious conser-
vation prize in New Zealand. From left, the head of Norske Skog Tasman, Mark Oughton, and George Wade, who manages the company’s treat-
ment plant. The prize was awarded to Norske Skog Tasman for “development of best practice in the conservation and sensible use of the 
wetlands, and for its commitment to conserving them.”



Relatively stable 
performance, 
improved productivity
     in 2001, the Australian
newspaper market remained vibrant with the launch of
mass-transit newspapers in Melbourne and continued
strong investment by publishers in new printing equipment
and colour capacity. The contract terms with New Zealand
customers were extended from five to ten years, now com-
prising the whole of the New Zealand newspaper publisher
market. A drop in Asian demand resulted in a lack of orders
from this market, and during the year the region took over
43,000 tonnes of market related downtime.

Productivity potential remains
    developed favourably. Adjusted
for operating days and market related downtime all mills in
the region produced ahead of 2000. Albury PM 1 and the
Boyer Mill set  new records for production. Particularly
good gains in productivity were made on Boyer PM 2 and
Tasman PM 3. Significant opportunity for productivity 
improvement remains at all mills. The Tasman market pulp
mill was sold during the year.

Investments at the mills in 2001 were concentrated at
Albury and Tasman. A variety of investments at Albury will
allow the machine to make a step change in speed in 2002.
The investments at Tasman were focussed on improving
paper quality and efficiency. In 2002 a new headbox will be
installed on PM 2 at Tasman.

     from 3.5% in 2000

to less than 2.0% in 2001. The New Zealand economy remained

stable with a 2.5% growth rate. Newspaper advertising and 

pagination fell by 3% in the region. Market share gains and a

price increase under the long-term contracts in Australia never-

theless resulted in a relatively stable performance for the region.

AUSTRALASIA

    |       21

Excellent achievements within
Health and Safety
      in
safety performance, finishing the year with
an H- factor of 2.57. This excellent result
reflects the continued emphasis on behav-
iour based safety programs and the embed-
ding of health and safety systems and
processes. People development was a focus
area in 2001 with the introduction of a 
regional leadership development program,
roll out of the global leadership program,
“The SPIRIT of Norske Skog”, and intro-
duction of Norske Skog Operational Stan-
dards with support from region Europe.

Environmental award to Tasman
   three mills continued to
improve their environmental performance.
The Ecological Risk Assessment of the Boyer
Mill’s impact on the Derwent River was
completed, and based on the evidence this
provided, regulatory authorities have ex-
tended the timeframe for implementation
of further measures. Work continued on
wetland rehabilitation at Tasman and on a
range of initiatives to reduce water usage



MAIN FINANCIAL FIGURES AUSTRALASIA
NOK million 2001 2000 1999
Operating revenue 4,473 2,801 -

Operating earnings 725 545 -

Operating margin % 16.2 19.5 -
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AUSTRALASIA

Smiles all round at Norske Skog Boyer, when the company 
– for the second time running – was awarded a five-star prize
for its safety programme by the National Safety Council of 
Australia. This puts Boyer among the leading 5% of Australian
workplaces. Its status as a five-star company was marked by a
festive arrangement for employees and official guests, attended
by David Kirk, Regional President of Region Australasia. From
left Bill Philips, operator at the paper mill, and Ray Kean, 
winding machine operator.

and fibre loss. The mill’s progress was recognised with the
receipt of a Bay of Plenty environment award. Albury 
recycled its one-millionth tonne of recovered paper.

Future prospects
  economies are forecast to remain stable
with solid, if unspectacular growth rates. Any recovery of
the US economy in the second half of the year will aid 
further growth in Australia. Exports to Asia are expected 
to remain depressed as Asian economies remain stagnant.
Further market curtailment is planned to maintain bal-
anced inventories.

Earnings are forecast to be as good or better than 2001
as small mid-year price increases and continuing produc-
tivity improvement enhance margins. The region will con-
tinue to focus on broadening and improving the services it
offers to Australasian customers, improving manufacturing
productivity and planning for future development.
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Average 
per year:
5.1%

Average
per year:
6.3%

(Source: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Wilkofsky Gruen Associates, May 2001)

TRENDS IN NEWSPAPER ADVERTISING INCOME,
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   softened in Asia during 2001.

However, activity in Pan Asia’s core markets were 

stable. In 2001 the focus was on improvement pro-

grammes at the mills and financial consolidation.

Pan Asia has experienced a very satisfactory develop-

ment and the value of Pan Asia’s equity has increased

by 75% in little more than two years. Asia is still a net

importer of newsprint, and Pan Asia is continuously

assessing growth opportunities.

ASIA

Excellent operating 
margins despite softening
demand and prices
    with a unique opportunity
to increase its stake in Pan Asia, in this prime growth region,
to 50% when Hansol Paper offered their one/third stake in
the Company. The shareholders also took the opportunity
to review the Shareholders’ Agreement in light of Pan Asia’s
development since its inception in 1999.

Stable core markets
  reflects the newsprint market swings in
the US, with US West Coast transaction price being a bench-
mark throughout the region. As experienced in the inter-
national markets, the strong demand situation deteriorated
through 2001, most noticeably from the second quarter 
onwards. This produced over time a substantial price 
decline.

However, the demand situation in the second half of the
year was better than expected. Pan Asia experienced stable
demand in its core markets of Korea, China and Thailand.
In Korea, increased business confidence towards the end of

the year meant that newspaper’s pagination
and circulation changed little from the end
of 2000. In Thailand, the launch of a new
tabloid ensures a healthy demand, although
prices are under pressure as spot suppliers
are still prevalent.

In India, Malaysia, Singapore, Hong
Kong and Taiwan, both Asian, Russian and
Western European mills have had a strong
presence based on spot offers. There have
been few signs of the cycle bottoming out
in these markets.

Pan Asia is adhering to its overall market
policy of supplying its long-term customers
at competitive prices without engaging in
spot sales. The company has maintained
good margins throughout 2001 despite the
difficult market conditions.
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Employees at Pan Asia Chonju, Korea, relaxing in the shade during their lunch break. Chonju is the world’s largest
newsprint mill, with capacity of about 1 million tonnes.

High productivity
     very high pro-
ductivity at its four mills. Weakened demand
necessitated production curtailments, and
Chonju, Korea, halted operations at three of
its six paper machines for  rebuild and up-
grading. Pan Asia’s combined production
volume in 2001 was 1,178,000 tonnes of
newsprint and specialty grades, down from
1,443,900 tonnes in 2000. The reduction
was mainly in newsprint. In addition, Pan
Asia distributed in total 229,000 tonnes of
newsprint and specialties from its share-
holders in 2001, this number being only
slightly down from 2000.

Consolidation in 2001
  consolidated its position through
2001 with a focus on improvement pro-
grammes at the mills, and the repayment
and refinancing of debt.

At Chonju, three paper machines were
targeted to increase speed, thereby improv-
ing efficiency and productivity. The machines
were shut down for rebuilds, and the pro-
gramme was a success as the target speed 
after the rebuild was achieved.

Human Resources, Organisation 
and Environment
   approximately 1,900 employees. The company
is achieving excellent health and safety results and maintains
high environmental standards. All discharges to air and 
water are within the limits set by the national authorities.

Future prospects
   entering the market in China is putting
some pressure on prices. Capacity growth in other areas in
Asia is low. Demand in China is stable during this slump in
worldwide demand, and demand growth in the region as a
whole is expected to be higher than the global average.

Pan Asia is continuously surveying and assessing
growth opportunities in Asia, both through organic growth
in emerging markets like China, and through acquisitions
in other, more mature markets. The region is still under-
supplied as a whole.

ASIA

MAIN FINANCIAL FIGURES PAN ASIA
NOK million 2001 2000 1999
Operating revenue 2,434 2,572 1,988

Operating earnings 616 526 336

Operating margin % 25.3 20.5 16.9
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Newspapers in Asia are expected to increase circulation by 2-3% annually during the period 2001-2005, while advertising revenue in 
the period is expected to grow by 5-6% per year. Newspapers are more sensitive to fluctuations in the overall economy than other media,
but in contrast to other regions, newspapers in Asia are increasing their share of the advertising market (PricewaterhouseCoopers).

MNI increased production in 2001

Improved productivity
  228,500 tonnes of
newsprint in 2001, compared to
216,900 tonnes in 2000. MNI is still
on a start-up curve with increased
production despite having taken
downtime to balance the slump in
demand. MNI continues to work on
increasing productivity by 
increasing speed.

Human Resources, organi-
sation and environment
  approximately 380
people. MNI has been successful in
retaining highly skilled employees
in a country where migration is
highly prevalent. MNI is also 
achieving good health and safety 
results, and in 2001 it received a
prestigious prize for its health and
safety performance. The company
has modern treatment equipment
and all discharges are within the lim-

its set by the authorities
MNI has worked actively to im-

prove collection rates for recycled
fibre in Malaysia. This work has
been very successful with local 
collection having increased to a 
level of 44% of total recycled fibre
consumption at MNI. Domestic
collection in Malaysia has doubled
over the past three years.

Future prospects
    manufacturer of
newsprint in Malaysia. The country
has an annual  consumption of
about 300,000 tonnes newsprint,
corresponding to approximately 14
kgs per capita, whereas the Asian
average is 4-5 kgs. At MNI the main
priority still remains, that is, to in-
crease speed and overall efficiency
of PM 1 and ensure stable operation
and satisfactory sales.
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As a single-machine mill in a vulnerable market, MNI faces far
greater market challenges than Pan Asia. MNI has long-term
supply agreements with its main customers, but the current
market situation induced some customers to adopt short-term
considerations, putting considerable pressure on MNI. Both 
demand and prices deteriorated rapidly from the second 
quarter on. Towards the end of 2001 MNI has seen signs of 
increased demand, but prices are, however, still low.
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NORTH AMERICA

NorskeCanada made
a giant leap forward
in 2001

   -  for NorskeCanada.

The successful acquisition of Pacifica Papers was

achieved, the market pulp mill Mackenzie was sold to

new  industrial owners and the market pulp produc-

tion at Powell River was closed down. The structural

changes mean important progress for NorskeCanada

as well as the industry in British Columbia.

     on
27 August meant that NorskeCanada 
became the third largest groundwood pulp
and paper company in North America with
2.3 million tonnes of annual capacity.
NorskeCanada's  business mix improved
with telephone directory paper increasing
by 133%, uncoated publication paper
grades by 160% and NorskeCanada also
has a new presence in light weight coated
paper (LWC).

The structural changes in 2001 strength-
ened NorskeCanada’s concentration on the
core area publication paper and reduced
the exposure to the cyclical pulp market.

As part of the financial restructuring of
the company, NorskeCanada paid out to
shareholders a special dividend of CAD 12
per share in 2001.

Softened market conditions
   both publication
paper and market pulp softened over the
course of the year following the weakening
in the US economy. Demand for paper fell
and advertising rates also decreased.

NorskeCanada curtailed output to balance production with
customer demand. Market related downtime was signifi-
cantly higher in 2001 at 149,500 tonnes for newsprint and
specialties and 75,000 for pulp and containerboard.

Prices for benchmark standard 48.8 gsm newsprint for
US West Coast averaged USD 586 per tonne. The average
for the quarters ranged from a high of USD 625 per tonne
in the second quarter to USD 530 per tonne in the fourth
quarter. The average benchmark  (US East Coast) for
northern bleached sulphate pulp price was USD 680 for the
first quarter slipping to USD 500 for the fourth quarter.

Efficient operations
    production results from synergies,
paper machine efficiencies and lower furnish costs. For
newsprint, operating rates have meant record level produc-
tion in spite of maintaining a conservative approach to 
inventory management. The focus for 2001 has been on the
acquisition and integration of Pacifica. This has meant a
year of consolidation for the mills and new investments
have been kept to a minimum.

The Powell River kraft pulp mill was shut down in 
November, resulting in the removal of 165,000 tonnes of
annual pulp capacity. The shutdown will strengthen the
economic future of NorskeCanada’s two mills that produce
paper and market pulp, Elk Falls and Crofton.
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Comprehensive programme for Powell River
   the Powell River kraft mill affected 280
positions. NorskeCanada invested CAD 30 million in a 
mitigation programme to facilitate relocation, severance or
retirement. NorskeCanada also contributed CAD 3 million
to the Powell River community to help economic diversifi-
cation. Positive reviews have been received for the inclusive
manner in which the closure has been handled.

NorskeCanada has approximately 4,000 employees and
faces challenges in the health and safety area but is commit-
ted to improve its track record.

Future prospects
  for 2002 are expected to be challenging
and curtailments have  already been announced for the first
half of 2002. However, market analysts anticipate a recovery
of demand and subsequent prices from the fourth quarter.
The programme to capture synergies of the merger with
Pacifica Papers is well advanced and NorskeCanada is con-
fident that the expected synergies to the value of CAD 60
million will be exceeded.

Further information concerning NorskeCanada may be
found in its annual and quarterly reports at 
www.norskecanada.com
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NOK million 2001 * 2000 1999
Operating revenue 5,455 4,157 -

Operating earnings 330 529 -

Operating margin % 6.0 12.7 -

*) Period 01.01. – 28.08.2001

1,389
80
59

15.2
5.7

1,408
187
163

21.6
13.3

Profit and Loss account 1)

CAD million 2001 2000

Revenue
EBIT
Net earnings
EBITDA margin %
EBIT margin %

105
572

2,490
3,167

296
1,164

656
1,051
3,167

930
480

1,311
2,721

196
0

359
2,166
2,721

Balance sheet 1)

CAD million 2001 2000

Liquid assets
Other current assets
Fixed assets
Total assets

Short-term debt
Long-term interest bearing debt
Deferred tax etc.
Equity
Total liabilities and equity

1,064
640

880
818

Production

1,000 tonnes 2001 2000

Newsprint and magazine paper
Pulp and containerboard

Norske Skog Canada Ltd.

Up to 28 August Norske Skog Canada Ltd. was a subsidiary
of Norske Skog, and fully consolidated. Norske Skog’s own-
ership in Norske Skog Canada Ltd. at this time was 50.8%.
28 August Norske Skog Canada Ltd. acquired Pacifica Paper.
The acquisition was partly financed by a share issue in Norske
Skog Canada Ltd. The share issue resulted in a reduction of
Norske Skog’s ownership in Norske Skog Canada Ltd. to
36.1% and from 28 August Norske Skog Canada is presented
as an affiliated company in the consolidated accounts.

As a subsidiary Norske Skog Canada Ltd. showed the 
following profit and loss: 2)

NOK million 01.01. – 28.08.2001

Operating revenue 5,455
Operating profit 330
Earnings before minority interests 304
Minority interests 150
The majority’s share of earnings 154

1) According to Canadian GAAP
2) According to Norwegian GAAP

Canada

Sweden

Russia

Finland

Norway

U.S.A.

Million tonnes
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BRANDING IN NORSKE SKOG

A name shall 
be more than a label

    contribute to creating an identity. It shall say something about

the way that a company wishes to be regarded, and the qualities its products shall 

display. Norske Skog has started a drive to make its brand names more uniform – and

to have them registered in all important markets.

   shall make a statement about a special type
of product, and about its manufacturer. It shall also say
something about the manufacturer’s values, and about the
characteristics incorporated into the products. In this way,
the brand name also becomes a guarantee of quality.

To develop a strong brand name for a large, global com-
pany such as Norske Skog is a demanding task. The Group
announces its identity every single day through many forms
of expression, everything from signs, business cards, writing
paper and envelopes, to product names, publications, inter-
net presentations and product packaging. At the same time,
Norske Skog has grown rapidly. New company cultures
have been incorporated with their own identities and brand
names. Consequently the signals from these brand names
have pointed in different directions. A major effort is being
made to change this.

Let us take the Group’s products as examples. Norske
Skog operates with many product groups. Each group has
its brand name, and all these start with a stylised Nor – that
is, the prefix Nor placed inside a logo. The rest of the name
identifies the type of paper concerned.

Thus, Nornews is newsprint, Norbright and Norstar are
improved newsprint grades, Norbook is – of course – book
paper, while Norset stands for machine coated paper (MFC
= Machine Finished Coated). Norsc and Norcat are both
grades of SC (Super Calendered), and Norcote represents
the LWC grades, where LWC stands for Light Weight Coated.

Norske Skog is now taking steps to have its brand names
registered in all important markets throughout the world.
This is also an important signal that the Group wishes to 
focus on its own products and their qualities. A brand 
name is, in fact, far more than the name of a type of

product made by a particular manufacturer. The brand
name shall send important signals to buyers about the
product’s qualities, and about ancillary benefits such as the
range of services offered. The buyer is guaranteed a level of
quality not just from one time to another, but also in the
longer term.

In this way, the brand name becomes both a recognition
signal and an indication of the qualities and commitments
of the brand name’s owner. Thereafter, the brand name en-
courages a move from single transactions toward more
committed co-operation between customer and producer –
a partnership that benefits both parties. Then a name has
become an asset in itself, and something far more than just
a label.

Norske Skog is now implementing a project aimed at 
creating a uniform and consistent visual presentation of 
its products throughout the whole world.
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THE SPIRIT OF NORSKE SKOG

Promoting shared 
understanding

The Spirit of Norske Skog, a training and discussion programme, aims to create a

shared understanding of the Group’s values and goals. It is a corner stone in the task of

creating a global, shared culture.

The core values of openness, honesty and co-operation are
the foundation of all Norske Skog’s activity. But these words
are understood differently from one culture to another. The
Spirit of Norske Skog has thus become a unique tool for
creating understanding and co-ordinated effort among all
Norske Skog’s managers and their colleagues.

Local influence on the programme’s content has been
taken for granted since the start. More than 100 employees
from all regions have contributed to the direction and con-
tent of the programme, which was first tested at Norske
Skog Golbey in March last year, and thereafter at an inter-
national workshop in Oslo on 1 April.

When the company’s managers from all over the world
gathered for the annual CORE Conference in September, they
had already studied the principles of The Spirit of Norske
Skog. From here, they took the programme home with
them, and they are now ensuring that their knowledge
about the values, strategies, goals and governance principles
is transferred in to their respective organisations.

The content is a mix of key information about Norske
Skog, discussion tasks, exercises and management principles.
The managers are expected to make this content relevant to
their audiences by adapting the programme to local condi-
tions, individual wishes and needs – and their own manage-
ment style. The Spirit of Norske Skog shall be, at least, a 
forum for discussion. Only then can the programme’s 
primary intentions be fulfilled: to tie the Group’s goals and
strategies to local efforts, to explain where Norske Skog
wants to go, the road that leads there and why we work as
we do.

Participants in the CORE 2001 management conference also
had a chance to test their skills in less traditional types of 
teamwork and problem-solving.

Background and goals
The Spirit of Norske Skog shall: - Communicate vision, goals, strategies and values to employees throughout the world, and 
describe how these shall be tied to local goals and strategies. - Create a clear understanding of how management shall be 
practiced, and pave the way for a debate about management conduct. - Communicate the structures and guidelines needed to
operate as a global team.



Asia is a growth market for newsprint. During the 1990’s consumption in China, for example, quadrupled, but it is still only 1 kg per capita,
while the world average is 9 kg. Norske Skog is well placed in this market through its 50% stake in Pan Asia Paper Company, the largest
supplier of newsprint in Asia, excluding Japan.
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   and an internationally oriented share

issue helped boost liquidity and turnover of Norske Skog’s shares in

2001. Including dividend, the shares rose in value by 16% during the

year, while the Oslo Stock Exchange overall index fell by 18% in the

same period.

At the end of 2001 Norske Skog’s market capitalisation was

NOK 22,400 million, equating to 116% of booked equity capital.

Increased liquidity
of Norske Skog
shares
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The limitations of 
the crystal ball

     , Norske Skog must endeavor  at all

times to gain the best possible understanding of the media market and the

factors that influence it. This insight must be both deep and dynamic.

As many factors interact with one another, and can have unforeseen effects.

If one is to look into the crystal ball, one needs – at the same time – to be able

to look beyond the obvious.

  |       33

 ’  – the market for the dissemination
of information, group identity and entertainment – has
during recent decades undergone a dramatic development,
marked, not least, by the entry of the new electronic media.
Consequently, many people have predicted a radical decline
for the printed media. To date, these predictions have been 
totally discredited.

It is reasonable to conclude that this indicates what a 
robust, user-friendly technology paper-based information
really is. That, however, is only part of the truth. Just as
much, it is a symptom of the complex and often surprising
effects which the various media have on one another. Useful
forecasts can, therefore, only be made when we try to 
understand how the different forces pull in different direc-
tions, how they affect things over time, and what their total
impact is.

High up and far down
   appear they affect the market both in re-
ality and through the effect they are believed to exert. How
strong this effect is believed to be is often related to how far
they have come in their development. In an early phase they
are often credited with revolutionary characteristics, creat-
ing correspondingly gloomy prospects for existing media.

Many media companies are striving, at present, to get
their advertising customers to utilise and pay for both pa-
per-based and internet-based services. “What do we want
with paper when we can reach more people via the Internet,
at a lower price?” Norske Skog expects the coming years to

bring a more realistic assessment of the value
of existing Internet services. On the other
hand, new services such as broad band,
third generation mobile internet, electronic
paper and decentralised digital printing will
be introduced with great publicity and once
more create expectations about a radical
new division of power among the media.
Such waves of high expectations relating to
new developments will be a challenge to the
printed media, whether these expectations
are fulfilled or not (see diagram page 34).

True breakthroughs are rare
   of time and money
available to customers is relatively constant,
at any rate in mature markets. Consequently,
it is inevitable that Internet services and
other innovations will gradually take shares
from all existing media – including those
that are paper-based. It is worth noting,
however, that very long periods elapse be-
tween each time that a revolutionary new
product makes its appearance and sweeps
others off the field in the space of a short
time – in the way that the automobile 
superseded horses as a means of transport.
For this kind of leap forward to occur, sev-
eral factors have to coincide: the product



ANALYTIC INFORMATION

0

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1,200,000

0504030201

THE OUTLOOK FOR GLOBAL ENTERTAINMENT 
AND MEDIA SPENDING BY SEGMENT

Visibility

Time

Technology Trigger

Peak of Inflated
Expectations

Trough of
Disillusionment

Sloap of
Enlightenment

Plateau of
Profitability

EUROPEAN B2C HYPE CYCLE 2001

34   |    

must have superior technological characteristics, it must
have an innate capacity to change peoples’ behaviour, and
it must be possible to earn money by making it and using
it. Many internet-based applications lack one or more of
these factors.

Printed media have some characteristics that make
them vulnerable vis à vis electronic competitors. They have
special costs connected with production and distribution,
they are not interactive, they cannot be continuously up-
dated, and they have a static format. Competing media will
constantly seek to attack newspapers and magazines on
these points. That they have not yet succeeded in creating a
radical upheaval must be due both to the great robustness
of the printed media and to the fact that we are still waiting
to see a really radical breakthrough. Nevertheless, printed
media – and producers of publication paper – must be
prepared for this eventuality.

Nothing succeeds like success
, mutually reinforcing trends are another reason
why changes occur more slowly than many expect. As dif-
ferent technologies and business models merge, a demand
arises for information and entertainment via parallel media
– including paper-based. An example is the Wall Street
Journal, which consciously combines credibility and read-
ability in its printed version with the immediate updating
and interactivity of its web site. On the latter, the Wall
Street Journal both exploits its strong brand name and
builds it up further through a new outlet. The value of a
strong brand name rises significantly as the market for
public attention becomes ever more crowded. To drop
printed media as a channel for building up a brand name
would probably be very risky.

Someone must describe the innovations
  depend on the established media to attract 
attention and promote growth, particularly in an early
phase. In this way the newcomers represent a threat, while
at the same time increasing demand for publication paper.
Some studies even indicate that periods without innova-
tions weaken the income base of the printed media (see
table from PricewaterhouseCoopers’ report next page).

The large proportion of TV-related material in newspa-
pers and magazines is one example of this mutual depend-
ency. Another is the huge blossoming of internet maga-
zines during the latter half of the 1990’s, and their subse-
quent decline in 2001. “Wired”, the world’s best-known in-
ternet magazine, had at its peak a circulation of over
500,000 and each issue was of more than a hundred pages.
The printed media will probably enjoy such opportunities
in the future, too.

Total entertainment and media

Newspaper publishing

Magazine publishing

USD million

(Source: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Wilkofsky Gruen Associates, May 2001)

(Source: Gartner)
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Printed media need renewal
    have shown a great ability to
survive in a new media environment, this does not mean that
one can disregard the need for renewal. Newspapers, for in-
stance, will probably acquire a different function in the future,
and will have to work consciously on product development.
The above example of the Wall Street Journal illustrates this
need. When people are increasingly updating information via
the electronic media, they will probably look for a different
type of material in their newspapers.

A trend increasingly evident, in many newspapers, is to-
wards more comment, life-style articles and an emphasis on
personal and emotional subjects. In their content they are
moving closer and closer to magazines, which in turn are
consequently forced to reevaluate their own product. This is
another example of repercussions and dynamics in the media
sector. There is every indication that change will be a main
theme in the years to come, as well.

Economic trends and structures
    affected by mutually reinforcing trends in
the media sector, Norske Skog’s market is also considerably
influenced by general economic developments. Both circula-
tion and – not least – advertising volumes will fluctuate with
economic upswings and downturns. After a peak year in
2000, we have seen a significant slump in 2001, evident even
before 11 September. The special feature of this slump is that
it is affecting the whole world – reflecting the increasingly
globalised economy. There are many signs, now, that an 
upturn can be expected during 2002.

This cyclical economic trend pattern will always be an
important factor when Norske Skog evaluates market
prospects and adjusts its strategy. It must, however, be seen in
conjunction with – and not mistaken for – structural devel-
opments. The media and entertainment market has become
one of the largest and most significant global sectors. Infor-
mation is becoming an increasingly influential driver of eco-
nomic growth, and the role of media companies is becoming
more important. Consequently, it seems likely that the sector

as a whole will grow faster than the rest of the
economy, and that the media and entertain-
ment sector will become a more important
component of the world economy. The part
of the sector that Norske Skog serves, news-
papers, magazines and catalogues – represents
a declining share of the total market. Even so,
however, since the total is growing Norske
Skog can expect growth in its segment, too.
PricewaterhouseCoopers foresees average 
annual growth during the period 2001-2005
of 5.8% for magazines and 4.9% for news-
papers. The corresponding figure for the
whole sector is estimated to 7.2%.

In addition to these factors, players in this
arena must take account of more general,
underlying forces in the various markets, and
the differences between these. This refers to
factors such as paper use and advertising vol-
ume per capita, the prospects for economic
growth in each region, legislation and eco-
nomic trends. A marked feature of this picture
is the growth of new markets. For example,
Asia is now as large a market for newsprint as
Europe. At the same time, it is an immature
market, with great growth potential. It is only
in Europe and North America that the mar-
ket for publication paper can be said to have
reached maturity.

Forecast = facts + insight
    understanding the media
market, Norske Skog employs a wide range
of sources – from consultancy reports and
media conferences to customer interviews.
A broad and deep factual basis is, however,
not enough for making accurate forecasts.
That also requires significant analytical ca-
pacity. Norske Skog has built a network of
experts around the world to handle this 
important task. A constant challenge is to
interpret information with insight into the
many and often complex backgrounds.
That, in turn, demands knowledge about
the large, fast-growing and exciting sector
of which Norske Skog is a part – the market
for the dissemination of information,
group identity and entertainment.

CONSUMER MAGAZINE SENSITIVITY 
TO EMERGING MEDIA

Relative growth in 
Emerging Magazine Advertising

Period Media per $ 1,000 GDP
1950-1960 Television 6.2
1960-1970 None -27.9
1970-1980 None -9.4
1980-1990 Cable 4.1
1990-2000 Internet 9.8

(Source: Universal McCann, U.S. Department of Commerce,
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Wilkofsky Gruen Associates)
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• Merger Norske
Skogindustrier
A/S, A/S Follum
Fabrikker and Tofte
Industrier A/S, as
of 13 October.

• The merged
company took
over Saugbrugs-
foreningen, with
effect for account-
ing purposes from
1 July.

• Norske Skog 
decided on 21 March
to build a new
newsprint mill at
Golbey, in France,
and acquired 49%
of the FRF 900 mil-
lion share capital.

• Norske Skog 
decided on 
18 December to
build a new paper
machine to pro-
duce SC magazine
paper at Norske
Skog Saugbrugs,
Halden.

• Two activities
outside core area
sold/wound up.

• Seven activities
transferred to new
owners or wound
up.

• The new paper
machine (PM 1) at
Norske Skog 
Golbey started
production in 
January – capacity
255,000 tonnes/
year.

• Two activities
sold.

• The new magazine
paper machine 
(PM 6) at Norske
Skog Saugbrugs
came on line in
February, increas-
ing the mill’s capac-
ity to 540,000
tonnes/year.

• Three activities
sold.

• Jan Reinås 
followed Arnfinn
Hofstad as CEO, in
April.

• Norske Skog 
acquired 51% of
the shares in 
Papeteries de 
Golbey S.A., so
that the newsprint
mill became a
wholly-owned
subsidiary from 
1 April.

Key events in Norske Skog 1989-2001
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• Norske Skog 
acquired, with effect
from 1 January, the
Bruck publication
paper mill, Austria,
with a capacity of
220,000 tonnes
LWC magazine 
paper and 115,000
tonnes newsprint.

• Norske Skog 
decided on 16 April
to expand Norske
Skog Golbey by
adding a second
newsprint machine,
with capacity of
335,000 tonnes.

• Norske Skog 
acquired, as of 
1 November the
ROTO newsprint
mill (Norske Skog
Steti) in the Czech 
Republic, with 
capacity of
100,000 tonnes.

• Five activities
transferred to new
owners.

• Norske Skog 
acquired, from 
1 July, a newsprint
mill in Korea 
– capacity 180,000
tonnes/year.

• Norske Skog 
acquired, from 
1 September, a
newsprint mill in
Thailand – capacity
120,000 tonnes/year.

• Norske Skog
Golbey carried out
successful test op-
eration of its new
newsprint machine
(PM 2) on 21 Dec. –
increase the mill’s
capacity to nearly
600,000 tonnes/year.

• Norske Skog,
Abitibi-Consolidated
and Hansol Paper
concluded on 
22 Dec. a final
agreement to 
establish Pan Asia
Paper Company,
with total capacity
of just over 1.4 mil-
lion tonnes of
newsprint. Norske
Skog’s total publi-
cation paper ca-
pacity increased to
3.2 million tonnes.

• Two activities
transferred to new
owners.

• The general
meetings of
Norske Skog and
Union approved,
on 5 May, the
merger of the two
companies. Union
has a capacity of
240,000 tonnes of
publication paper.

• Norske Skog and
Klabin (Industrias
Klabin de Papel e
Cellulose S.A), in
Brazil, signed an
agreement in 
December which
gave Norske Skog
an ownership
stake of 50% in
Klabin’s newsprint
production.

• 20 activities 
outside core area
publication paper
transferred to new
owners.

• On 28 July
Norske Skog took
over Fletcher
Challenge Paper,
New Zealand, with
capacity of 2.4
million tonnes of
publication paper
and a million
tonnes of market
pulp at nine mills
in six countries in
North America,
South America,
Australasia and
Asia.

• Four activities
transferred to new
owners.

• Norske Skog in-
creased its owner-
ship stake in Pan
Asia Paper Com-
pany from 33.3%
to 50% and in the
PISA newsprint
mill, Brazil, from
just over 50%
originally to 100%.

• Norske Skog 
acquired the two
mills, Walsum in
Germany, and
Parenco in the
Netherlands, with
a combined ca-
pacity of 880,000
tonnes of publica-
tion paper.

• The subsidiary
Norske Skog
Canada Ltd. was
refinanced and 
deconsolidated.

• Four activities,
plus forest proper-
ties in south Nor-
way, Sweden and
Brazil, were trans-
ferred to new 
owners.
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GROWTH IN GROSS NATIONAL
PRODUCT
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Enterprise risk management
   is a
methodology employed to manage risks
right across the Group. These can be 
financial, strategic, operational or 
hazardous (insurance technical) risks.
The methodology is forward-looking
and process-driven, with the aim of
co-ordinating strategy, processes, people,
technology and knowledge. The goal is
to identify and understand the total
risks which may threaten the Group’s
goals and strategies. The aim is to be 
focused on solutions, with risk solutions
– among other things – helping to create
added value for Norske Skog’s share-
holders.

Traditionally, risk management is
driven by the need for full protection, as
the only alternative. Today it is far more
widely understood that professional
risk management can create competitive
advantages for the business through
cost savings, lower risk premiums and
greater market shares – and thereby in-
creased value for shareholders.

The process helps us to prioritise risks.
It creates a culture in which managers –
across regions and functions – become
aware of the possible risk outcomes
which can occur, and consequently 
understand and value their effects. The
approach consists mainly of drawing
up risk management strategies with a
focus on financial risk solutions and
process improvements.

In 2001 Norske Skog commenced a
global risk management project, to map
and quantify risks across regions and
functions. The aim was – among other
things – to increase awareness of risk
aspects, to increase understanding of
the respective business risks to which
the Group is exposed, to assist manage-
ment in prioritising risks and to map
supervisory functions. Certain action
plans were then put into effect.

The goal of the project is to:
- Reduce capital required to manage 

“volatility”
- Reduce risk costs
- Reduce cash flow and earnings 

“volatility”
- Optimise operation of assets
- Foresee risks in time, and manage 

them efficiently 

UPM Kymmene

Norske Skog

Abitibi-Consolidated

Stora Enso

Bowater

Newsprint

Magazine paper
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Management of currency and interest rate risk
   of the Group’s 
currency and interest rate exposure, the
goal is to minimise risks, in accordance
with given guidelines. Comprehensive
internal supervisory routines have been
established to ensure that financial
management observes external and 
internal guidelines.

Currency Risk
  currency rates expose
Norske Skog to both direct and indirect
economic risk. In addition the Group’s
balance sheet is exposed when sub-
sidiaries balance sheets are translated
into NOK.

Transaction risk
 ’  risk is due to
the fact that about 90% of the Group’s
operating revenues are in foreign cur-
rencies. The largest exposures are in
EUR, USD, GBP, AUD and NZD. The
Group has net revenues in all currencies
except NOK and NZD. Transaction risk
per currency is calculated as 12-month
future net expected cashflow on a
rolling basis. The risk is estimated by
the business units, and consolidated on
a Group level to a net exposure per 
currency. 50-100% of the exposure is to
be hedged at all times. Only fully owned
entities are included in the exposure.
Hedging is done by using off balance
sheet hedging instruments such as 
currency forwards and plain vanilla 
currency options and the result of such
hedging deals is shown in Group 
accounts under financial items.

Translation risk
   Group 
accounts in NOK. Translation risk 
arises when the balance sheets of sub-
sidiary’s are translated from the sub-
sidiaries local currencies to NOK.
Norske Skog will, on Group level, hedge
this risk by drawing on Group debt in a
mix of currencies reflecting the mix of
net external assets on the Group balance
sheet. The effect of this hedge is posted
directly against equity, as is the transla-
tion difference on net external assets.

Indirect currency risk 
(economic exposure)
    to indirect 
currency risk because our competitive
position is affected by fluctuations in
the domestic currencies of our com-
petitors. This applies mainly to SEK,
EUR, USD and CAD. This risk is 
currently not hedged.

Interest rate risk
    a net 
borrower, and is therefore exposed to
risk connected to changes in interest
rate levels. During an upswing, interest
rates will normally be higher than during
a recession. In the same way, Norske
Skog’s results are higher in an upswing
than in a downturn. Consequently,
Norske Skog can handle higher interest
costs during an upswing, but must 
ensure low interest costs during a
downturn. It is therefore regarded as a
reduction of risk to have floating interest
rates on net borrowing, although 
allowance is made for exploiting interest
rate fluctuations by having a proportion
of borrowing at fixed interest rates.

Today’s loan portfolio consists of
floating and fixed interest rate loans. The
economic risk incorporated in the port-
folio is measured in terms of interest
rate sensitivity. The interest rate risk is
hedged using off balance sheet hedging
instruments such as interest rate swaps
and FRA’s.





Vision, goals
and strategy

Vision
Norske Skog shall be a
leading international
company in the pulp and
paper industry.

Goals
Norske Skog shall create
value for its owners,
matching the perform-
ance of the best com-
panies in the sector.

Strategy
Concentration on our
core area, wood contain-
ing publication paper
(newsprint and magazine
paper), profitable
growth in important
markets, cost-efficient
production.



Other SC LWC Total  
uncoated magazine magazine publication

Mills Country Newsprint papers paper paper paper

Norske Skog Europe
Norske Skog Skogn Norway 560
Norske Skog Saugbrugs Norway 550
Norske Skog Follum Norway 125 135 135
Norske Skog Union Norway 150 90
Norske Skog Golbey France 600
Norske Skog Bruck Austria 120 240
Norske Skog Steti Czech Republic 120
Norske Skog Walsum Germany 420
Norske Skog Parenco The Netherlands 350 110
Total Europe 2,025 225 660    795 3,705

Norske Skog Australasia
Norske Skog Tasman New Zealand 380 50
Norske Skog Albury Australia 225
Norske Skog Boyer Australia 205 85
Total Australasia 810 135 945

Norske Skog South America
Norske Skog PISA Brazil 185
Norske Skog Klabin 1) Brazil 130
Norske Skog Bio Bio Chile 55 65
Total South America 370 65 435

Norske Skog Canada Ltd. 2)

Crofton Canada 290 150
Elk Falls Canada 375 155
Port Alberni Canada 220 210
Powell River Canada 220 230
Total Canada 885 755 210 1,850

Pan Asia Paper Company Pte. Ltd.3)

Pan Asia Paper Chonju Republic of Korea 865 135
Pan Asia Paper Chongwon. Republic of Korea 190
Shanghai Pan Asia-Potential Paper Co., Ltd. China 140
Pan Asia Paper Sing Buri Thailand 125
Malaysian Newsprint Industries Sdn. Bhd.4) Malaysia 250
Total Asia 1,570 135 1,705
Grand total 5,660 1,315 660 1,005 8,640

Excl. 50% Pan Asia 7,913
Based on legal ownership 6,685

Norske Skog also owns 45% of the greaseproof producer Nordic Paper AS, owning three mills with a combined total capacity of 59,000 tonnes.

1) Capacity for Norske Skog Klabin included 100%: Norske Skog owns 50% of the company.
2) Capacity for NorskeCanada included 100%: Norske Skog owns 36.1% of the company. In addition NorskeCanada has a capacity of 400,000 tonnes of

market pulp and 115,000 tonnes of kraft.
3) Capacity for PanAsia included 100%: Norske Skog owns 50% of the company. Pan Asia owns 56.1% of Shanghai PanAsia-Potential Paper.
4) Capacity for MNI included 100%: Norske Skog owns 33.65% of the company.

42   |    

Capacities (1,000 tonnes)

ANALYTIC INFORMATION



  |       43

NOK million Definitions 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992

Profit and loss account
Operating revenue 30,354 26,635 18,054 14,908 13,312 13,265 12,548 9,170 7,338 7,557
Gross operating earnings 1 8,419 6,599 3,818 3,103 2,223 3,136 3,332 1,348 851 728
Operating earnings 5,096 4,211 2,129 1,780 1,083 1,916 2,500 732 299 -47
Earnings before financial expenses 2 5,581 4,575 2,252 1,948 1,194 2,076 2,850 843 589 49
Earnings before taxation 3,894 3,021 1,825 1,417 650 1,732 2,336 333 4 -659
The majority’s share of the earnings 2,494 1,958 1,300 1,020 590 1,317 1,669 206 -47 -516

Balance sheet
Fixed assets 45,417 43,717 18,828 17,586 12,778 12,031 10,246 7,377 7,694 7,917
Current assets 10,855 17,510 6,086 6,663 4,515 4,592 4,618 4,333 4,261 3,816
Total assets 56,272 61,227 24,914 24,249 17,293 16,623 14,864 11,710 11,955 11,733
Shareholder’s equity incl. minority int. 19,526 22,351 11,727 10,029 9,123 7,691 6,546 4,731 3,864 3,785
Long-term liabilities 30,858 31,906 9,021 9,564 4,947 5,178 4,981 4,936 6,133 5,413
Current liabilities 5,888 6,970 4,166 4,656 3,223 3,754 3,337 2,043 1,958 2,535
Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity 56,272 61,227 24,914 24,249 17,293 16,623 14,864 11,710 11,955 11,733
Net interest bearing debt 22,820 20,535 7,618 7,082 4,145 4,827 4,006 3,170 4,366 4,050

Profitability
Gross operating margin % 3 27.7 24.8 21.1 20.8 16.7 23.6 26.6 14.7 11.6 9.6
Net operating margin % 4 16.8 15.8 11.8 11.9 8.1 14.4 19.9 8.0 4.1 -0.6
Net earnings margin % 5 8.2 7.4 7.2 6.8 4.4 9.9 13.5 2.2 -0.6 -6.8
Return on assets % 6 9.5 10.6 9.2 9.4 7.0 13.2 21.4 7.1 5.0 0.4
Return on equity % 7 11.9 11.5 12.0 10.7 7.0 18.5 30.1 4.8 -1.2 -12.8
Equity ratio % 8 34.7 36.5 47.1 41.4 52.8 46.3 44.0 40.4 32.3 32.2
Net interest bearing debt/equity 1.18 0.92 0.65 0.71 0.45 0.63 0.61 0.67 1.13 1.07
Return on capital employed % 9, 15 13.7 13.1 11.0 11.7 8.4 15.9 25.4 8.3 3.4 -0.6
Net earnings per share 
after tax (NOK) 10 20.68 19.17 14.01 11.36 6.94 16.99 22.01 2.88 -0.74 -8.80
Net earnings per share
fully diluted (NOK) 10 20.68 19.17 14.01 11.36 6.94 15.10 19.33 3.21 0.69 -6.80
Cash flow per share after tax (NOK) 11 58.47 48.18 23.29 31.85 19.00 33.74 33.11 12.12 7.75 4.37
Cash flow per share
fully diluted 11 58.47 48.18 23.29 31.85 19.00 29.22 28.67 10.80 7.49 4.78

Liquidity
Liquid assets (NOK million) 12 4,158 8,629 803 2,312 853 1,088 1,010 1,499 1,716 1,433
Cash flow (NOK million) 13 7,052 4,922 2,162 2,859 1,615 2,616 2,555 866 492 256
Current ratio 14 1.61 2.51 1.46 1.43 1.40 1.22 1.38 2.12 2.18 1.51

Definitions main financial figures:
1. Gross operating earnings = Operating earnings + Ordinary depreciation + Restructuring expenses
2. Earnings before financial expenses = Operating earnings + Interest income + Share of earnings in aff. companies
3. Gross operating margin = Gross operating earnings : Operating revenue
4. Net operating margin = Operating earnings : Operating revenue
5. Net earnings margin = The majority’s share of the earnings : Operating revenue
6. Return on assets = Earnings before financial expenses : Total assets (average)
7. Return on equity = The majority’s share of the earnings : Equity (average)
8. Equity ratio = Equity : Total assets
9. Return on capital employed = Operating earnings : Capital employed (average) (see 15)
10. Net earnings per share after tax = The majority’s share of the earnings : Average number of shares *)

11. Cash flow per share after tax = Cash flow : average number of shares *)

12. Liquid assets = Cash and bank deposits + short term investments
13. Cash flow = Net cash flow from operating activities (from statement of cash flow)
14. Current ratio = Current assets : Current liabilities
15. Capital employed = Total assets with deductions for non-interest bearing liabilities and interest bearing assets

*) When calculating financial ratios per share after full conversion net earnings and cash flow are rectified by interest expenses on subordinated convertible bonds.

Main Financial Figures



Information and media are a growth industry. PricwaterhouseCoopers estimates (May 2001) that world turnover in the newspaper and
magazine sectors will rise by about 5% annually during the period 2000-2005.
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 ’   is to create value for its 22,000 share-

holders. This will be done by paying dividends and by creating the

conditions for an increase in the value of its shares over the longer

term.

It is Norske Skog’s goal to pay a dividend that distributes to

shareholders approximately one/third of the Group’s profit,

throughout an economic cycle. The proposed dividend of NOK 6.00

per share for 2001 corresponds to 29.0% of earnings per share.

3Shareholder policy 46

3 Informing the stock market 47
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3Shareholder statistic 50

3Share-related key figures 51

Creating value
for shareholders
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Primary goal: 
Total return to shareholders
matching that of the best
companies in the industry

The forest industry is a sector traditionally marked by earnings fluctuations and by the 

significant amounts of capital needed for continuous investment in machinery and plant.

Norske Skog, moreover, is a company with definite ambitions to grow – including among

other things, through acquisitions. To cope with cyclical swings and investment outlays a

sound balance sheet is required. This is achieved, with financing primarily provided by a

high equity to capital ratio and long-term borrowing.

    and still is a prerequisite for Norske
Skog’s development. With this in mind, Norske Skog has
defined its primary goal as follows:

Norske Skog shall create value for its owners matching
the performance of the best paper and pulp companies.

Norske Skog will achieve this through dividend pay-
ments and by creating the conditions for an increase in the
value of its shares, over the longer term.

Norske Skog aims to pay a dividend that distributes 
approximately one third of the Group’s earnings to share-
holders within an economic cycle. Efforts will be made to
smooth dividend payments throughout the cycle.

Measuring the return to shareholders
   total return to shareholders as the sum
of the increase in the share’s value, plus dividend, over a 
period, as a percentage of the share price at the start of the
period. This is measured over two-year rolling periods. The
return on Norske Skog’s shares in absolute figures is impor-
tant, however a number of circumstances beyond our con-
trol make it more relevant to measure return against an 
index. An index has been compiled consisting of our Nordic
competitors (50% weight), Morgan Stanley World Forest
and Paper Index (25% weight) and the Oslo Stock Exchange
total index (25% weight).

During the period 31.12.1999 to 31.12.2001 Norske
Skog delivered a total return of 6%. The starting value is
calculated as an average of A- and B-shares, corrected for
the share split and the issue in connection with the merger

of A- and B-shares. The result for our competitors during
the same period was negative 9%, for the Morgan Stanley
index negative 11% and for the Oslo Stock Exchange total
index negative 18%. The total weighted return for these
three was negative 12%, therefore Norske Skog’s return was
18 percentage points higher than the Oslo Stock Exchange
index.

Norske Skog’s return, measured against our competitors
and against the Morgan Stanley and Oslo Stock Exchange
indices, is also an important driver with regard to the 
management bonus schemes.

NORSKE SKOG SHARE PRICE, OSLO STOCK
EXCHANGE TOTAL INDEX, SWEDISH FOREST
INDEX AND MSCI WORLD INDEX 2000-2001
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Value for shareholders
 ’  incorporates several important
points aimed directly at building value for shareholders.

- Norske Skog shall grow and operate globally
Profitable growth is one of the most important prerequisites
if the value of the company’s shares is to reflect the value of
its assets. Size makes Norske Skog more attractive to large
investors, and size makes it easier for us to participate 
actively in the consolidation of our sector.

- Norske Skog shall contribute to balance and stability in
the market
The needs of the market shall guide decisions concerning
both the building of new capacity and the exploitation 
of existing capacity. In the past the sector has invested 
excessively and simultaneously, and that this has created
overcapacity and large deficits, at times.

- Norske Skog shall use capital efficiently
Capital shall be tied up only where this is strategically im-
portant to the Group’s core business, and it is a clear goal
that productivity increases should be achieved through
smaller investment outlays than in the past. The aim of
Norske Skog’s profitability programme is that the Group
should meet its targets for return on capital during a cycle.

Both profit increases and capital reduction form important
parts of this programme, as well as the extraction of syner-
gies and the introduction of operating standards. In time,
cash flow shall become a key management parameter.

- Norske Skog shall be a cost-efficient producer
Norske Skog shall utilise the most cost-efficient input 
factors in each production area. The Group shall strive to
produce and deliver each product at the lowest cost in each
market, and the units that prove most competitive shall be
developed further

Dividend for 2001
   gradually increased dividend levels 
over the past six years. The goal of its distribution ratio is
approximately one/third of profit, throughout a business 
cycle. The dividend should be smoothed out throughout
the cycle. The Board has proposed a dividend of NOK 6 per
share for 2001, unchanged from the previous year. Dividend
distribution ratio is 29.0% for 2001, and 32.8% as a weighted
average for the past three years. Based on the share price at
the end of 2000, the dividend represents a return of 3.6%.
Dividends will be paid on 16 May to those who were share-
holders on the date of the Ordinary General Meeting, which
will be held on 29 April 2002.

    infor-
mation is an important part of keeping
the stock market informed. Below is
Norske Skog’s financial calendar for the
year 2002:

Preliminary report 2001 – 7 February
Annual report and accounts 2001 –
April 2002

Ordinary General Meeting 2002 – 
29 April 
1st quarter 2002 – 29 April 
2nd quarter 2002 – 29 July 
3rd quarter 2002 – 24 October 

Norske Skog’s Internet web site is well
supported. It contains the Company’s
annual and interim reports, press 
releases, presentations, general infor-
mation about the Company and
share-related information.

Supplementing this printed and
electronic information, Norske Skog
holds regular presentations for the
Norwegian and International financial
markets. Presentations are also
arranged at the Company’s mills,
and Norske Skog employees are often 
invited to speak at international con-
ferences and seminars. In 2001 pre-
sentations and information sharing

sessions were held in Norway, England,
Sweden, Finland, Germany, Switzer-
land, the US, Canada and Australia.
Information activity has increased
considerably during recent years,
particularly abroad.

A large number of Norwegian and
foreign broking houses follow Norske
Skog and publish analyses of the com-
pany. A list of these may be found on
Norske Skog’s web site.

Vice President Jarle Langfjæran is
responsible for Norske Skog’s investor
relations.

Informing the stock market
Providing the Norwegian and International financial market with information is a high priority in Norske
Skog. The aim is to increase knowledge about the Company and understanding of the industry. This will
create the confidence needed to interest investors in Norske Skog, and that the company is correctly
priced in the stock market.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Shares and share capital
    ,

the Company’s share capital
was NOK 1,331,370,880,
representing 133,137,088
shares, with a par value of
NOK 10 each. All shares
hold equal rights in the
Company. Share capital 
increased during 2001 by
NOK 399,992,300, through
two share issues. In the
Spring of 2001 it was re-
solved to merge the former
A- and B-shares. Share-
holders were compensated
through an invitation to
subscribe to a total of
16,992,300 shares at the par
value of NOK 10 each. This
issue yielded – gross –
NOK 170 million of new

equity capital. In June, a to-
tal of 23 million new shares
were issued at a price of
NOK 140 per share. This 
issue was primarily directed
at institutional investors in
Norway and abroad, but a
portion of the issue was 
reserved for existing 
Norwegian shareholders.
The purpose of the issue
was to help finance the pur-
chase of the Walsum and
Parenco paper mills, and
one sixth of the shares in
Pan Asia Paper. The issue
did not give existing share-
holders preferential treat-
ment, and yielded – gross –
NOK 3,220 million.

The June 2001 shares 

issue led to significant
changes in shareholder
structure. As at 31 Decem-
ber 2001 the Norwegian
Forest Owners’ Association
owned 20.9% of the Com-
pany’s shares, compared to
24.6% at the beginning of
2001. The proportion of
shares held by foreign own-
ers rose significantly, and
stood at 41.3% as of
31 December 2001, com-
pared to 20.5% at the 
beginning of the year.

As at 31.12.2001 Norske
Skog owned 1,168,898 of its
own shares. These were 
acquired when A/S Union
was merged with Norske
Skog in 1999, and are used

primarily for the annual
sale of shares to employees,
and bonus schemes. The
Company’s holding of its
own shares was reduced by
293,486 during 2001.

At the Company’s 
Annual General Meeting
held 3 May 2001 share-
holders authorised the
Board to buy back up to
10% of outstanding shares.
This authority is valid until
the ordinary General Meet-
ing 29 April 2002, and the
Board will seek to have it 
extended.

Share price information:

NOK/share 1)

Official price (for tax return 
purposes) 31.12.2001 168.00
Price 29.12.2001 168.50
Price 28.12.2000 150.60
High 2001 168.50
Low 2001 115.00

Trading in 
Norske Skog shares

The stock market 
in 2001
  were generally turbulent in 2001, partly
reflecting the events of 11 September and weaker economic
trends in many countries. Even so, the price of Norske Skog
shares increased by 11.9% during the period 29.12.00-
28.12.01, and the share yielded a return of 15.9%, when the 
dividend is included. Share price information:

 ’  are listed on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange and on SEAQ (Stock Exchange Automatic 
Quotation System) in London.

During the year, a total of 116.5 million Norske Skog
shares were traded on the Oslo Stock Exchange.When com-
pared to the average number of shares held – 120.6 million
(excluding shares owned by the Company itself), the total
shares traded represents a turnover ratio of 96.6%. The
share split and the international issue in June 2001 have led
to a major increase in liquidity, and Norske Skog is often
one of the most traded shares. In addition to the shares
traded on the Oslo Stock Exchange, 4.2 million shares were
traded on SEAQ.

1) Historic prices are for A shares, adjusted for share split and issue in 
connection with the merger of A and B shares. The adjustment factor is
0.4059.

Norske Skog’s market capitalisation was NOK 22.4 billion
as at 31.12.2001, compared to NOK 16.3 billion in 2000.
The increase reflects both the injection of new equity 
capital and a higher share price at the close of 2001.
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Share savings
scheme and 
incentive system

      , Norske Skog has developed from a traditional 

Norwegian industrial company into a company that has an international presence.

Internationalisation influences the way in which Norske Skog remunerates its management.

Remuneration systems for the Group’s management have been evaluated, and the general

share savings scheme has been significantly expanded. An important part of the scheme is

to increase employees’ shareholdings in the shares. The shares utilised to facilitate this are

from Norske Skog’s holding of its own shares, and in some cases purchased directly on the

market.

    within Norske Skog should be
shareholders. As shareholders they will participate in the
Group’s value creation, and over time the share scheme 
represents an advantageous form of saving. The annual
sales of shares to employees highlights – throughout the 
entire organisation – the role of owners in Norske Skog, and
provides valuable insight into the stock market. From and
including the year 2000, the scheme has been extended so
that employees can buy shares up to a limit of 3/5 G, which
– under present tax legislation – is the maximum amount
which can be financed through interest-free loans.

The shares are sold at a discount on market prices. In
2001 1,199 employees participated in the February sale, and
1,217 in the October sale. A total of 284,050 shares were
purchased. The scheme was introduced for the Group’s 
employees in Norway in 1996, and has since been extended
to employees of mills and sales offices throughout Norske
Skog Europe. From and including 2001 it also applied to
employees in Australasia and South America. Shareholder-
elected members of the Board and Corporate Assembly are

also eligible to buy shares under the scheme.
From 1998 a bonus system was introduced for managers

above a certain level in the Group and within Norske Skog
Europe. The bonus is a part of each individual’s employ-
ment contract, and relates to certain specific goals that must
be achieved if the bonus is to be paid. Fifty per cent of any
bonus paid shall be used to buy Norske Skog shares, which
must then be held for a specified period.

From and including 1999, an option scheme has been
available to Group management and other employees in
leading positions. No options were awarded in 2000 or
2001, but a total of 164,944 options are outstanding from
the award in December 1999. The options entitle the holder
to buy a number of shares at a price of NOK 152 per share
during the period 01.10.2002-31.12.2002. This price has
been fixed on the basis of the share’s price at 15.12.1999,
when the Board adopted the scheme, with subsequent 
adjustment to take account of the share split and the merger
of A- and B-shares.



Name No. % Range

J P Morgan Chase, GBR 1) 18,126,578 13.61 1
State Street Bank & Trust Co. USA 1) 12,262,586 9.21 2
Viken Skogeierforening, Hønefoss 10,683,478 8.02 3
Folketrygdfondet, Oslo 8,940,600 6.72 4
Agder-Telemark Skogeierforening, Skien 5,442,692 4.09 5
Skogeierforeninga Nord, Trondheim 3,458,990 2.60 6
Mjøsen Skogeierforening, Lillehammer 3,235,082 2.43 7
Storebrand Livsfors./IF, Oslo 2,509,467 1.88 8
Glommen Skog/Fond, Elverum 2,338,987 1.76 9
Bank of NY, Belgium 1) 2,286,983 1.72 10
Gjensidige NOR, Oslo 2,226,747 1.67 11
Rederiaksjeselskapet Henneseid, Skien 1,940,204 1.46 12
Odin-fondene, Oslo 1,889,522 1.42 13
Vital Forsikring, Bergen 1,755,057 1.32 14
DnB Investor, Oslo 1,634,884 1.23 15
VPF Skagen Vekst, Stavanger 1,375,250 1.03 16
Havlide A/S, Skien 1,374,748 1.03 17
Total shareholders > 1% ownership 81,481,855 61.20

1) Nominee banks

Shareholder structure:
Forest owners’ association 27,784,098 20.87
Other Norwegians > 1% 24,801,286 18,63
Other Norwegians < 1% 25,602,784 19.23
Foreign holding as of 31 December 54,948,920 41.27
Total number of shares 133,137,088 100.00

Principal shareholders as of 31 December 2001 (>1% ownership)
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2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992

Share price 31.12. (NOK) 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
Average number of shares excl.
shares held in treasury(1,000) 120,604 102,159 92,829 89,773 84,991 77,537 77,177 71,454 63,476 58,622
Average number of shares after 
full conversion ex. shares held
in treasury (1,000) 120,604 102,159 92,829 89,773 84,991 91,986 91,641 86,915 79,266 75,901

Net earnings per share 
after tax (NOK) 2) 20.68 19.17 14.01 11.36 6.94 16.99 22.01 2.88 -0.74 -8.80
Net earnings per share
after full conversion (NOK) a) 2) 20.68 19.17 14.01 11.36 6.94 15.10 19.33 3.21 0.69 -6.80

Cash flow per share after tax (NOK) 3) 58.47 48.18 23.29 31.85 19.00 33.74 33.11 12.12 7.75 4.37
Cash flow per share
after full conversion (NOK) a) 3) 58.47 48.18 23.29 31.85 19.00 29.22 28.67 10.80 7.49 4.78

Dividend per share (NOK) 6.00 6.00 5.50 4.25 3.50 3.50 3.00 0.75 0.50 0.00
Price earnings ratio (A) 4) 8.15 8.30 12.78 8.32 13.05 5.28 3.54 27.77 - -
Payout ratio (%) 5) 29.01 26.86 33.63 31.9 42.70 19.50 11.50 21.70 - -

Number of shares 31.12.
(1,000) A shares 133,137 33,986 28,796 28,796 28,796 26,557 26,531 26,199 23,684 21,826

B shares 0 12,586 12,586 9,416 9,416 6,084 6,084 5,561 2,631 2,425
Total 133,137 46,572 41,382 38,211 38,211 32,641 32,615 31,760 26,315 24,251

Share price high (A restricted) 169 424 425 273 296 214 233 203,50 175,50 127,50
Share price low (A restricted) 115 222 204 165 190 174,50 170 140 65 45
Trading volume
(Oslo Stock Exchange)(1,000) 116,458 27,059 23,212 23,825 30,500 25,600 28,000 26,192 25,619 30,190

Share prices 31.12. A restricted 192.00 174.00 71.00
A free 168 371 418.00 222.00 214.00 213.00 185.50 190.00 176.00 76.00

B shares - 292 337.00 191.00 200.00 194.50 175.50 184.00 175.00 68.00

Number of A restricted 16,907 16,824
shareholders 31.12. A free 22,587 19,431 17,900 18,002 17,466 17,456 17,285 17,222 16,106 15,936

B shares - 14,915 14,693 13,746 13,796 14,271 14,605 14,950 15,384 15,196
Total 22,587 21,779 19,884 18,753 18,075 18,070 17,710 17,503 17,552 17,379

Number of foreign
shareholders 31.12. A free 1,092 546 483 203 186 154 179 164 139 108

B shares - 133 110 88 97 92 127 130 80 98
Total 1,092 589 518 222 208 177 231 222 162 142

Percentage of shares for A,frie 41.3% 25.1% 27.6% 27.6% 26.0% 23.6% 14.2% 15.9% 42.7% 17.0%
foreign shareholders B-aksjer - 8.3% 5.6% 6.0% 8.3% 15.2% 41.4% 60.8% 58.4% 63.2%

Totalt 41.3% 20.5% 20.9% 22.3% 21.6% 22.0% 19.3% 24.7% 18.6% 11.7%

Market value (NOK mill.) 22,367 16,284 16,278 8,191 8,100 6,900 6,000 5,983 4,597 1,751

1) Historic figures have been adjusted to take account of the share split and the new share issue, in connection with the merger of A- and B-shares in the 
Spring of 2001.

2) Net earnings per share after tax = Earnings for the year : Average number of shares.
3) Cash-flow per share after tax = Cash flow : Average number of shares.
4) Price earnings ratio = Share price 31.12. : Net earnings per share after tax.
5) Payout Ratio = Dividend per share : Net earnings per share.
a) When calculating financial ratios per share after full conversion net earnings and cash flow are rectified by interest expenses on subordinated convertible bonds.

Key figures related to shares 1)
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Ki Hwan Hyun is one of 880 employees at Pan Asia Chonju in Korea. The country is among the world’s ten largest newsprint exporters,
and has a healthy home market of around 1.3 million tonnes annually.
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 ’   emerges from Norske Skog’s

vision, goals and strategy, and builds on the Group’s core values:

openness, honesty and co-operation.

The Group now has over 11,000 employees at 24 wholly- and

partly-owned companies in 15 countries on five continents.
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A global 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate 
governance  

    , and the restructuring and further expansion during

2001, Norske Skog has become a new company with a new organisational structure, changed

leadership structure and a governance model that reflects the Group’s larger, global activity.

General meeting
   elects the shareholder-elected
members of the Corporate Assembly and their deputies. The
Corporate Assembly elects the shareholder-elected mem-
bers of the Board. One ordinary and two extraordinary
General Meetings were held in 2001.

The Corporate Assembly
 ,     of Norske Skog’s 
Corporate Assembly was reduced from 20 shareholder
-elected members and ten members elected by and from
among the employees to 12 and 6, respectively.

The Corporate Assembly constitutes itself through the
election of a chairman and deputy chairman annually. In
2001 the Corporate Assembly held three ordinary and two
extraordinary meetings.

The Board
   elects the chairman and deputy
chairman of the Board annually, and determines the Board’s
remuneration. The Chairman of the Board, since 1989, has
been Lage Westerbø. The Company’s Board can consist of a
minimum eight, and a maximum of eleven members, of
whom up to a third shall have been elected by the employees’
representatives on the Corporate Assembly. In 2001, the
Company’s Board was expanded by one member to ten, of
whom three are elected by and among the employees.

The Board generally holds seven to eight ordinary meet-
ings every year. The year 2001 was an active year, with the
acquisition of Walsum and Parenco and increased owner-

ship stakes in Pan Asia and PISA, Brazil, and six ordinary
and twelve extraordinary Board meetings were held.

The CEO
       . The CEO is 
responsible for the day-to-day management of the Com-
pany’s activities, and ensuring that it is run and organised in
accordance with the shareholders’ wishes and the Board’s
decisions. The CEO is also responsible for the Group 
accounts, ensuring that they conform with laws and regula-
tions, and that the assets are managed in a sound manner.

The corporate governance model
 ’   emerges from Norske
Skog’s vision, goals and strategy, and builds on the Group’s
core values: openness, honesty and co-operation. The mod-
el describes management and organisational principles, the
Group organisation’s form of work, and the forums
through which work is performed. Further, it defines the
tools for following up policies and standards.

During 2001, Corporate Management was reduced by
three members. Following the restructuring of Norske
Skog’s activities in North America, this region is no longer
part of the Group’s operational organisation. Furthermore,
the following up of the Group’s activities in Asia is now part
of the responsibility of the Senior Vice President Strategic
Development. The functions Global Otimisation and 
Human Resources/Organisational Development have now
merged into one functional unit.
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The Corporate Management assembly consists of seven
people and includes the CEO, the Corporate Senior Vice
Presidents in charge of Strategic development, Corporate
Finance, Global Optimisation and Human Resources/Or-
ganisational Development and the Presidents for the three
regions. The Senior Vice President, Strategic Development,
is also the CEO’s deputy. This role also includes responsi-
bility for following up Norske Skog’s commercial interests
in companies not included in the operational organisation,
i.e. companies where Norske Skog’s ownership stake is 50%
or less, or companies with operations outside Norske Skog’s
core area. For additional details and biographies of cor-
porate management, see page 58.

Roles and responsibilities within the corporate organisation
are defined as follows:
Corporate management focuses on the Group’s overall 
development, to achieve its aspirations. The Group there-
fore concentrates on three key areas which are followed up
within the organisation: Strategy, result achievement and
people management. The necessary staff for finance and
other corporate staff functions are within the Corporate
Management regime.
Regional management has the responsibility for the eco-
nomic and operational performance of the region and its
operating units. This means, moreover, that the regions are
responsible for optimising co-operation between and with-
in the regions, to ensure that opportunities for co-ordina-
tion and best practice are exploited to the full.

Operating units are responsible for operating performance
at unit level. This also includes the fostering of operations
-related proficiency, leadership and people development.

Leadership and development of the Group is exercised via:
Corporate management meetings – CMM. CMM meetings
are held on a regular basis, utilising the latest communica-
tion technology or in person, the focus being on strategy,
people management, leadership and organisational develop-
ment, and the achievement of ambitions.
Regional review meetings – RRM: RMM meetings are held
quarterly, under the chairmanship of the Regional President,
and have particular focus on the achievement of operational
and financial goals. The meetings also consider regional
strategies and ambitions, leadership development and any
issues with regard to health and safety.
Global council meetings – GCM: GCM meetings concen-
trate on inter-regional optimisation at a global level through
benchmarking and best practice within selected functional
areas.

Shareholdings
   it is desirable that elected officials
and employees should hold shares in the Company, and en-
courages this. A table showing the shares held by members
of the Board, the Corporate Assembly and leading employees
may be found on page 59.
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PRESIDENT AND 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Jan Reinås

CORPORATE FINANCE
SVP AND CFO

Jan Kildal

NORSKE SKOG 
AUSTRALASIA

President David Kirk

NORSKE SKOG 
SOUTH AMERICA

President Vidar Lerstad

PARTIALLY OWNED COMPANIES
AND OTHER ACTIVITIES

Jan A. Oksum

CORPORATE STRATEGY
SVPJan A. Oksum

Deputy to CEO

GLOBAL OPTIMISATION 
AND CORPORATE HUMAN

RESOURCES
SVP Ida Goodreau

NORSKE SKOG 
EUROPE

President Claes-Inge Isacson

Pan Asia Paper Co. Pte Ltd.

Malaysian Newsprint Industry

Norske Skog Canada Ltd.

Other Activities
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1. Corporate Assembly:
  of the Corporate Assembly receives a fixed
fee of NOK 130,000 per year. Each of the other members
receives NOK 4,500 for each meeting. The total paid to mem-
bers of the Corporate Assembly in 2001 was NOK 616,500.

2. The Board:
  of the Board receives a fixed fee of NOK
230,000, the deputy chairman receives NOK 165,000, and
the Board’s other members NOK 130,000 per year. The 
total paid out to the Board, including NOK 4,500 per 
meeting for deputies who attended such meetings, was
NOK 1,549,000 in 2001.

3. CEO:
 ’  and other terms are negotiated by the
compensation committee and determined by the Board.
Salary and other remuneration to the CEO and other infor-
mation concerning pension schemes and wage guarantee
scheme may be found in Note 3 to the Group accounts.

4. Corporate management:
  committee will review the principles 
applying to wages and other terms for the rest of corporate
management.

5. Internal board remuneration:
    to Norske Skog employees who serve on
the boards of Group companies. Similarly, fees for appointed
office holders in companies in which Norske Skog holds
shares, will be payable to Norske Skog. This applies in cases
where the employee has been appointed as a result of
his/her position with Norske Skog.

6. Other:
 concerning option schemes, bonus schemes
and loans to senior staff may be found in Note 3 to the 
accounts.

7. Employee share purchase scheme:
  of Norske Skogindustrier ASA and its subsi-
diaries in and outside Norway have been offered the oppor-
tunity, twice yearly, to buy shares at a rebate on the market
price. Employees in Norway may buy shares at a 20% rebate
on the stock exchange price during a specified period. The 
total tax-free rebate for a single year may not exceed NOK
1,500. Payment for the shares is made by deductions from
wages over a period of twelve months and purchases up to
a value of NOK 30,816 (3/5 of “G” – the basic Norwegian
social security pension) are allowed. This is the upper limit
of the amount employees may have in the form of an inter-
est-free loan from their employer. In the year 2001, the
share purchase scheme  applied to all employees in Europe,
South America and Australasia and to members of the
Board and the Corporate Assembly.

The scheme is based on favourable Norwegian tax rules.
Such rules often differ widely from country to country, so
that a number of special arrangements have been intro-
duced. The upper limit for share purchases is, however, the
same for all countries.

8. Elected officials’ and corporate man-
agement’s shareholdings in Norske Skog:
  ’  held, as at 
31 December 2001, a total of 14,267 shares in Norske Skog.
On the same date, the members of the Board held a total of
26,037 shares. Corporate management’s total holdings
comprised 35,113 shares and 45,973 options. Additional
details may be found on page 59.

Remuneration of Norske Skog’s elected
officials and senior staff

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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LAGE WESTERBØ, chairman
of the Board since 1989. 
Forest owner. Deputy chair-
man of, among others, the
regional board of Sparebanken
NOR Oppland/ Hedmark,
chairman of the committee of
Representatives of the insur-
ance company Skogbrand.
Shares in Norske Skog: 7,353.

JON R. GUNDERSEN, 
Deputy chairman since 1995,
Board member since 1989.
Barrister. Chairman of the
board of, among others, Aren-
dals Fossekompani ASA, 
Polaroid (Norge) AS, Norsk
Vekst ASA, Gambacco AS
and Bergesen Allmennyttige
Stiftelse.
Shares in Norske Skog: 694.

HALVOR BJØRKEN, 
member of the Board since
2000. Forest owner. Among
other things chairman of the
board of Skogeierforeningen
Nord, deputy chairman of the
Norwegian Forest Owners’
Federation, Industriflis and
Din Tur As. 
Shares in Norske Skog: 1,155.

JAN VIDAR GRINI, 
member of the Board 
(elected by the employees)
since 2001.
Shares in Norske Skog: 318.

LARS WILHELM GRØHOLT,
member of the Board 
since 2001. Forest owner. 
Chairman of the Norwegian
Forest Owners’ Association.
Shares in Norske Skog: 645.

STIG JOHANSEN, 
member of the Board 
(elected by the employees)
since 1999.
Shares in Norske Skog: 50.

KÅRE LEIRA, 
member of the Board 
(elected by the employees)
since 1999.
Shares in Norske Skog: 485.

ØIVIND LUND, member of
the Board since 2000. 
Several board positions in
the ABB group. Now works
at ABB’s Zürich headquarters
as head of its group com-
petitiveness programme. 
Shares in Norske Skog: 212.

EGIL MYKLEBUST,
member of the Board since
2001. Chairman of the board
of Norsk Hydro, and SAS
Norway.
Shares in Norske Skog: 0.

JAN REINÅS, 
member of the Board since
1994. CEO of Norske Skog.
Member of the board of
Schibsted ASA, member of
the board of the Federation
of Norwegian Process 
Industries, member of the
executive board of the 
Confederation of Norwegian
Business and Industry.
Shares in Norske Skog: 15,430.

AMUND SAXRUD, 
observer, elected by the 
employees, participating
since 2001.
Shares in Norske Skog: (0).

The Board of Directors of Norske Skog



58    |    

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

JAN REINÅS (57)
PRESIDENT AND CEO
Joined Norske Skog 1994. 
He holds a degree in Economics, has completed
a 3-year-study of planning, rationalisation, logi-
stics and management. INSEAD's Executive
MBA Programme Managing director of regional
transport companies, joined SAS 1987, manag-
ing director SAS Norway 1990, President and
CEO the SAS Group 1993-1994. Member of 
the Board of Directors Schibsted ASA, the 
Federation of Norwegian Process Industries,
the Confederation of Norwegian Business and
Industry, and the Confederation of European
Paper Industries. Former chairman of the
Board of Directors Sparebanken Midt-Norge,
the national Postal Administration and the 
Norwegian State Railways.

JAN A. OKSUM (51)
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT CORPORATE 
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT, DEPUTY CEO
Joined Norske Skog 1979.
Master in Pulp and Paper Technology, Norwegian
Institute of Technology. Research Associate,
Pulp and Paper Research Institute of Norway
(PFI) 1974-1979. Process engineer, Assistant
Production Manager and Production Manager
Norske Skog Skogn 1979-1988. Technical
Manager and then General Manager Norske
Skog Golbey 1989-1996. Vice President 
Corporate R&D 1997. Senior Vice President
Area Pulp and Magazine Paper 1997-1999. 
Executive Vice President Business Develop-
ment 1999-2000.

JAN LARS KILDAL (51)
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT, 
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Joined Norske Skog 1995.
Bachelor of Business Administration, Norwegian
School of Economics and Business Administra-
tion. Chief Accountant, Finance Manager, Human
Resources Manager, Glomfjord Fabrikker,
Norsk Hydro 1976-1983. Department manager,
Hydro Agri,  Norsk Hydro 1983-1985. Financial
Director Denofa-Lilleborg 1985-1989, Financial
Director and Chief Financial Officer, Orkla
1985-1995.

IDA J. GOODREAU (50)
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT GLOBAL 
OPTIMISATION AND HUMAN RESOURCES
AND ORGANISATION
Joined  Fletcher Challenge Canada 1992.
BA English and Economics, University of
Western Ontario, Canada, Hons. B. Comm.
University of Windsor, Canada 1981 and MBA
University of Windsor, 1986. Union Gas Limited,
Canada, 1981-1992, most recently as 
Vice President, Human Resources. Senior 
Vice President, Human Resources, FCCL,
1992-1994, Managing Director, Tasman Pulp
and Paper (FCP), 1994-1997, President, Pulp
Operations, FCCL, 1997-2000.

Corporate management

CLAES-INGE ISACSON (56)
PRESIDENT NORSKE SKOG EUROPE
Norske Skog 1989-1997 and from 1999.
MS Chalmers University of Technology, 
Gøteborg. Senior positions in Stora 1972-1982
and 1998. Consultant, Jaakko Pøyry (USA and
Sweden), 1982-1989. Project Director Norske
Skog Golbey 1989-1992, Mill Director Norske
Skog Tofte 1992-1996, Executive Vice President
Fiber/Magazine 1994-1996, Executive Vice
President Stora Publication Paper 1998, 
Executive Vice President Business Develop-
ment 1998-1999.

VIDAR LERSTAD (57)
PRESIDENT NORSKE SKOG SOUTH AMERICA
Joined Norske Skog 1989. MBA Norwegian
School of Economics and Business Admini-
stration. Norsk Hydro 1970-1974, The Export
Council of Norway/The Norwegian Embassy,
Brussels 1975-1980, Tandberg 1980-1984,
Managing Director, Ciments du Togo Scancem,
West-Africa, 1984-1989, Managing Director
Norske Skog Golbey, France, 1989-1994, 
Managing Director Norske Skog Sales 
1994-1996, Senior Vice President Sales & 
Marketing Norske Skog 1996-1999, 
President Area International 1999-2000.

DAVID KIRK (41) MBE
PRESIDENT NORSKE SKOG AUSTRALASIA
Joined Fletcher Challenge 1985.
Graduate of Medicine, Otago University, New
Zealand, BA, Philosophy, Politics and Economics,
Oxford, England. Business Analyst Fletcher
Challenge 1985-1987, Consultant McKinsey &
Co. London, 1989-1992, Executive Assistant/
Chief Policy Advisor to Prime Minister of New
Zealand, 1992-1995, General Manager, 
Marketing and Commercial, Fletcher Challenge
Energy, 1995-1998, Director of Marketing and
Supply Chain, Fletcher Challenge Paper Global,
1998-1999, Chief Operating Officer, Fletcher
Challenge Paper Australia 1999-2000.
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Corporate Assembly
Nominated by the shareholders:
Ivar B. Korsbakken,
Oslo, chairman (697)
Idar Kreutzer, Oslo, deputy chairman (0)
Emil Aubert, Porsgrunn (7,163)
Ole H. Bakke, Trondheim (53)
Svein Haare, Hokksund (555)
Olav Hørsdal, Frolands Verk (2,755)
Bjørn Kristoffersen, Oslo (0)
Tore Lindholt, Skjetten (0)
Dieter Oswald, Bø i Telemark (67)
Halvard Sæther, Lillehammer (1,462)
Helge Urstrømmen, Elverum (1,163)
Svein Aaser, Drøbak (255)

Deputy members:
1. Ann Kristin Brautaset, Oslo (0)
2. Pål Haugstad, Ringebu (163)
3. John Giverholt, Asker (0)
4. Torstein Opdahl, Namnå (613)

Nominated by the employees:
Steinar Voldseth, Skogn (0)
Bjørn Olav Hanssen, Skogn (100)
Roy Eilertsen, Saugbrugs (0)
Magnus Straume, Union (3)
Terje Bråthen, Follum (0)
Ove Magne Anseth, Forestia
Braskereidfoss (50)

Deputy members:
Kåre A. Haugen, Skogn (964)
Steinar Langåssve, Skogn (0)
Per Kristian Dahl, Saugbrugs (100)
Udmund Viflot, Union (486)
Steffen Mørtvedt, Follum (1,527)
Terje Andersen, Forestia Agnes (50)

Observers from the employees:
Trond Andersen, Saugbrugs (626)
Eigil Fredriksen, Union (0)
Rolf Bråthen, Follum (782)

Deputy observers:
Kjell Aspestrand, Saugbrugs (0)
Jarle Halvorsen, Union (0)
Roy Helgerud, Follum (0)

Board of Directors
Lage Westerbø, Aurdal,
chairman (7,353)
Jon R. Gundersen, Oslo,
deputy chairman (694)
Halvor Bjørken, Verdal (1,155)
Jan Vidar Grini, Union (318)
Lars Wilhelm Grøholt, Hov (645)
Stig Johansen,
Forestia Braskereidfoss (50)
Kåre Leira, Skogn (485)
Øivind Lund, Drammen (212)
Egil Myklebust, Oslo (0)
Jan Reinås, Bærum (15,430)

Deputy members by the employees:
Kjetil Bakkan, Skogn (98)
Harald Christiansen, Union (0)
Rolf Randen, Forestia Kvam (168)

Observer:
Amund Saxrud, Follum (0)

Corporate Management, 
1 January 2002
President and 
Chief Executive Officer
Jan Reinås (15,430)

Senior Vice President
Jan A. Oksum (5,814)

Senior Vice President and 
Corporate Finance Officer
Jan Lars Kildal (4,973)

Senior Vice President
Ida J. Goodreau (212)

President Norske Skog Europe
Claes-Inge Isacson (5,580)

President Norske Skog Australasia
David Kirk (964)

President Norske Skog South America 
Vidar Lerstad (2,395)

Audit
Arthur Andersen & Co., Oslo (0)

(Number of shares owned in 
parenthesis)

Corporate Assembly, Board of Directors and
Corporate Management



Norske Skog implements extensive exchanges of personnel across international borders, for shorter or longer periods. At the corporate head-
quarters at Oxenøen there are employees from 20 different nations. Peter Scott from New Zealand brought his family to Norway – from left Ben,
Peter, Jamie, Tilly and Kristen. They had heard in advance that the Norwegian Summer lasted for only one day, but were favourably surprised.
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       on its core area,

improved its product range and firmed up the Group’s global 

position as a leading supplier of publication paper.

After strong expansion, Norske Skog is now focusing on 

consolidation, in order to strengthen its competitiveness by – among

other things – increasing productivity and paying off debt.

At the start of 2002 Norske Skog is a soundly structured 

company where investments are well matched to cash flow from the

various parts of its activities.

Growth and 
restructuring 
lifted profits
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  in 2001 freed-up-capital,
eliminated substantial minority interests and reduced total
assets. Norske Skog’s financial strength laid the foundation
for long-term loan financing in international bond markets.
At the start of 2002 Norske Skog has unused long-term
drawing rights of NOK 4,686 million. Debt reduction is
now being given priority. During 2001 Norske Skog reduced
its loan portfolio by NOK 3,288 million, achieved through
satisfactory cash flow and the sales of activities outside 
its core area. The strong cash flow from operations will 
provide resilience to manage in weaker markets as 2002
commences.

A changed share structure by merging share classes A
and B, based on one share, one vote, provided the basis for
an expansion of share capital in June and improved share’s
liquidity. The share capital increase, of NOK 3,200 million,
strengthened the Company’s financial situation significantly.

After strong expansion during 2000-2001, Norske Skog
is in an improved financial position. As 2002 opens, Norske
Skog is a well-structured company whose investments are

well balanced with its access to cash flow from the various 
aspects of its business.

Norske Skog continued to achieve high margins and
improved results in 2001, even though markets were steadily
weakening. This was due to good demand in Europe, parti-
cularly for newsprint, synergy gains, the effect of co-ordina-
tion and restructuring and finally, due to efficient operations.
Earnings per share as at 31 December 2001 was NOK 20.68
(NOK 19.17). Norske Skog’s goal is to distribute a dividend
which gives shareholders approximately one/third of the
Group’s earnings, throughout an economic cycle. The
Board has proposed a dividend of NOK 6.00 (NOK 6.00)
per share.

The total increase in value of a Norske Skog share (share
price increase, plus dividend) during the year was 16%.

At the turn of the year, most markets saw reduced 
demand and falling prices. The European market, which in
the fourth quarter 2001 accounted for 56% of the Group’s
operating revenue weakened significantly at the end of the
year. Consequently, Norske Skog expects a considerably
lower result in 2002 than in 2001.

Growth and 
structural changes yielded 
improved results

       on its core area, improved its product

range and firmed up the Group’s global position as a leading supplier of publication 

paper. It achieved this primarily by purchasing two publication paper mills in Germany

and the Netherlands, by boosting its ownership stakes in Pan Asia and PISA, Brazil,

selling activities outside its core area of publication paper, and by restructuring the 

activities acquired during 2000. The Pan Asia venture has turned out to be a good 

investment. After marked expansion, Norske Skog is now concentrating on consolidation,

in order to strengthen competitiveness by increasing productivity and reducing debt.

ANNUAL REPORT

Norske Skog share value
rose 16% in 2001
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High margins in weaker
markets
     in 2000, publication paper markets
gradually weakened during 2001. Demand for publication
paper fell – in some areas the reduction was significant.
Newsprint prices fell in all regions except Europe and 
Australia. In North and South America the price decline
during the year was in the vacinity of 15-17%. The price
level for uncoated (SC) magazine paper was stable in 
Europe, while prices for coated (LWC) magazine paper
were under pressure.

Strong cash flow from operations
 ’  revenue rose to NOK 30,354 mil-
lion (NOK 26,635 million), and operating earnings reached
NOK 5,096 million  (NOK 4,211 million). Net cash flow
from operations was NOK 7,052 million (NOK 4,922 mil-
lion). Restructuring has lifted margins, even during a strong
growth phase. Gross operating margin increased from 24.8%
in 2000 to 27.7% in 2001, on  par with the best in the 
sector, and the best result Norske Skog has ever achieved.

Pre-tax earnings were NOK 3,894 million (NOK 3,021
million). Earnings per share were maintained despite a
higher number of shares in 2001, amounting to NOK 20.68
(NOK 19.17) and cash flow from operations per share was
NOK 58.47 (NOK 48.18). Calculated on the basis of the
share price on 2 January 2002, this gives price/earnings and
price/cash flow ratios of 8.1 and 2.9, respectively.

Gains from the sale of activities are included under 
Operating Earnings to the value of NOK 201 million 
(NOK 0 million) and under Other Items, to the value of
NOK 158 million (NOK 170 million).

Earnings for the year was NOK 2,660 million (NOK
2,184 million).

When comparing key financial figures and absolute 
operation figures one must allow for the major structural
changes and strong growth that occurred in 2000/2001.
Please see the pro forma figures in note 1 to the consolidated
accounts.

The most significant structural changes that occurred 
during the year were:

- Sale of Tasman Pulp mill on 30 April

- Sale of Mackenzie pulp mill on 15 June

- Deconsolidation of Norske Skog Canada Ltd.

(NorskeCanada) on 28 August

- Acquisition of minority stakes in PISA newsprint mill

- Acquisition of 1/6 of Pan Asia Paper Company on 16 August

- Acquisition of publication paper mills Walsum and Parenco 

on 30 November

- Sales of forest properties in Southern Norway, Sweden and 

Brazil.

OPERATIONAL INVESTMENTS
AND DEPRECIATION
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  total assets from NOK 61,277
million to NOK 56,272 million, including strategic invest-
ments of NOK 12 billion. The deconsolidation of Norske-
Canada reduced minority interests in Norske Skog’s Group
accounts by NOK 7,057 million.

Group equity capital excluding minority interests in-
creased from NOK 14,490 million to NOK 19,321 million
during 2001, giving an equity capital ratio of 34.3% (23.7%).
The Group’s goal is an average of 40%, throughout an 
economic cycle. Minority interests’ share of equity capital
was NOK 205 million (NOK 7,681 million).

From October 2001, Norske Skog has had an invest-
ment grade rating from the two institutions Standard &
Poor’s (BBB) and Moody’s (Baa3). The rating forms the
basis of The Company’s 2001 long-term loan in inter-
national bond markets.

Strategic investments in Europe, 
South America and Asia
   , cash flow from operations, the sale of
activities and the raising of a bond loan in the US financed the
strategic investments in two publication paper mills in Europe.
It also contributed to the increased ownership stakes in Pan
Asia and PISA, Brazil. A reduction in the loan portfolio totalled
NOK 3,288 million in 2001. Ordinary investments in new plant
were subject to strict prioritisation and totalled NOK 1,422 mil-
lion in 2001, corresponding to 42.7% of ordinary depreciation.

Net interest-bearing debt at the end of 2001 was NOK
22,820 million (NOK 20,535 million), of which 79% was at
floating interest rates. Average loan interest in 2001 was 6.2%.
The Group hedges its balance sheet by employing loans with 
a mix of currencies that matches its assets. The ratio of net 
interest-bearing debt to equity, was 1.18, while the corresponding
figure at the end of 2000 was 1.42. The Group’s goal is 1.0,
throughout an economic cycle.

A rolling currency hedging programme reduces the effect
of currency fluctuations on cash flow and gearing. The Group

hedges 50-100% of 12 months net cash flow per currency. The
movement of the Norwegian krone in relation to the Euro and
the US dollar will particularly affect the Group’s profit trend
over the longer term.

Divestments of activities outside the Group’s core area 
totalled NOK 3.8 billion, freeing up capital of NOK 3.3 billion
and yielding a booked profit of NOK 359 million.

The financial restructuring of Norske Skog Canada Ltd.
included an extraordinary payment to shareholders. Of this
payment, NOK 4,372 million was distributed to Norske Skog.

At the end of 2001 unutilised long term drawing rights
amounted to NOK 4,686 million.

Changed share structure produced improved
results for the shareholders
    the shareholder values more apparent,
several steps were taken during 2001 to improve the liquidity
and turnover of Norske Skog shares. Share classes A and B
were merged into one share class from 11 May 2001, and at
the same time the share was split 1:2, at a par value of NOK
10. The share offer 15-25 June attracted great international
interest and was 2.5 times oversubscribed. 23 million new
shares, at a price of NOK 140 per share, yielded NOK 
3.2 billion to Norske Skog. The proportion owned by non
-Norwegians climbed from just over 20% to over 40%,
creating a larger and more active market for Norske Skog
shares. This led to a significant increase in turnover and a
relatively favourable price development on the Oslo Stock
Exchange.

Norske Skog gauges return to shareholders over a two
-year rolling period, measured against a reference group of
indices and companies. During the period 31 December
1999 to 31 December 2001, the share yielded a return of
18.3 percentage points better than the reference group.
Norske Skog shares grew in value during 2001, including
dividend, by 16%. During the same period the Oslo Stock
Exchange overall index fell by 18%. At the end of 2001 the

Financial restructuring and strengthened capital position

Partly-owned companies
     in the Group accounts 
according to the proportional consolidation method, based
on a 50% share ownership from 16 August, compared with
33.3% share ownership previously held.Norske Skog Canada Ltd.
was – until 28 August 2001 – consolidated in the Group 
accounts. From this date, it is recognised in the accounts as
an affiliated company, with a share ownership of 36%.

The contribution from Norske Skog Canada Ltd. and
Malaysian Newsprint Industries  was a loss of NOK 9 million.

Return on capital employed was 13.7% in 2001. The Group’s
long-term goal is an average return of 14%. Continuous 

efforts are made to improve return on capital employed.
Net financial items (financial income/ financial costs)

was a loss of NOK 1,376 million (loss of NOK 1,394 mil-
lion in 2000).

Tax costs for the year were NOK 1,234 million (NOK
837 million), corresponding to 31.7% of ordinary profit.

The Board  has proposed a dividend of NOK 6.00 per
share (NOK 6.00). The dividend represents 29.0% (31.3%)
of earnings per share.

The Board of Directors confirms that the annual 
accounts have been prepared under the going concern 
assumption.

ANNUAL REPORT



   |       65

Global growth with focus
on core area

 ’   is to create value for its share-
holders, performing at least on par with the best companies
in the industry. In 2001 the Company has developed strate-
gies in the three areas considered most important for
achieving this goal: They are:
- A larger and more active market for its shares, profitable

growth, and a continuous drive to achieve the highest
possible cost-efficiency in operative activity.

- To improve shareholder’s value, the share structure was
modified in 2001. This created increased liquidity and
higher turnover, increased international interest and a
wider market for Norske Skog shares. During the past
few months turnover stood at around 7-10% of the total
number of shares. This is twice as much as in the 
previous year.

- Profitable growth, including the acquisitions in Europe
and increased ownership stakes in South America and
Asia, shall create size which generates synergies and 
co-ordination gains, and strengthens positions in high 
-earnings and high-growth markets. Combined with
growth, there has been a sharp focus on restructuring
and the sale of activities outside the core area, particularly
in market pulp, forestry and real estate.

- Steady focus on efficiency and costs is primary to the
Group’s profitability and market position. Competitive-
ness shall be increased through product development,
quality and an annual increase in productivity. Transfer
of best practice throughout the whole value chain will 
facilitate the contribution to customers’ competitiveness
and value creation, and ultimately Norske Skog shall be a
preferred supplier of publication paper.

Strengthened position in Asia and North America
   its ownership stake in Pan Asia
Paper Company Ltd., Singapore, from 33% to 50% with 
effect from 16 August 2001. The remaining 50% is owned
by Abitibi Consolidated, Canada. Pan Asia comprises four
modern publication paper mills in Korea, China and Thai-
land, and is the largest supplier of newsprint in Asia, exclud-
ing Japan, with a market share of 25%. During the 1990’s,
demand for newsprint in Asia excl. Japan doubled, and
growth in this region is expected to continue above the
world average.

On 28 August Norske Skog Canada Ltd. (NorskeCanada)
acquired Pacifica Papers, with two publication paper mills
in British Columbia. Synergies have been identified totall-
ing CAD 60 million per year. NorskeCanada now has 
capacity of 1.9 million tonnes of newsprint and other pub-
lication paper and is the third largest company in this pro-
duct segment in North America. With an average capacity
of nearly 500,000 tonnes at its mills, the company has a
favourable structure, by North American standards.

Settlement for NorskeCanada’s acquisition of Pacifica
was funded primarily in shares, and consequently Norske
Skog’s ownership stake fell from 50.8% to 36%. From 
28 August the company has thus been deconsolidated, and
is included in the accounts as an affiliated company. The
Mackenzie pulp mill was transferred to new owners on 
15 June, and pulp production at Powell River was wound
up in the Autumn of 2001. Publication paper now accounts
for 80% of NorskeCanada’s production capacity.

Stock Exchange value of Norske Skog was NOK 22,400 mil-
lion (NOK 16,284 million), corresponding to 116% (112%)
of booked equity, excluding minorities.

In 2001 2,423 employees at Norske Skog’s wholly-owned
activities purchased a total of 284,424 shares in the employee
share offer.

As at 31 December 2001 Norske Skog held a total of
1,168,898 of its own shares, corresponding to 0.9% of the
total number of shares. At the Company’s general meeting
of shareholders on 3 May the Board was authorised to acquire
up to 10% of the Company’s shares, on certain defined terms.
The authorisation was granted for a period of 18 months.

At the end of 2001 Norske Skog’s share capital stood at
NOK 1,331 million, consisting of 133,137,088 shares with a
par value of NOK 10 each.
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Acquisitions in Europe lifted magazine 
paper capacity
   Norske Skog took over the two publication
paper mills Walsum, in Germany, and Parenco, in the
Netherlands, formerly owned by the German firm Haindl.
This gave Norske Skog additional capacity of 880,000 tonnes
publication paper – mainly magazine paper – and an 
associated customer base. The total value of the transaction
was NOK 8,500 million. This corresponds to USD 1,080
per tonne of capacity – significantly below the average for
comparable transactions.

Walsum and Parenco complement the Group’s activity
in Europe, in terms both of products and geographical 
positioning. Their combined capacity of 530,000 tonnes of
magazine paper gives Norske Skog a more balanced product
range, corresponding more closely to market demand. The
mills are favourably situated to serve the Group’s customers
in Europe. Synergies after the integration of the two mills is
estimated to be NOK 350 million.

Norske Skog increased its ownership stake in the PISA
newsprint mill, in Brazil, from 68% to over 99% in 2001. This
made it possible to establish a regional organisation and full
co-ordination of sales, distribution and customer service
from the company’s three production sites in Brazil and
Chile. Norske Skog is the largest regional supplier of news-
print in South America, and the only producer in Brazil.

Comprehensive disposals of activities
     Tasman, New Zealand, and
Mackenzie, Canada, were transferred to new owners in the
first half of 2001. Apart from its position in NorskeCanada,
Norske Skog is thus no longer directly involved in the pro-
duction and sale of market pulp.

The Group’s majority stakes in the shipping companies
Tasman Orient Line, New Zealand, and Nornews Express ANS,
Norway, were transferred to new owners in 2001. Norske Skog’s
shareholding in Moelven Industrier ASA, equating to a 22%
ownership stake, was sold during the year, and the Company’s
interest in Industrikraft Midt-Norge was reduced from 30% to
10%. The specialities paper mill Union Geithus has been put
into a new company, Nordic Paper AS, in which Norske Skog
has an ownership stake of 45%.

At the end of the year agreements were reached regarding
the sale of forest properties in Southern Norway, Sweden and
Brazil. The sales represent nearly 100, 000 hectares of productive
forest. It proved impossible to secure a satisfactory price for the
Group’s forest properties in mid-Norway, and that sale has conse-
quently been shelved. The corporate headquarters at Oxenøen
has been transferred to new owners under an agreement that
gives Norske Skog a long-term lease and the option to buy back.

Focus on competitiveness
   in a market where it is difficult to achieve
significant price and product differentiation. Competitiveness

and earnings are to a large extent determined by a company’s
cost efficiency. Norske Skog is therefore concentrating on 
developing those units which have the potential to become
leaders in competitiveness, over the longer term. This is a 
decisive factor in the Group’s investment policy.

Norske Skog’s growth and global diversity offers new 
opportunities for value creation through co-operation and
transfer of expertise between regions and companies. In view
of the relevant competition regulations these activities will 
focus on three main areas; synergies, transfer of best practice,
and strategic measures. This is best achieved by continuously
developing the organisation and its competence. The following
areas have been given priority:

- Developing business routines which assure customers that
they will receive regular deliveries of correct specification

- Transferring best practice in production
- Exploiting economies of scale and global presence in trans-

port and procurement
- Ensuring optimal use of information technology in all parts

of the Group organisation

Lower demand and reduced
output in all regions
    in 2001 were affected by
a steadily weakening economic trend in all regions, initially
– and most markedly – in North America, and lastly in 
Europe. World consumption of publication paper fell by
approximately 4% in 2001, while in 2000 it rose by impressive
4.6%. Due to reduced demand, Norske Skog’s mills in all
parts of the world had to implement production curtail-
ments corresponding to a total of 297,000 tonnes.

When making comparisons, it should be recalled that
2000 was considered a very good year, with great activity in
all regions. In 2000 the world economy grew by nearly 5%,
world trade increased by 13% and consumption of adver-
tisements and other advertising services rose by 11%.

Capacity growth for newsprint will be approximately
1% in both 2002 and 2003. The increase will come mainly
in Asia, while there will be a net reduction of newsprint 
capacity in North America. For magazine paper, the capacity
increases are somewhat larger, particularly for coated
(LWC) paper in Europe and North America.

Good demand in Europe
  and continued positive demand resulted in
marked improvement during 2001 for Region Europe,
which reported operating revenue of NOK 14,219 million
and operating earnings of NOK 3,247 million. Gross oper-
ating margin was 31.3% (25.9%).
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Newsprint
The high demand of the record year 2000 was maintained
into 2001, but during the Autumn the market weakened.
The year as a whole showed demand 4% lower than in 2000,
but 1.9% higher than in 1999. Annual contracts for deliveries
to Western Europe provided stable prices throughout the year
– 14-15% above the level for 2000. Operation was stable and
satisfactory at all mills, and capacity utilisation was as high
as 92%. Weaker demand in overseas markets, and gradually
in the European market, required production curtailments
totalling 138,000 tonnes, mainly in the fourth quarter.

European newsprint capacity was unchanged from 2000
to 2001. In 2002 two new newsprint machines will come on
line in Western Europe, but after other expected structural
changes newsprint capacity in the region will decrease 
marginally. Negotiations with European customers with 
regard to deliveries in 2002 were completed after the New
Year, and it includes an average price reduction of approxi-
mately 10% from 2001.

Magazine paper
Due to strong demand, prices increased in both uncoated
(SC) and coated (LWC) magazine paper at the turn of the
year 2000/2001. For SC, the price level was maintained
throughout the whole year, while prices for LWC were under
pressure from the second quarter, owing to lower demand
and new capacity. Total deliveries of SC to Europe were
maintained at the same high level as in 2000, 10% higher
than in 1999. Deliveries of LWC fell by 6%, but were 5.5%
higher than in 1999. Deliveries from Europe to other regions
fell by 1% and 10%, for SC and LWC respectively, reflecting
lower demand in the US.

European capacity for both SC and LWC increased by
around 5% from 2000 to 2001, while the rise in 2002 is esti-
mated at just over 4%. In considering this capacity trend, it
should be recalled that magazine paper – particularly SC –
is primarily a European product, while most other regions
are net importers. Magazine paper production curtailments
were 83,000 tonnes.

South America:  High margins in a falling market
  and lower newsprint prices impacted the
result for region South America. Operating revenue was
NOK 1,939 million and operating earnings were NOK 473
million. Gross operating margin was 42.5% (38.3%).

Demand for newsprint weakened right from the first
quarter. World economic trends accentuated this tendency
during the year, and South American demand for
newsprint fell by 14% in 2001. Production curtailments 
totalled 45,000 tonnes.

Surplus capacity from suppliers outside South America
helped to push prices from USD 600/tonne in the fourth
quarter of 2000 to around USD 500 in 2001. Lower local

costs - partly due to currency movements, and internal 
efficiency drives at the mills helped to maintain a very 
satisfactory operating margin.

Stable in Australasia
   were relatively stable in 2001.
The region reported operating revenue of NOK 4,473 million
and operating earnings of NOK 725 million, after structural
costs. Gross operating margin was 32.5% (32.0%).

Weaker advertising markets influenced some customers
to reduce pagination and the publication of free sheets and
special magazines. Consumption in Australia declined by
5%, compared with the record year 2000. Deliveries to Asia fell.
Production curtailments totalled 44,000 tonnes.

In accordance with 10-year contracts, a price increase of
7% was put into effect from 1 July  and in New Zealand from
1 January 2002. These contracts represent about two thirds
of deliveries from Norske Skog’s mills in Australia and New
Zealand to these markets.

Good results in Pan Asia
 ’  interests includes a 50% ownership in
Pan Asia Paper Company and 34% in Malaysian Newsprint
Industries (MNI). Despite the decline in markets, Norske
Skog’s interests in Asia yielded sound results in 2001.
During the period 1999-2001 Pan Asia achieved an average
gross operating margin of 30.5%.

Asian demand for newsprint fell by 6%, but was 1%
higher than in 1999. In South Korea and China, where 
Pan Asia sells approximately two thirds of its production,
market conditions were relatively stable in 2001. In other
markets there was a marked price decline. Lower demand
necessitated production curtailments of 205,000 tonnes.
Lower prices for recycled fibre and energy, combined with
efficient operation, resulted in reduced costs in 2001.

Capacity growth is small and is coming primarily in
China, it is expected to be offset by increased consumption.

Pan Asia’s activity is included in Norske Skog’s Group
accounts according to the proportional consolidation
method, with operating revenue of NOK 2,434 million and
operating earnings of NOK 616 million, which give a net
operating margin of 25.3%. MNI is reported as an affiliated
company in the consolidated accounts  and contributed
NOK 12 million.

North America:  Greatly reduced demand
 ’  in North America consists of its
ownership stake of 36% in Norske Skog Canada Ltd.
(NorskeCanada).

As early as the first quarter, the North American
newsprint market turned markedly weaker. For the year as
a whole, newsprint consumption in the US fell by 11.5%,
in comparison to 2000. It should be remembered, when
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considering this point, that 2000 saw the highest consump-
tion in newsprint since the first half of the 1990’s. North
American exports of newsprint to overseas markets in Latin
America and Asia also declined, and production curtail-
ments totalled 150,000 tonnes. At year end, newsprint in-
ventories were low.

In North America, prices are agreed quarterly, and lower
demand led to falling prices throughout the whole year,
from USD 590/tonne in January (US West coast) to USD
500-510 at the end of the year.

In the US, newsprint capacity declined by 3.5% in 2001,
and a further reduction of about 4% is expected in 2002.

NorskeCanada reported operating revenue of CAD
1,561 million and operating earnings of CAD 73 million
according to Norwegian GAAP. The company was consoli-
dated in the Group accounts up to 28 August 2001. From
that date it is included as an affiliated company, contri-
buting a loss of NOK 21 million for the financial year.

Environment:  Continuous improvements 
Norske Skog’s strategy is to run its activities in a manner
which supports the sustainable development of the environ-
ment and natural resources. The goal is to reduce the impact
on the environment to a minimum. The Group’s environ-
mental strategy embraces all of the Company’s activities,
and Norske Skog will strive to promote the same environ-
mental values in joint ventures and partly-owned companies.

No incidents occurred at Norske Skog’s mills in 2001 that
involved significant violations of permits or regulations.

Of the fibre required to produce paper at Norske Skog’s
wholly-owned mills in 2001, 21% came from recycled paper,
14% from chips from the sawn timber industry, 56% from
round timber and 9% from pulp purchased in the market.
Consumption of fibre from recycled paper increased by 
approximately 20% from the previous year, and totalled
950,000 tonnes. If Norske Skog’s shares of the partly-owned
companies Pan Asia, MNI and NorskeCanada are included,
total consumption was close to 1.7 million tonnes.

Norske Skog supports certified forestry throughout the
whole world. Certifiable and internationally accepted envi-
ronmental management systems shall be actively applied at
all production units. Seven out of fourteen wholly-owned
mills were certified at the end of 2001.

Norske Skog strives actively to conserve energy and 
reduce waste. More than 80% of the waste at the Group’s
European and South American mills was utilized as bio-
energy in 2001. This corresponds to 2,250 GWh or close to
200,000 tonnes of oil. In Australasia more of the waste is
used in agriculture or deposited in waste tips.

Discharges to water per tonne of produced unit have
been significantly reduced during the past few years. In the
course of the last five years discharges of organic matter
were cut by 30%. Apart from Bio Bio in Chile, and Boyer 
in Australia, all the mills have biological waste treatment

plants. The mill in Chile has launched an investment plan.
At Boyer an extensive study of recipient water has been
completed, to map the effect of discharges to the river.
Based on the results of this study, the authorities have 
extended until 1 January 2007, the deadline for imple-
menting new measures.

Dust from boilers is the main local problem where
emissions to air from the paper mills are concerned. Apart from
Bio Bio, in Chile, all mills now have filters which keep such
emissions below permitted limits. At present, Bio Bio is not
subject to requirements regarding boiler emissions, however
Norske Skog has decided to take steps to cut dust emissions.

Environmental investments at Norske Skog’s mills in
2001 totalled NOK 70 million.

More extensive and detailed environmental information
may be found in the Norske Skog Environmental Report 2001.

Priority to Health and Safety 
 ’     states: “Norske
Skog believes that every employee has the right to a healthy
and safe working environment, and the Company is com-
mitted to providing this. This means every employee has the
right to go home in the same healthy condition as when they
start work and certainly free from injury”. The goal of Norske
Skog’s health and safety strategy is to create a “zero injury”
mindset, this is a belief that all injuries are preventable.

The number of injuries continued to decline during
2001, as the Company set ambitious goals and initiatives
for improvement. On a rolling 12-month basis, the H-value
(number of lost-time injuries per million hours worked)
for the Group was 5.7 at the end of the year, in comparison
to 6.2 at the end of 2000. In 2001, 12 mills had an H-value
below 4 compared with 7 mills in 2000. Three of these mills
achieved an H-value of 0 at the end of 2001, no mill had
achieved 0 at the end of 2000.

Overall, there is a large variance in performance between
the mills, however, each mill has worked hard over the year
to improve their performance. The aim is to increase the
rate of improvement across the Group by leveraging the
learning and transfer of knowledge and skills between the
regions and the mills.

In order to support improving performance, a “Norske
Skog Health and Safety Standard” has been prepared. These
standards help each mill identify areas of strength and
those areas to be improved.

All regions have now established health and safety net-
works, to ensure that improvement efforts are co-ordinated
to the best possible effect within the region and the whole
Company.

Human resources and organisation
   develop an efficient and vibrant
global organisation continued in 2001. A methodology has
been developed for the systematic evaluation and follow up
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of managers, the identification of management talent and
succession planning. The company’s new governance model
is the basis for this.

Managers at all levels in all parts of the Company have
commenced participation in the training programme “The
Spirit of Norske Skog”. The aim of the programme is to im-
prove understanding of Norske Skog’s basic values, goals and
strategies, and the demands made on the Group’s management.

In 2001 a conference was held for key managers from all
regions and Group staff – CORE. The conference is the
Group’s annual, international conference for Norske Skog’s
managers, and is considered essential in fostering commu-
nication between the Group management and the rest of
the organisation. Elected representatives from all regions
attended the conference.

Through the internal publication People and Paper, a
communication platform has been created to widen em-
ployees’ knowledge about Norske Skog and the people who
work there. People and Paper is printed in seven languages
and distributed to all employees and their families.

The successful integration of new activities has created
opportunities for increased exchanges of experience and
transfer of best practice. During 2001 there were a total of
18 international secondments within the Company.

As of 31 December 2001 Norske Skog had 11,295 pay-
roll employees (10,404), including a proportional share of
the employees of Pan Asia and Malaysian Newsprint 
Industries. Deconsolidation of NorskeCanada meant that
approximately 2,100 people acquired new employers.
Through the purchase of Walsum and Parenco, Norske
Skog acquired 1,370 new employees.

Wages and social costs in 2001 totalled NOK 3,909 mil-
lion (NOK 3,290 million).

The Board thanks all employees for their valuable con-
tributions to Norske Skog’s development in 2001.

Changes in the Company’s 
governing bodies
  , changes were made in the Company’s 
governing bodies. In accordance with the decision made at
the extraordinary shareholders’ general meeting on 7 March

2001, the number of members of the Corporate Assembly
was reduced from 30 to 18, with effect from 30 August. The 
Corporate Assembly decided on 3 May 2001, to increase the
Board from 9 to 10 members. At a meeting on the same day,
Egil Myklebust, Lars Wilhelm Grøholt and Jan Vidar Grini
were elected as new members, while Halvard Sæther and 
Roy Eilertsen resigned from the Board. Amund Saxrud suc-
ceeded Fred Lundberg as observer elected by the employees.

Lower result for Norske
Skog in 2002
Globally, capacity growth for newsprint is low. At the 
beginning of 2002 the world economy is relatively slow,
although there is some signs of improvement in some 
regions. At the turn of the New Year paper inventories in
the world were at a moderate level.

Norske Skog expects a considerably lower result in the
first half of 2002 than in the second half of 2001, primarily
due to low prices and volumes in the European market.
Due to its global position, Norske Skog will benefit from an
improved world economy, when it arises. However, for the
year 2002 as a whole, Norske Skog expects a considerably
lower result than in 2001.

Distribution of result
 ’ Group accounts report a profit (after tax 
and before minorities) of NOK 2,660 million, against a cor-
responding profit of NOK 2,184 million in 2000. Owing to
internal financial restructuring within the Group, the par-
ent company Norske Skogindustrier ASA reported a loss of
NOK 403 million in 2001. All internal transactions within
the Group have been eliminated, and consequently have no
effect on the profit figure in the Group accounts.

It is proposed to cover the deficit as follows:
Transferred from other equity capital NOK -1,195 million
Dividend to shareholders NOK 792 million
Total disposals NOK    -403 million

Free equity in Norske Skogindustrier ASA after these 
disposals, is NOK 4,933 million.

Lysaker, 5 March 2002

Lage Westerbø Jon R. Gundersen
Chairman Deputy chairman

Halvor Bjørken Jan Vidar Grini Lars Wilhelm Grøholt Stig Johansen Kåre Leira

Øivind Lund Egil Myklebust

Jan Reinås



ACCOUNTS 2001 CONSOLIDATED
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-
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-
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-
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2,312
-

2,312
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Profit and loss account
NOK Million Notes 2001 2000 1999

Operating revenue
Changes in inventory
Cost of materials
Wages, salaries and personnel expenses
Other operating expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Operating expenses
Operating earnings
Earnings from affiliated companies
Financial items
Other items
Earnings before taxation 
Taxation
Net earnings 

The minority share of the earnings
The majority’s share of the earnings

Earnings per share / Earnings per share fully diluted

Statement of Cash Flow
NOK Million Notes 2001 2000 1999 

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Cash used in operations
Cash from net financial items
Taxes paid
Net cash flow from operating activities 10
Cash flow from investment activities
Investments in operational fixed assets 12
Adjustment for investments with deferred cash-effect
Sales of operational fixed assets
Other investments
Dividend received 1)

Net cash from sold shares and activities 2)

Net cash used for acquisitions of companies 3)

Net cash flow from investment activities
Cash flow from financial activities
Net change in long-term liabilities
Net change in short-term liabilities
Dividend paid
New equity
Net cash flow from financial activities
Translation difference
Total change in liquid assets 4)

Liquid assets as at 1 January. 4)

Net change in liquid assets from deconsolidation of Norske Skog Canada Ltd.
Adjusted liquid assets as at 1 January
Liquid assets as at 31 December 11

1) Dividend received is from Norske Skog Canada Ltd.
2) Consist of sale of Mackenzie Pulp and Tasman Pulp, sale of shipping activities in Australasia and Norway, sale of the headquarter building and sale of the

forests in Brazil.
3) Consists of increased ownership in Pan Asia Paper Co., increased ownership in Pisa Papel de Imprensa SA. and acquisition of Walsum and Parenco.
4) Total change in liquid assets has been adjusted for the deconsolidation of Norske Skog Canada Ltd. as at 28 August 2001. Liquid assets in the company at

the time of deconsolidation was NOK 6,972 million. The amount has been adjusted against the opening cash-balance (liquid assets as at 1 January).
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12
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17
18
11

21
20

8
4

22

24
23

26

4,549
36,889

672
45

3,262
3,979

45,417
2,172
1,019
3,506
1,769
2,389

10,855
56,272

1,331
-10

7,088
8,409

10,912
205

19,526
3,174

329
3,503

674
26,681
27,355

5,591
297

5,888
56,272

1,302

3,430
38,049

968
201

1,069
2,238

43,717
2,967

917
4,998
7,417
1,211

17,510
61,227

931
-15

4,161
5,077
9,413
7,861

22,351
2,012

718
2,730

367
28,809
29,176

6,615
355

6,970
61,227

1,191

354
18,072

322
80

0
402

18,828
1,906

326
3,051

257
546

6,086
24,914

827
-16

2,802
3,613
7,946

168
11,727

567
220
787
332

7,902
8,234
3,646

520
4,166

24,914

1,446

Balance Sheet
NOK Million Notes 2001 2000 1999

Assets
Intangible fixed assets
Operational fixed assets
Other long-term receivables
Shares in other companies and partnerships
Shares in affiliated companies
Securities and long-term financial assets
Fixed assets
Inventory
Other short-term receivables
Accounts receivable
Short-term investments
Liquid assets
Current assets
Total assets

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Own shareholdings
Share premium reserve
Paid in equity
Other consolidated equity
Minority interests
Shareholders’ equity
Deferred taxes
Pension obligations
Provisions
Interest free long-term liabilities
Interest bearing long-term liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Interest free current liabilities
Interest bearing current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Mortgages

Lysaker, 5 March 2002

Lage Westerbø Jon R. Gundersen
Chairman Deputy chairman

Halvor Bjørken Jan Vidar Grini Lars Wilhelm Grøholt Stig Johansen Kåre Leira

Øivind Lund Egil Myklebust

Jan Reinås



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
1. Accounting principles

Consolidated accounts
The consolidated accounts are presented in accordance with 
Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, and is 
presented in NOK million if not stated otherwise.

The consolidated accounts include the activities of the parent
company, Norske Skogindustrier ASA, and its subsidiaries as one
financial unit based on the accounting principles as described 
below. All intercompany transactions are eliminated from the
consolidated accounts. Gains and losses arising from transactions
between group companies are also eliminated.

Companies in which Norske Skog has a controlling interest
are fully included in the consolidated accounts. In the case of
subsidiaries that are not wholly owned, minority interests are 
deducted and are shown as separate items in the profit & loss 
account and the balance sheet. Shares in subsidiaries are eliminated
according to the purchase method. That is, the cost of the acquisi-
tion of the shares is allocated to the subsidiary's assets and liabili-
ties, which are entered in the consolidated accounts at the fair value
at the time of purchase. Cost of acquisition in excess of the fair
value of identifiable assets and liabilities is entered as goodwill in
the balance sheet.

The equity method is used for affiliated companies. Affiliates
are those companies in which Norske Skog has a substantial, but
not a controlling interest. The equity method requires that the
Group’s share of the affiliate’s profit or loss is shown on a separate
line in the profit and loss account, whilst its share of the affiliate’s
equity, adjusted for fair value adjustments, is classified as a fixed
asset in the balance sheet.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using proportionate
consolidation. The share of income, expenses, assets and liabilities
is recognised line by line in the consolidated accounts. Joint ven-
tures are business activities that Norske Skog runs in conjunction
with one or more participants. The business is regulated by an
agreement between the participants. Joint venture implies that no
participant has a majority interest in the business.

Most of the foreign subsidiaries in the Group’s accounts are
classified as independent entities. On consolidation of the inde-
pendent foreign subsidiaries, balance sheet items are translated at
the year-end exchange rate. Profit and loss items are translated at
the average exchange rate for the year. The translation difference is 
entered as an adjustment to consolidated equity.

Other foreign subsidiaries that are not classified as independent
are classified as an integral part of the parent company’s operations.
On consolidation of foreign subsidiaries that are regarded as an
integral part of the parent company's activities, monetary items
are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items
are translated at the exchange rate on the transaction date. Profit
and loss account items are translated at the average exchange rate
for the year, except for cost of materials and depreciation, which
are translated at the rate on the transaction date. The translation
difference is presented as a financial item in the profit and loss account.

Operating revenue
All sales are recognised as revenues at the time of delivery to the
customer. Operating revenue is the gross operating revenue less
commissions, rebates and other direct price reductions.

Classifications in balance sheet
Assets and liabilities linked with the flow of goods are classified as
current assets and liabilities. Other assets are classified as fixed 

assets when the company intends them for continued use or owner-
ship. Debts that fall due for payment later than one year after the
balance sheet date are classified as long term debts. Other assets
and liabilities are classified as current assets and current liabilities.

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
Unhedged assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated
into NOK at the year-end exchange rate. Balance sheet items in
foreign currencies that are hedged by financial instruments are 
entered at the hedging exchange rate. Balance sheet items in for-
eign currencies that hedge against each other are entered at the
year-end exchange rate. Gain and loss due to changes in currency
rates on debt in foreign currency that is regarded as a hedge of the
value of an independent subsidiary in foreign currency is booked
against equity, with the translation difference raising from the
translation of the subsidiary. Gain and loss due to changes in 
currency rates on balance sheet items related to operations is 
included in the operating profit. Gain and loss due to changes in
currency rates on other balance sheet items are classified as 
financial item.

Financial instruments
Treatment of financial instruments for accounting purposes 
follows the intentions underlying the associated contract. At the
time a contract is entered, it is defined either as a hedging or as a
trading contract.

The various types of financial instruments used for hedging
interest risks are assessed as separate portfolios. The portfolios are
then assessed at cost price or market value, whichever is the lower.
In cases where the contracts entered are classified as hedging trans-
actions, revenues and costs are accrued and classified in the same
way as the underlying balance sheet items.

Financial instruments in foreign currencies that are not classi-
fied as hedging for accounting purposes are assessed at market value.

Shares, bonds, certificates, bills etc.
Shares, bonds and certificates are classified as current assets and
regarded as part of a trading portfolio and are valued at market
value.

Other shares, bonds and certificates classified as current assets
are managed as a uniform whole and are assessed jointly as a port-
folio. Unrealised losses are set off against unrealised gains. Net 
unrealised losses on the portfolio are entered as expenses under 
financial items. Net unrealised gains are entered as financial revenue
within the limits of unrealised losses expensed earlier.

Shares classified as fixed assets that are not attributed to 
affiliated companies are strategic investments where the Group
cannot be said to have any significant influence. These share hold-
ings are valued at cost price, fair value when a drop in value is not
of a permanent nature.

Inventory
Raw materials and other purchased goods are valued at purchase
cost according to the FIFO principle. Finished goods are valued at
production cost, which includes raw materials, energy, direct
wages and a share of indirect costs, including ordinary mainte-
nance and depreciation. The net selling value at a future selling
date will be used if that is lower.

Fixed assets and depreciation
Fixed assets are valued at historical cost. Acquisition cost for tangible
assets having long term future economic benefits are capitalised and
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classified as assets in the balance sheet. Spare parts are capitalised
with the asset to which they pertain. For major investments with a
long production time, interest is capitalised as part of the acquisition
cost. Expenditure to increase capacity or improve quality that repre-
sents a future increase in earnings is capitalised in the balance sheet.
Maintenance costs are expensed as an operating cost.

Ordinary depreciation is calculated from the time the use of the
tangible asset commences and is calculated on the basis of the eco-
nomic life of the asset.

Research & Development
Research and development costs are expensed as they are incurred
and are classified as operating costs in the consolidated accounts.

Leasing
Leasing contracts are assessed as financial or operational leasing
after an assessment is made of each contract. Leasing contracts
that are associated with tangible assets and classified as a financial
lease are capitalised in the balance sheet and depreciation is
charged as for ordinary tangible assets. The amortisation portion
of the leasing obligation is entered as long-term debt. The amount
of debt is reduced by the rental paid after deduction of the calcu-
lated interest cost. Leasing agreements that are classified as an 
operational lease are not capitalised in the balance sheet. The 
leasing charge is expensed.

Pension costs and obligations
Pension obligations are calculated as the discounted value of the
future pension benefits deemed to have accrued at year-end, based
on the employees earning pension rights steadily throughout the
working period. Funds belonging to the pension scheme are 
assessed at their fair value and are entered net against pension 
obligations in the balance sheet. Each individual pension plan is
assessed separately, but the value of over-financing in the one plan
and under-financing in another is entered net in the balance sheet,
provided that pension scheme funds are transferable between the
plans. Net pension scheme funds are entered as long-term receiv-
ables and net pension obligations as long-term debt. Pension obli-
gations and pension scheme funds are calculated on the basis of
financial and actuarial assumptions as explained in Note 4.

Net pension costs for the period are included in “wages and
other personnel costs” and consist of the present value of pension
earned in the year, interest cost on the pension obligation, antici-
pated returns on pension scheme funds, the effect entered in the
profit and loss account for changes in estimates and pension plans,
the change entered in the profit and loss account for difference 
between actual and anticipated returns, and accrued payroll tax.

The effect of changes in estimates and pension plans and the
difference between actual and anticipated returns are accrued over
the remaining pension-earning period or expected life when the
cumulated effect exceeds 10% of whichever is highest of the 
pension scheme funds or the pension obligations.

Bond loans
The value of bond loans in the balance sheet is reduced by hold-
ings of the company's own bonds. Value above/below par is ex-
pensed when purchasing own bonds.

Taxes
The tax cost consists of payable tax and the change in deferred tax.
Payable tax is calculated on the basis of the taxable earnings and
the change in deferred tax is calculated on the basis of the year's

change in temporary differences.
Deferred tax in the balance sheet is calculated based on tem-

porary timing differences between corporate and tax accounting
and any tax losses that can be carried forward at the end of the 
financial year. Tax-reducing temporary differences and losses to be
carried forward are set off against tax-increasing temporary differ-
ences reversed during the same period. Full provision is made 
according to the debt method without discounting to present value.
Deferred tax in acquired companies is valued at net present value
when this provides a truer reflection of the underlying transaction.

Changes in the Group structure

2001
The joint venture Pan Asia Paper Company was originally owned
by Norske Skog, Abitibi-Consolidated in Canada, and Hansol in
Korea, each holding 1/3 of the share in the company. During
Spring 2001 Hansol offered the other two participants to take over
Hansol’s 33% share of Pan Asia Paper Company. The transaction
occurred on 16 August, resulting in a share ownership of 50% for
both Norske Skog and Abitibi. The increased ownership in Pan
Asia has contributed operating earnings of NOK 425 million. The
transaction increased the total assets in the balance sheet by NOK
2,642 million.

30 November 2001 Norske Skog acquired the two publication
paper mills Walsum in Germany and Parenco in the Netherlands.
The German Haindl Group formerly owned the two mills. The
acquisition increases Norske Skog’s capacity for production of
publication paper by 880,000 tonnes. The customer base of the
two mills was also taken over by Norske Skog. The mills were con-
solidated from 1 December. The transaction increased the total 
assets on the balance sheet by NOK 10,100 million.

The two pulp mills Tasman Pulp in New Zealand, and
Mackenzie Pulp in Canada were sold 30 April and 15 June respec-
tively. Therefore Norske Skog is no longer directly involved in the
production and sale of market pulp. Tasman Pulp had an annual
turnover of NOK 1,500 million, and Mackenzie Pulp had an annual
turnover of NOK 900 million. The two mills’ contribution to total
assets on the balance sheet was NOK 1,300 million and NOK 850
million respectively.

In August Norske Skog Canada Ltd. acquired Pacifica Papers.
The acquisition was partly financed by a share issue in Norske Skog
Canada Ltd. The share issue resulted in a reduction of Norske
Skog’s ownership in Norske Skog Canada Ltd. from 50.8 % to
36%. Therefore from September Norske Skog Canada Ltd. is 
presented as an affiliated company in the consolidated accounts of
Norske Skog. Norske Skog Canada Ltd. has an annual turnover of
NOK 9,000 million, and total assets of NOK 18,000 million.

In relation to deconsolidation of Norske Skog Canada Ltd. the
minority interests in the consolidated accounts were reduced by
NOK 7, 057 million.

The specialities paper mill Union Geithus was transferred to
Nordic Paper AS, in which Norske Skog has an ownership of 45%.
The forests in Sweden and Brazil are sold. The forests in Southern
Norway are also sold, but the concession negotiations are not yet
finished. The sales represent close to 100,000 hectares of forests.

2000
Late March 2000 Norske Skog and Fletcher Challenge, New Zealand,
finalised the agreement on the acquisition/sale of Fletcher Challenge
Paper (FCP). Control of the operations was achieved with the formal
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procedures undertaken in the corporate bodies and public authorities,
and the date of consolidation is 28 July 2000. FCP, with yearly revenues
of NOK 15 billion and total assets of NOK 27 billion have nine 
wholly- and partly-owned mills in New Zealand, Australia, Malaysia,
Brazil, Chile and Canada. The acquisition is accounted for according
to the purchase method. Acquisition cost of NOK 20.7 billion, con-
sisting of NOK 6.6 billion for the shares and NOK 14.1 billion in net
debt taken over, is allocated to identifiable assets and liabilities, which
are included at their fair value. Goodwill amounts to NOK 4,280 mil-
lion, and is depreciated over 20 years. Deferred taxes are for the acqui-
sition of FCP calculated at net present value.

Norske Skog Klabin, where Norske Skog holds 50% is consoli-
dated proportionate as of 1 April 2000.

The sawn timber business of Forestia and Norske Skog Flooring
AS Lyngdal is taken out of the consolidation as of 1 January and 
5 May respectively. The operations had annual operating revenues
of NOK 2,100 million and total assets of NOK 1,800 million and are
included in business area Other Activities until the date of sale.
Norske Skog Tofte and Norske Skog Folla AS is taken out of the
consolidated accounts as of 30 June 2000. The operations had annual
operating revenues of NOK 1,600 million and total assets of NOK
1,200 million and are included in business area Other Activities until

the date of sale. Norske Skog Hurum is sold as of 1 February and is
included in business area “Other Activities” until the date of sale.

1999
The joint venture Pan Asia Paper Company Ltd (Pan Asia), owned
1/3 by Norske Skog, is proportionally consolidated in business
area Asia according to proportionate consolidation from 1 January,
with operating revenues of NOK 1,900 million and total assets of
NOK 4,000 million. Norske Skog paper mills in Thailand and 
Korea are included in Pan Asia Paper Company from 2 February.
They are until then fully consolidated in business area Asia.

Norske Skogindustrier ASA’s merger with A/S Union is carried
through in the accounts from 5 May 1999. Norske Skog’s share of
ownership before the merger was 57.6%, and Union was included
in the accounts as an affiliated company. The merger was handled
as a stepwise acquisition. The units from Union are included in
business area Europe with operating revenues of NOK 840 million
and total assets of NOK 1,060 million. Langmoen Parkett was sold
on 29 June and Fibo Trespo AS was sold on 25 October. These
companies were prior to the date of sale included in Business Area
Flooring with operating revenues of NOK 275 million and total
assets of 180 million.
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Pro forma profit and loss account
NOK million 2001 2000

Operating revenue
Operating expenses
Operating earnings before depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation
Operating earnings
Earnings from affiliated companies
Financial items
Other items
Earnings before taxation
Taxation
Net earnings

The minority interest
Net earnings

Earnings per share / Earning per share fully diluted

28,634
-20,048

8,586
-3,475
5,111

136
-2,010

158
3,395

-1,073
2,322

35
2,287

18.96

30,808
-23,356

7,452
-3,395
4,057

262
-3,051

-63
1,205
-264
941

23
918

8.99

Basis for the composition of pro forma figures
Due to the significant structural changes in the Group the last two years a pro forma financial statement has been prepared.
The figures give effect to the following transactions as though they occurred on 1 January 2000.

• Acquisition of Fletcher Challenge Paper
• Sale of the two Norwegian pulp mills Tofte and Folla
• Sale of the pulp mill Tasman Pulp, New Zealand
• Restructuring of Norske Skog Canada Ltd., including the acquisition of Pacifica Papers, sale of Mackenzie Pulp and 

distribution of extraordinary dividend. Norske Skog Canada Ltd. is included as affiliated company in the pro forma figures
with a share of ownership of 36%

• Acquisition of minority interest in PISA, Brazil
• Increased share of ownership in Pan Asia Paper till 50%
• Acquisition of Walsum, Germany and Parenco, Netherlands

When calculating the interest costs related to acquisitions, the average interest rate for the Group at the relevant periods is used.
Interest income related to divestments and dividends received are calculated in the same manner. Depreciation on excess values is
based on a depreciation period of 15 years for fixed assets and 20 years for goodwill. Tax cost is calculated based on a tax rate of
28% or the tax rate in the relevant countries.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
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2. Business regions – All figures are shown as NOK million unless otherwise stated
The presentation of the business areas has changed. Administrative costs, previously reported as Other/Eliminations in the regions is now
allocated against the products in the regions. The forest business in South America and the divested shipping activities in Australasia are
shown as separate product lines. The content of Other Activities has also been changed. Other industry in Norway includes particleboards,
Scandinavian forests, Hydro Power and some other minor activities. Other revenues include revenue from non-manufactured paper
from Pan Asia and revenues from wood and energy sold to external parties from European activities. Historical figures have been restated.

 
    North South Austral- Other Staff/ Total

Europe America America asia Asia activities Elimin. Group

Norway
Europe
North America
South America
Australasia
Asia
Africa
Total operating revenue

Investments
Employees

1,557 0 0 0 0 526 -485 1,598
11,013 732 0 0 0 335 0 12,080

1,194 3,026 3 7 247 81 0 4,558
53 470 1,936 0 0 2 0 2,461

0 63 0 4,282 63 5 0 4,413
372 1,135 0 184 2,124 1,370 0 5,185

30 29 0 0 0 0 0 59
14,219 5,455 1,939 4,473 2,434 2,319 -485 30,354

477 285 111 305 197 11 36 1,422
5,943 1,455 579 1,471 1,175 559 113 11,295

Operating Current Non 
 earnings assets interest
  Operating Operating before Depre- Operating Fixed interest bearing

revenue expenses depreciation ciation earnings assets free debt

Europe
Newsprint
Magazine paper
Eliminations
Total Europe
North America
Newsprint
Pulp
Eliminations
Total North America
South America
Newsprint
Forest
Eliminations
Total South America
Australasia
Newsprint
Pulp
Shipping
Eliminations
Total Australasia
Asia
Newsprint
Other activities
Other industry in Norway
Other revenues
Total Other activities
Staff/Eliminations
Total Group

8,850 5,828 3,022 751 2,271 10,258 2,642 1,254
5,369 3,936 1,433 457 976 9,011 2,221 988

- - - - - - - -
14,219 9,764 4,455 1,208 3,247 19,269 4,863 2,242

3,323 2,674 649 282 367 - - -
2,434 2,301 133 176 -43 - - -
-302 -307 5 0 5 - - -

5,455 4,668 787 458 329 - - -

1,784 1,040 744 312 432 3,380 698 670
171 90 81 40 41 - - -
-16 -16 0 0 0 - - -

1,939 1,114 825 352 473 3,380 698 670

4,110 2,860 1,250 687 563 8,054 1,370 333
458 254 204 42 162 - - -

- - - - - - - -
-95 -95 0 0 0 - - -

4,473 3,019 1,454 729 725 8,054 1,370 333

2,434 1,565 869 253 616 5,517 947 404

930 764 166 68 98 788 672 191
1,389 1,389 0 0 0 - - -
2,319 2,153 166 68 98 788 672 191
-485 -348 -137 255 -392 -119 -1,853 1,751

30,354 21,935 8,419 3,323 5,096 36,889 6,697 5,591
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
    North South Austral- Other Staff/ Total

Europe America America asia Asia activities Elimin. Group

Norway
Europe
North America
South America
Australasia
Asia
Africa
Total operating revenue

Investment
Employees

1,025 0 0 0 0 2,494 -890 2,629
8,650 686 0 8 0 1,371 -281 10,434
2,704 2,245 5 94 0 0 103 5,151

62 225 1,030 1 0 0 2 1,320
115 61 0 2,290 0 2 7 2,475
598 819 0 408 2,572 0 12 4,409

75 121 0 0 0 14 7 217
13,229 4,157 1,035 2,801 2,572 3,881 -1,040 26,635

608 337 57 130 97 102 20 1,351
4,056 2,444 660 1,750 775 619 100 10,404

Operating Current Non 
 earnings assets interest
  Operating Operating before Depre- Operating Fixed interest bearing

revenue expenses depreciation ciation earnings assets free debt

Europe
Newsprint
Magazine paper
Eliminations
Total Europe
North America
Newsprint
Pulp
Eliminations
Total North America
South America
Newsprint
Forest
Eliminations
Total South America
Australasia
Newsprint
Pulp
Shipping
Eliminations
Total Australasia
Asia
Newsprint
Other activities
Other industry in Norway
Other revenues
Total Other activities
Staff/Eliminations
Total Group

7,905 5,936 1,969 726 1,243 7,282 2,172 1,096
5,324 3,872 1,452 429 1,023 4,295 1,289 754

- - - - - - - -
13,229 9,808 3,421 1,155 2,266 11,577 3,461 1,850

2,371 1,955 416 193 223 4,562 1,376 412
1,981 1,562 419 115 304 3,286 1,331 744
-195 -197 2 0 2 - - -

4,157 3,320 837 308 529 7,848 2,707 1,156

986 621 365 145 220 3,359 608 650
57 26 31 20 11 636 253 56
-8 -8 0 0 0 - - -

1,035 639 396 165 231 3,995 861 706

1,817 1,266 551 260 291 8,696 531 579
676 328 348 58 290 1,316 285 160
404 406 -2 3 -5 170 107 776
-96 -96 0 31 -31 - - -

2,801 1,904 897 352 545 10,182 923 1,515

2,572 1,848 724 198 526 3,195 689 260

2,200 1,716 484 112 372 832 187 132
1,681 1,681 0 0 0 - - -
3,881 3,397 484 112 372 832 187 132

-1,040 -880 -160 98 -258 420 54 996
26,635 20,036 6,599 2,388 4,211 38,049 8,882 6,615

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS



 ,   |       77


    North South Austral- Other Staff/ Total

Europe America America asia Asia activities Elimin. Group

Norway
Europe
North America
South America
Australasia
Asia
Africa
Total operating revenue

Investment
Employees

1,001 - - - 0 1,993 -288 2,706
8,814 - - - 0 2,154 90 11,058
1,879 - - - 0 131 -299 1,711

0 - - - 0 0 0 0
0 - - - 0 0 0 0

526 - - - 1,988 65 0 2,579
0 - - - 0 0 0 0

12,220 - - - 1,988 4,343 -497 18,054

815 - - - 53 208 78 1,154
4,165 - - - 889 1,908 249 7,211

Operating Current Non 
 earnings assets interest
  Operating Operating before Depre- Operating Fixed interest bearing

revenue expenses depreciation ciation earnings assets free debt

Europe
Newsprint
Magazine paper
Eliminations
Total Europe
North America
Newsprint
Pulp
Eliminations
Total North America
South America
Newsprint
Forest
Eliminations
Total South America
Australasia
Newsprint
Pulp
Shipping
Eliminations
Total Australasia
Asia
Newsprint
Other activities
Other industry in Norway
Other revenues
Total Other activities
Staff/Eliminations
Total Group

7,618 5,971 1,647 739 908 8,333 2,219 1,269
4,602 3,343 1,259 395 864 4,042 1,318 543

- - - - - - - -
12,220 9,314 2,906 1,134 1,772 12,375 3,537 1,812

- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -

1,988 1,498 490 154 336 3,520 631 236

1,578 1,368 210 117 93 997 353 105
2,765 2,574 191 171 20 1,063 494 247
4,343 3,942 401 288 113 2,060 847 352
-497 -518 21 113 -92 117 268 1,246

18,054 14,236 3,818 1,689 2,129 18,072 5,283 3,646
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Remuneration to the Excecutive Staff
Termination

Shares Options Salary Bonus 1) Loans Loan terms

Jan Reinås 15,430 9,510 See above 50% NOK 2,747,175 Exempt from interest. Repayment is due 3 years after 
resignation as CEO

Jan Oksum 5,814 9,510 1.5 years 50% NOK 4,000,000 NOK 2,000,000 as of 30 January 1997 - exempt from interest 
and repayment for 6 years, and 6% interest for 20 years 
thereafter. NOK 2,000,000 as of 26 July 2001, 6% interest 
20 years, 3 years exempt from repayment 

Jan Kildal 4,973 9,510 1.5 years 50% NOK 2,283,833 NOK 1,855,833 exempt from interest, annual repayment 
NOK 200,000, NOK 303,000 exempt from interest,
annual repayment NOK 50,000, NOK 125,000, 6% interest,
repayment 30 June 2002

Ida Goodreau 212 0 1.5 years 50% 0
Claes-Inge Isacson 5,580 9,510 1.5 years 50% NOK 1,500,000 Exempt from repayment for 8 years or at retirement, 6% 

interest 
David Kirk 709 0 1.5 years 100% 0
Vidar Lerstad 2,395 7,933 1.5 years 50% NOK 395,833 Exempt from interest, annual repayment 50,000.

Termination salary will only apply to Executive Staff and the CEO when the company has instigated the termination of employment.

For the President and CEO the basis for calculating the bonus is tied to the Group's return on capital employed.
For the Executive staff the basis for calculating the bonus is tied to the groups profit, return on capital employed, and the profit
within the respective area.

The Group had an average of 10,849 employees for 2001.

1) The bonus is stated as a percentage of annual salary, and represents the maximum bonus payable.

3,419
490

3,909

2,661
629

3,290

2,269
542

2,811

3. Wages, salaries and personnel expenses
2001 2000 1999 

Wages/salaries incl. holiday allowance
National insurance and pensions (see note 4)
Total

The CEO’s basic wage for 2001 was NOK 2,950,000 compared to NOK 2,800,000 in 2000. The CEO received a bonus of NOK 574,000 
related to the Group’s return on capital employed for 2000. There was no similar payment in 2000 for the Group’s return on capital
employed for 1999. In addition the CEO received payments in kind NOK 550,483. A similar payment for 2000 was NOK 840,357. The
CEO’s retirement age is 62 years. However, the CEO may choose to retire at the age of 60, and is obligated to retire at the age of 60 should
the Board of Directors request for his retirement.

The early retirement pension plan amounts to 90% of the CEO’s wage the first year of retirement, and is reduced to 80% thereafter. The
ordinary pension plan amounts to 70% of CEO’s wage including disablement pension. Annual cost for the CEO’s pension plan for 2001
is NOK 1,804,696 for the funded part, and NOK 881,890 for the unfunded part. The CEO also has a severance payment agreement which
runs for three years independent of the pension plans. The pension payments will commence at the end of the severance payment period.
Payments from other employers in the severance payment period will be deducted from the severance payments from Norske Skog.

Remuneration to the Corporate Assembly and Board members amounted to NOK 616,500 and NOK 1,549,000 respectively.
From December 1999 a share option scheme has been introduced for the Executive Staff and a small number of other employees in leading
positions. The option scheme allows the participants to purchase a number of shares at a stipulated rate of NOK 152 in the period from 
1 October 2002 until 31 December 2002. Under this agreement the participants may purchase a total of 164,944 shares. No new agreements
of further options have been made during 2001.

Audit fee

Subsidiary audited Other
NOK 1,000 Total Parent company by Group auditors auditors

Audit fee 7,286 1,960 3,409 1,917
Audit related assistance 10,085 9,126 960 -
Other fees 6,786 5,071 760 954
Total 24,157 16,157 5,129 2,871

Audit related assistance includes services that only aditors can provide. This includes limited audit of interim financial statements,
assurance services related to prospectus for share issues and bond loands.



 ,   |       79

4. Pension costs and pension obligations
Norske Skogindustrier ASA, with subsidiaries, has collective benefit
retirement plans for its employees with a life insurance company.
The retirement plans for the Group are uniform. The main condi-
tions are 30 years’ service, a pension amounting to 65% of pension-
able earnings on 1 January of the year the employee reaches 67
years, plus disablement, spouse and childrens’ pension. All plan
benefits are co-ordinated with expected social security benefits.
The pension level is reduced to 60% from the pensioner’s 75th
birthday. As of 1 January 2001 the pension arrangements covered
5,727 members, of whom 3,127 were working and 2,600 were
pensioners. In case of disablement the obligations extend to the
disabled both as an active employee and as a pensioner. In these
cases the person will be included in both aforementioned categories.

Norske Skog Parenco, Netherlands, has collective benefit retire-
ment plans for its employees administrated in an independent pen-
sion fund. The Projected Benefit obligations related to this pension
scheme amounts to NOK 1, 067 million as at 31 December 2001.

In addition to the benefit obligations covered through insurance
arrangements, the Group has uninsured benefit obligations. These
include obligations concerning former owners of subsidiaries, and
pensions of top management and Board members. The uninsured
benefit obligations also include estimated future obligations
connected with the AFP- arrangement (involving a possible future
reduction of the pension age), totalling 118 persons. Obligations
relating to top management pensions are partly insured through a
supplementary retirement plan with life insurance company.

In evaluating plan assets their estimated value at year end is
used. This estimated value is corrected every year in accordance
with the figures provided by the life insurance company regarding
the market value of the assets.

In measuring incurred obligations the projected obligation at
year end is used. This projected obligation is corrected every year
in accordance with the figures provided by the actuary conserning
incurred pension obligations.

5.5%
6.5%
3.0%
2.0%
1.6%

5.5%
6.5%
3.0%
2.0%
1.6%

5.5%
6.5%
3.0%
2.0%
1.6%

Calculation of future benefit obligations is based on the
following assumptions:

2001 2000 1999 

Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Salary adjustment
Social security increase/inflation
Pension increase

73
63

-75
0
3

10
74

94
64

-75
1
3

12
99

84
68

-75
12

3
7

99

Net periodic pension cost in 
consolidated accounts

2001 2000 1999 

Benefits earned during the year
Interest cost on prior period benefit
Expected return on plan assets
Periodic employer tax
Expensed portion of changes AFP-plan
Expensed portion of differences in estimates
Net periodic pension cost

The plan assets in Norway are managed by the life insurance com-
panies and invested in accordance with the general guidelines
governing investments by life insurance companies in Norway.

The plan assets in Norske Skog Parenco are managed and in-
vested in accordance with general guidelines governing invest-
ments by pension fund companies in the Netherlands. The plan
assets related to this pension scheme amounts to NOK 1,027 mil-
lion as at 31 December 2001.

For 2001 return on plan assets of NOK 75 million is estimated.
The difference between the booked return and the estimated
return in 2000 is treated as an estimate difference. The effect of
changes in estimates and deviations between projected and actual
returns is booked during the average remaining earning period,
only when the accumulated effect exceeds 10% of plan assets or
pension obligations, whichever is the larger. This entails booking
according to the straight line method over 15 years.

Status of the pension plans reconciled to the consolidated balance sheet

Plan assets PBO
exceed PBO exceed plan assets

31.12.01 31.12.00 31.12.99 31.12.01 31.12.00 31.12.99

Projected Benefit Obligations (PBO)
Plan assets at fair value
Plan assets in excess of / less than (-) PBO
Unamortized changes in AFP-plans
Differences in estimates not taken into income/expense
Net plan assets / pension obligations
Accrual employer tax
Plan assets/pension obligations (-) in the balance sheet

-2,052 -1,089 -943 -466 -811 -471
2,318 1,145 1,046 92 41 168

266 56 103 -374 -770 -303
0 0 0 25 22 41

-137 131 93 30 37 56
129 187 196 -319 -711 -206

0 -4 0 -10 -7 -14
129 183 196 -329 -718 -220
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All items are listed with pre tax values.

1) Tax losses carried forward amount to NOK 1,707 million and are mainly 
ralated to France and New Zealand.
Losses of NOK 1,636 million has no time limit.
Remaining NOK 71 million expires in year 2005.
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115
43
43

0
0

201

0
0
0

208
-50
158

7. Special items
Items that are non recurring from one period to another are 
regarded as special items. Special items primarily includes
sale of property and divestments of entities.

Operating Other
2001 revenue items

Sale of Head Office
Sale of Nornews Express ANS
Sale of Tasmann Shipping
Sale of forests in Sweden
Other adjustments 1)

Total

0
0
0
0
0

228
5

-36
-27
170

Operating Other
2000 revenue items

Norske Skog Tofte
Norske Skog Folla CTMP
Forestia AS
Norske Skog Flooring AS
Total

0
0
0

-150
-30

-180

Operating Other
1999 revenue items

Accrual for loss on sale of Forestia AS
Accrual for loss on sale of Norske Skog Flooring AS
Total

2,499
419

1,776
48

905
36

434
6,117

2,213
343

962
41

974
17

675
5,225

1,296
197

1,099
80

665
16

761
4,114

5. Other operating expenses
2001 2000 1999 

Distribution costs
Packaging
Maintenance materials, contract 
services and spare parts
Marketing costs
Administration costs
Losses on bad debt 1)

Other
Total

1) Losses on bad debts are included as follows

5
-1
32
36

39
-2

-20
17

10
-1
7

16

2001 2000 1999 

Amounts written off during the year
Received amounts previously written off
Changes in bad debt reserves
Total

6
465

23
0

106

600

1,696

0

30
250

1,976

-1,376

6
330

0
0

27

363

1,245

3

325
184

1,757

-1,394

4
98

0
336

77

515

642

6

0
16

664

-149

6. Financial items
2001 2000 1999 

Dividends received
Interest revenue
Profit on securities
Realised net profit on foreign currency debt
Net profit realised on foreign exchange 
contracts related to cash flows
Total financial revenue

Interest expenses
Loss on shares and related foreign 
exchange contracts
Realised net loss on foreign exchange 
contracts related to cash flow
Other financial expenses
Total financial expenses

Financial items

-32
-633
-665

-283
-286
-569

-1,234

-665
0

-665

-235
-325
-560

-23
-254
-277
-837

-560
120

-440

-330
-102
-432

104
-171

-67
-499

-432
-

-432

8. Taxes
The Group’s Tax Cost has the following distribution

  2001 2000 1999 

Norway
Foreign countries
Total
Change in deferred tax
Norway
Foreign countries
Total
Total tax expenses

Tax payable related to result
Tax payable posted to other equity
Tax payable

-17
11,636
-1,707

9,912
3,174

-215
14,695
-1,821

12,659
2,012

8
3,917

-1,581

2,344
567

Deferred tax
Specification of temporary differences, losses to be brought 
forward and deferred tax is shown below.

  2001 2000 1999 

Total short-term items
Total long-term items
Taxable losses to be brought forward 1)

Total temporary differences and 
losses to be brought forward
Deferred tax

1) The amount related to adjustment of gain and loss on previous sale of
Norske Skog Folla CTMP, Norske Skog Flooring Holding AS, Norske Skog
Flooring AS and Forestia AS.
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28.0
3.9

-0.1
1.7

2.7
-3.2
-0.5
-0.9
31.7

28.0
2.3

-0.3
1.0

0.0
0.0

-2.4
-0.9
27.7

28.0
1.5

-0.3
0.0

0.0
0.0

-0.7
-1.2
27.3

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

% 2001 2000 1999 

Nominal tax rate Norway
Different tax rates abroad
Result affiliated companies
Depreciation goodwill
Profit and loss effect of net present
value on deferred tax
Change in income tax rates
Permanent differences
Other items
Effective tax rate

2,494
120,604

20.68

1,958
102,159

19.17

1,300
92,829

14.01

9. Earnings per share
2001 2000 1999 

Result NOK million
Average numbers of shares in ’000
Earnings per share / Earnings per
share fully diluted NOK

During Spring 2001 it was decided to merge the A-shares and 
B-shares to one class of shares. In connection to the merge of the
share classes there was a split of the shares, and the number of
shares doubled. In addition the initial A-share holders were given
the opportunity to take part in a 17 million share issue for 
NOK 10 per share. 23 million new shares were issued in the inter-
national share issue in June.

The historical figures are adjusted for the change in the 
number of shares.

3,894
3,323

-16
-537

1,012
389

-596

-417
7,052

3,021
2,388

-34
-416
-336

43
-442

698
4,922

1,825
1,689

-25
-340
-258

27
-161

-595
2,162

10. Net cash flow from operations
The nexus between earnings and cash flow 
from operations is shown below.

2001 2000 1999 

Earnings before taxes
Ordinary depreciation
Share of profit in affiliated companies
Taxes paid
Changes in receivables 1)

Changes in inventory 1)

Changes in current liabilities 1)

Adjustments for changes in working 
capital without cash-effect
Net cash flow from operating activities
1) Changes in balance sheet items are not directly comparable to changes in
the consolidated balance sheet due to acquisitions and sales of companies
during the year.

12. Operational fixed assets
Goodwill Buildings, Fixtures Plant
and other plant and fittings, under
exclusive and Machinery, tools, office con-

rights property equipment Ship machinery struction Total

Acquisition cost
Acquisition cost 31.12.2000 1)

Addition, new companies
Other adjustments 2)

Addition 2001 at cost
Sales 2001 at cost 3)

Transferred from plant under construction
Translation differences
Acquisition cost 31.12.2001

Revaluation
Revaluation 31.12.2000
Sales in 2001 at cost
Revaluation 31.12.2001

Write-downs
Accumulated write-downs 01.01.2000
Write-downs 2001
Sales in 2001 at cost 
Accumulated write-downs 31.12.2001

3,574 9,402 41,032 108 619 610 55,345
65 2,418 8,883 - 104 291 11,761

1,199 0 0 - 0 0 1,199
91 86 888 - 23 334 1,422
-5 -2,712 -9,721 -103 -240 -255 -13,036
64 33 87 - 52 -236 0

0 -230 -281 -5 -64 14 -566
4,988 8,997 40,888 0 494 758 56,125

0 132 14 - - - 146
0 -23 0 - - - -23
0 109 14 - - - 123

0 5 12 - 1 - 18
0 4 2 - 1 - 7
0 -5 -12 - - - -17
0 4 2 - 2 - 8

11. Liquid Assets
NOK 900 million from the sale of forests in Brazil are in escrow
and will be restricted until the 31 December 2002. However they
will be gradually released as the properties are transferred to a new
forest company established in connection with the sale. Approxi-
mately half of the amount has been released as at March 2002. The
Group also has limited access to liquid assets in joint ventures. For
2001 this amounted to NOK 151 million, for 2000 NOK 143 mil-
lion and for 1999 NOK 186 million. In previous years the Group
has had limited access to liquid assets in companies with large 
minority interests. This was the case for Norske Skog Canada Ltd.
in 2000. Norske Skog Canada Ltd. had liquid assets of NOK 5,481
million at the end of 2000. During 2001 the minority interests
have been considerably reduced. As at 31.12.2001 there are no 
limitations to the access to liquid assets in the same manner as at
31.12.2000. Tied up bank deposits amounts to NOK 2 million.
The corresponding amount in 2000 was NOK 2 million and in
1999 NOK 25 million.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
Goodwill Buildings, Fixtures Plant
and other plant and fittings, under
exclusive and Machinery, tools, office con-

rights property equipment Ship machinery struction Total

Depreciation
Accumulated ordinary depreciation 31.12.2000 1)

Ordinary depreciation 2001 2)

Depreciation on fixed assets sold in 2001 3)

Reclassifications
Accumulated ordinary depreciation 31.12.2001

Book value
Book value 31.12.2000
Book value 31.12.2001

Depreciation plan
Real property and plants under construction are not depreciated.
1) Restated with historical depreciation before acquisition of companies.
2) The opening balance from the acquisition of FCP is adjusted. This has led to an increase in goodwill with NOK 1,100 million.

Increased depreciation on this from 27 July 2000 is included in depreciation with NOK 74 million.
3) Norske Skog Canada Ltd. represents the main amounts.

144 2,178 11,365 3 304 - 13,994
287 277 2,669 - 83 - 3,316

-2 -524 -1,867 -3 -112 - -2,508
10 0 -35 - -25 - 0

439 1,931 12,132 0 300 - 14,802

3,430 7,351 29,669 105 314 610 41,479
4,549 7,171 28,768 0 192 758 41,438

5-20 years 10-33 years 10-20 years 10-15 years 3-5 years

Operational fixed assets – acquisitions and disposals the last five years
Goodwill Buildings, Fixtures Plant
and other plant and fittings, under
exclusive and Machinery, tools, office con-

rights property equipment Ship machinery struction Total

1997 Aquisition
Disposal

1998 Aquisition
Disposal

1999 Aquisition
Disposal

2000 Aquisition
Disposal

2001 Aquisition
Disposal

Total 5 years Aquisition
Disposal

76 0 516 130 30 1,062 1,814
0 0 10 72 10 0 92

10 265 631 0 0 3,077 3,983
0 0 12 35 17 0 64

37 84 331 0 50 652 1,154
0 53 179 0 5 0 237
0 207 818 0 29 297 1,351
0 56 7 0 6 0 69

91 86 888 0 23 334 1,422
0 497 3 0 0 33 533

214 642 3,184 130 132 5,422 9,724
0 606 211 107 38 33 995

Goodwill specification on each acquisistion
Depreciation Depreciation Remaining book

Year plan/years 2001 value 31.12.2001

Golbey
Bruck
Pan Asia
Union
Fletcher
Walsum and Parenco

Goodwill depreciation according to useful life based on expected regional and global synergies.

1995 20 5 68
1996 10 4 0
1999 20 3 51
1999 20 6 72
2000 20 235 4,147
2001 20 0 65
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44
499
129
672

46
739
183
968

35
91

196
322

13. Other long-term receivables
2001 2000 1999 

Loans to employees
Sundry long-term receivables
Pension plan assets (see note 4)
Total
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14. Shares
Shares included as financial assets

Share capital Number Nominal value Book value
Currency (NOK 1,000) of shares (NOK 1,000) (NOK 1,000)

Shares owned by the company
Norsk Avfallshåndtering AS
Sikon Øst ASA
Industrikraft Midt-Norge AS
Camfore AB
Nordic Paper AS, Greaker, Norway
Other shares, each with book value less than NOK 1 million
Total                                
Shares owned by subsidiaries
Shares in non-consolidated companies
Write-down on shares in Nordic Paper AS
Other shares, net value
Total

NOK 131,400 300 3,000 3,000
NOK 50,000 10,000 1,000 2,000
NOK 200,000 600 100 4,950

SEK 3,200 179,700 0 13,014
NOK 40,100 18,045 18,045 29,845

1,531
54,340

4,210
-29,845
16,540
45,245

Shares in subsidiaries

Share capital Number Nominal value Owner- Book value
Currency (NOK 1,000) of shares (NOK 1,000) ship % (NOK 1,000)

Shares in Norwegian subsidiaries owned by the company
Nornews AS, Lysaker
Norske Treindustrier AS, Lysaker
Lysaker Invest AS, Lysaker
Norske Skog Holding AS, Lysaker
Norske Skog Flooring Holding AS, Lysaker
Embretfoss AS, Skien
Union Paper & Co AS, Skien
Forestia Plater AS, Braskereidfoss
Wood og Logistics AS, Drammen
Oksenøyveien 80 AS, Lysaker
Service - og Utmarksenteret AS, Trones
Total  

NOK 50 1,000 50 100.0 50
NOK 3,917,340 3,917,340 3,917,340 100.0 13,917,340
NOK 2,914 291,400 2,914 100.0 2,914
NOK 5,000 50,000 5,000 100.0 5,000
NOK 200,000 2,000,000 200,000 100.0 0
NOK 1,000 1,000 1,000 100.0 32,214
NOK 500 500 500 100.0 500
NOK 139,960 901,099 126,118 90.1 126,004
NOK 3,000 228 2,280 76.0 2,295
NOK 100 1,000 100 100.0 100
NOK 605 605 303 50.0 605

14,087,022

Share Number Nominal Owner- Book
capital of value ship value

Currency (NOK 1,000) shares (NOK 1,000) %(NOK 1,000)

Shares in foreign subsidiaries owned by the company
Norske Skog Golbey, Golbey, France
Pan Asia Paper Company Ltd., Singapore
Pan Asia Paper Company Ltd., Singapore
Norske Skog Bruck GmbH, Bruck, Austria
Norske Skog Steti, Steti, Czech. Republic
Norske Skog Østerreich GmbH, Graz, Austria
Markproject Ltd., London, England
Norske Skog Deutschland GmbH, Hamburg, Germany
Norske Skog (UK) Ltd., London, England
Norske Skog Holland B.V., Amsterdam, Netherlands
Norske Skog Belgium S.A., Brussel, Belgium
Nornews Portugal, Lisboa, Portugal
Norske Skog Espana S.A., Madrid, Spain
Norske Skog (Irland) Ltd., Dublin, Ireland
Norske Skog (Schweiz) AG, Zürich, Switzerland
Norske Skog Danmark ApS,Værløse, Denmark
Norske Skog Italia s.r.l., Milano, Italy
Norske Skog France S.A.R.L., Paris, France
Norske Skog Japan Co. Ltd., Tokyo, Japan
Norske Skog (USA) Holdings Inc., Southport, USA
Norske Skog AB, Järpen, Sweden

EUR 470,667 3,087,364 470,667 100.0 3,376,242
USD 600 300,000 300 50.0 3,126,870
SGD 0 2 0 50.0 0
ATS 25,000 24,975,000 24,975 99.9 165,917

CZK 883,100 2 883,100 100.0 184,476
EUR 150 150,000 150 100.0 1,292
GBP 300 300,001 300 100.0 3,105

DEM 1,000 1,000,000 1,000 100.0 10,063
GBP 100 100,000 100 100.0 2
NLG 100 200 100 100.0 401
BEF 19,375 19,375 19,375 100.0 3,235
PTE 400 300,000 300 75.0 17
EUR 90 15,000 90 100.0 3,607

IEP 2 2,000 2 100.0 22
CHF 0 50 0 100.0 193
DKK 27 19 27 100.0 25
EUR 10 9,500 10 95.0 84
FRF 235 14,700 235 100.0 7,939
JPY 3,000 60 3,000 100.0 94

USD 0 1,000 0 100.0 8
SEK 100 1,000 100 100.0 58
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Share Number Nominal Owner- Book
capital of value ship value

Currency (NOK 1,000) shares (NOK 1,000) %(NOK 1,000)

Norske Skog (Cypros) Ltd., Paphos, Cyprus
Norske Skog S.E.A Pte Ltd., Singapore
Norske Skog Asia Pacific Pte Ltd., Singapore
AB Lee Bruk, Töckfors, Sweden
Norske Skog Hong Kong Ltd., Hong Kong
Norske Skog Czech Republic & Slovakia, S.r.o., Steti, Czech. Republic
Norske Skog Polska Sp. z.o.o. ,Warsaw, Poland
Norske Skog Hungary, Budapest, Hungary
Norske Skog Logistics, Antwerpen; Netherlands
Norske Skog do Brazil, Brazil
Fletcher Challenge Industries Cayman Islands Ltd., Cayman Islands
LA Pine Tree Holding, Cayman Islands
THP Paper Company, Canada
Munkedalen Skog AB, Munkedal, Sweden
Norske Skog Chile Industrial Limitada, Concepcion, Chile
Tasman Liner N.V., Curacao, Netherlands
Norske Skog Europe Recovered Paper N.V. Antwerpen, Netherlands
Norske Skog Papers ( Malaysia) SDN. BHD, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Norske Skog Papers ( Malaysia) SDN. BHD, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Norske Skog Tasman Limited, Auckland, New Zealand
Norske Skog Tasman Limited, Auckland, New Zealand
NSI Forsikring A/S, Hvidovre, Denmark
Pisa Holdings, Cayman Islands
Norske Skog Parenco BV, Renkum, Netherlands
Norske Skog Walsum GmbH, Wiesbaden, Germany
Pisa Participacoes SA, Rio De Janeiro, Brazil
Pisa Participacoes SA, Rio De Janeiro, Brazil
Total
Total shares owned by the company

CYP 1 950 1 95.0 2
SGD 20 20,000 20 100.0 0
SGD 100 100,000 100 100.0 441
SEK 150 1,500 150 100.0 11,089

HKD 10 10,000 10 100.0 8
CZK 400 400,000 400 100.0 112
PML 50 500 50 100.0 110
HUF 3,000 3,000,000 3,000 100.0 110
BEF 2,500 2,499 2,500 100.0 540
CZ 11,905 21,998,000 11,904 100.0 112,159

USD 0 100 0 100.0 19,584
USD 10 10,448 10 100.0 1,137,613
USD 0 100 0 100.0 0
SEK 1,000 10,000 1,000 100.0 12,610

USD 15,000 10,000 11 0.1 524
ANG 40 40,000 40 100.0 0
EUR 62 619 62 99.8 493
MYR 382,855 43,285 382,855 100.0 886,904
MYR 0 2 0 100.0 0
NZD 0 100 0 100.0 700
NZD 600,000 600,000,000 600,000 100.0 3,103,542
DKK 5,000 5,000 5,000 100.0 5,352
USD 65 64,750 65 100.0 0
NLG 166,282 923,791 166,282 100.0 377,744
EUR 25 2 25 100.0 1,960,204
BRZ 24,550 24,550,157 24,550 100.0 0
BRZ 113,768 11,365,851 113,711 100.0 91

14,513,582
28,654,944

Share Total Owner-
capital Number nominal ship

Currency (NOK 1,000) of shares value %

Shares in foreign subsidiaries owned by consolidated companies
Norske Skog Italia s.r.l., Milano, Italy
Norske Skog Industries (Schweiz) AG, Switzerland
Norske Skog Paper (Schweiz) AG, Switzerland
Norske Skog Holdings (Schweiz) AG, Switzerland
Norske Skog (USA)Inc. USA
Fjellman Press AB, Mariestad, Sweden
Norske Skog Publicationspapier GmbH, Graz, Austria
Norske Skog Industries Australia Limited, Sydney Australia
Norske Skog Capital (Australia) Pty Ltd., Sydney Australia
Norske Skog Discounts (Australia) Pty Ltd., Sydney Australia                   ordinary
Norske Skog Discounts (Australia) Pty Ltd., Sydney Australia              redeemable
Norske Skog Finance (Australia) Pty Limited, Sydney Australia
Tasman Kerbside Paper Collections Pty Limited, Sydney Australia
Tasman Paper Merchants Pty Limited, Sydney Australia
Endeavour Papers Pty Limited, Sydney Australia
Norske Skog (Australasia) Pty Limited, Sydney Australia
Velfro Pty Limited, Sydney Australia
Norske Skog Paper Mills Holdings (Australia) Limited, Sydney Australia

EUR 10 500 1 5.0
CHF 100 997 100 100.0
CHF 130,100 1,300,997 130,100 100.0
CHF 1,001,100 1,000,997 1,001,097 100.0
USD 0 200 0 100.0
SEK 9,340 3,136 9,340 100.0
ATS 380,000 380,000,000 380,000 100.0

AUD 0 5 0 100.0
AUD 4 3,668 4 100.0
AUD 332,311 332,310,876 332,311 100.0
AUD 14 14,000 14 100.0
AUD 20 20,000 20 100.0
AUD 0 100,000 0 100.0
AUD 6,400 6,400,000 6,400 100.0
AUD 0 15 0 100.0
AUD 1,000 1,000,000 1,000 100.0
AUD 118,300 118,300,002 118,300 100.0
AUD 56,746 28,373,248 56,746 100.0

Share Total Owner-
capital Number nominal ship

Currency (NOK 1,000) of shares value %

Shares in Norwegian subsidiaries owned by consolidated companies
Norsk Trepellets AS, Brumunddal NOK 14,500 7,250 7,250 50.0
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Share Total Owner-
capital Number nominal ship

Currency (NOK 1,000) of shares value %

Norske Skog Paper Mills (Australia) Limited, Tasmania Australia
Norske Skog Investments (Australia) Pty Ltd., Tasmania Australia
Norske Skog Forests (Australia) Pty Ltd., Tasmania Australia
Norske Skog Capital NZ Ltd., Aukland, New Zealand
FC Asia Paper Sales Pte. Ltd., Auckland New Zealand
Norske Skog Canada Limited, Canada                                              preference shares
Crown Forest Holdings (1995) Inc., Canada
Crown Forest Holdings (1995) Inc. , Canada                                 preference shares
Tasman Equipment Ltd.,Vancouver, Canada
Crown Forest Industries Limited, Canada
Crown Forest Industries Limited, Canada                                       preference shares
Crown Forest Industries Limited, Canada                                       preference shares
Crown Forest Industries Limited, Canada                                       preference shares
Crown Forest Industries Limited, Canada
Crown Forest Industries Limited, Canada                                            Class A Shares
NS Industries Canada Limited, BC, Canada
NS Industries Canada Limited, BC, Canada                                    preference shares
NS Industries Canada Limited, BC, Canada                     Class K preference shares 
NS Industries Canada Limited, BC, Canada                    Class C  preference shares 
NS Industries Canada Limited, BC, Canada                      Class I preference shares
NS Industries Canada Limited, BC, Canada                      Class J preference shares
Samambaia Agricola, Sao Paulo, Brazil
Papeles Bio Bio SA, San Pedro, Chile
Norske Skog Klabin, Sao Paulo, Brazil
Norske Skog CI Ltd. Georgetown, Cayman Islands
32928 YUKON INC.Yukon, Canada                                  Class A preference shares
32928 YUKON INC.Yukon, Canada                                 Class B preference shares
32928 YUKON INC.Yukon, Canada                     Junior Class A preference shares
Norske Skog North America LLC, Delaware USA
Watts Development Division PTY,Victoria, Australia
Watts Holdings LTD,Victoria, Australia                                           preference shares
Watts Holdings LTD,Victoria, Australia
P-Logistic GmbH,Vienna, Austria
32928 YUKON INC.Yukon, Canada                                                                ordinary
33027 YUKON INC.Vancouver BC, Canada
33027 YUKON INC.Vancouver BC, Canada                                  preference shares
Norske Skog Overseas Holdings AG, Zürich, Switzerland
Norske Skog Finance (UK), Cardiff, England
Swale  Speciality Papers Limited, Edinburgh, England
Swale  Speciality Papers Limited, Edinburgh, England      Class A preference shares 
Norske Skog Australia Limited, N.S.W., Australia
Norske Skog Industries (UK) Limited, Cardiff, England   Class A preference shares 
Norske Skog Industries (UK) Limited, Cardiff, England  Class B preference shares 
Norske Skog Industries (UK) Limited, Cardiff, England                             ordinary
Norske Skog Forest Holdings AG, Zürich, Switzerland
Parenco Assurantien B.V., Renkum, Netherlands
Parenco Finance B.V., Renkum, Netherlands
Parenco Hout B.V., Renkum, Netherlands
Parenco Van Gelder GmbH, Düsseldorf, Germany
Reparco Nederland B.V., Arnhem, Netherlands
Sapin SA, Harze, Belgium
Geosilica Nominees Ltd., Auckland, New Zealand
Norske Skog Holdings (NO.1) Limited, Auckland, New Zealand
Norske Skog Holdings (NO.2) Limited, Auckland, New Zealand
Norske Skog Holdings (NO.3) Limited, Auckland, New Zealand
Norske Skog Chile Industrial Limitada, Concepcion, Chile
33038 YUKON INC., British Columbia, Canada
33038 YUKON INC., British Columbia, Canada             Class F preference shares 
33038 YUKON INC., British Columbia, Canada           Class G preference shares 

AUD 7,539 7,538,573 7,539 100.0
AUD 1 10,000 1 100.0
AUD 2,000 2,000,002 2,000 100.0
NZD 1 1,000 1 100.0
SGD 100 50,000 50 50.0
CAD 673,103 63,035,942 242,721 36.1
CAD 837,706 837,706,001 837,706 100.0
CAD 126,654 126,654,208 126,654 100.0
CAD 1 1,000 1 100.0
CAD 254,302 156,752,900 156,752 61.6
CAD 100 100,123 100 100.0
CAD 34 34,159 34 100.0
CAD 27 26,569 27 100.0
CAD 254,302 97,548,874 97,550 38.4
CAD 10,155,524 10,155,524,090 10,155,524 100.0
CAD 991 106,991,969 991 100.0
CAD 28,701 28,701,053 28,701 100.0
CAD 58,700 5,870,000 58,700 100.0
CAD 31,815 31,814,707 31,815 100.0
CAD 62,831 6,283,119 62,831 100.0
CAD 63,587 63,586,580 63,587 100.0
BRZ 143 7,329,000 143 100.0
CLP 77,715 393,887,673 77,715 100.0
BRZ 34,741 173,705 17,371 50.0
CHF 1,300,000 13,000 1,300,000 100.0
CAD 643,376 643,376 643,376 100.0
CAD 743,415 743,415 743,415 100.0
CAD 360,659 1,000,000 360,659 100.0

SD 1,000 500 500 50.0
AUD 25 50,000 25 100.0
AUD 0 10 0 100.0
AUD 4,240 8,480,597 4,240 100.0
ATS 500 500,000 500 100.0

CAD 0 1,000,000 0 100.0
CAD 0 100 0 100.0
CAD 19,245 19,244,529 19,245 100.0
CHF 546,234 5,462,341 546,234 100.0
GBP 100 100,000 100 100.0
GBP 7,000 7,000,000 7,000 100,0
GBP 7,000 7,000,000 7,000 100,0
AUD 104,023 104,023,378 104,023 100,0
GBP 372,330 327,330,190 372,330 100,0
GBP 196,735 196,375,035 196,735 100,0
GBP 0 2 0 100,0
CHF 85,173 851,733 85,173 100,0
NLG 0 40 0 100,0
NLG 40 40 40 100,0
NLG 50 45 45 90,0

DEM 200 200,000 200 100,0
EUR 227 454 227 100,0
BEF 8,125 6,050 8,125 100,0

NZD 1 500 1 50,0
NZD 0 100 0 100,0
NZD 0 100 0 100,0
NZD 1 1,000 1 100,0
USD 15,000 14,990,000 14,990 99,9
USD 1 1,000 1 100,0
USD 26,854 26,854,000 26,854 100,0
USD 527 526,640 527 100,0
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Share Total Owner-
capital Number nominal ship

Currency (NOK 1,000) of shares value %
Paroco GmbH, Essen, Germany
Reparco Nijmegen B.V., Arnhem, Netherlands
Reparco Randstad B.V., The Hague, Netherlands
Reparco Renkum B.V., Arnhem, Netherlands
Reparco Trading B.V., Nijmegen, Netherlands
Reparco Zutphen B.V., Zutphen, Netherlands
Simon Daadler Winterswijk B.V., Zutphen, Netherlands
Fletcher Paper Sales North America, Inc., Deleware, USA
Forest Terminals Corporation, California, USA
Nornews Portugal, LDA, Portugal
Norske Skog Bruck GmbH, Bruck, Austria

DEM 200 102,000 102 51.0
EUR 18 36 18 100.0
EUR 14 28 14 100.0
EUR 18 36 18 100.0
EUR 386 184 386 100.0
EUR 1,134 36 1,134 100.0
NLG 4 35 4 100.0
USD 10 1,000 10 100.0
USD 5 5,000 5 100.0
PTE 400 100,000 100 25.0
ATS 25,000 25,000 25 0.1

15. Affiliated companies and Joint Ventures
In the consolidated accounts, shares in affiliated companies are included according to the equity method. Share of profit is reported after
correction for dividend from the affiliated company. Joint ventures are consolidated proportionally.

Book Share of Dividend/ Book
value Bought profit for other equity value

Ownership % 31.12.00 shares the year corrections 31.12.01
Affiliated companies
Moelven Industrier ASA
Malaysian Newsprint Industries 
Nordic Paper AS
NorskeCanada
Other affiliated companies
Total
Joint Venture
Norske Skog Klabin
Pan Asia Paper Company Ltd.
Total

1) The opening balance of the acquisition of Fletcher Paper has been adjusted. This resulted in an adjustment to the book value of Malaysian Newsprint 
Industries of NOK 237 million. Other changes are included with NOK 16 million.

NorskeCanada has total equity as at 31 December 2001 of CAD 1,059 million, according to Norwegian GAAP.

0 222 -246 24 0 0
34 836 0 12 -221 1) 627
45 0 0 5 0 5
36 0 2,651 -21 0 2,630

11 -7 -4 0 0
1,069 2,398 16 -221 3,262

50 82 0 4 0 86
50 1,890 1,551 279 0 3,720

1,972 1,551 283 0 3,806

1,135
37

1,000
2,172

1,488
66

1,413
2,967

760
85

1,061
1,906

16. Inventory
2001 2000 1999 

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods
Total

3,626
-120

3,506

5,086
-88

4,998

3,119
-68

3,051

17. Accounts receivable
2001 2000 1999 

Accounts receivable
Provisions for bad debts
Total

0
229
183

92
504
620
645

1,769

0
103
180

87
370

6,557
490

7,417

28
44
72
85

229
28

0
257

18. Short-term investments
Average interest rate 2001 2001 2000 1999 

Treasury bonds 0
Bank/Insurance 7.0%
Other Financial institutions 7.2%
Industry/Commerce/Shipping 6.7%
Total bonds 7.0%
Commercial papers
Short-term investments in foreign currencies
Total

Commercial papers classified as current assets are valued as a port-
folio. Net unrealised loss on the portfolio was NOK 7.5 million.
The equivalent value for 1999 is unrealised loss of NOK 27 million.
NOK 101 million of the bond portfolio has a floating interest rate,
and the next interest fixing is on 28 February 2002. The remainder
of the bond portfolio has a fixed interest rate.

The bond portfolio is reduced with self-contained bonds.



19. Joint Venture
Joint Ventures are operations that the Group has together with
equivalent external partners. For the year 2001 such operations are
held through the companies Norske Skog Klabin and Pan Asia 
Paper Company. Norske Skog Klabin is situated in Brazil. It is 
owned 50% by Norske Skog and 50% by the Brazilian company
Industrias Klabin de Papel e Celulose S.A. Pan Asia Paper Company
is located in Singapore. It is owned 50% by Norske Skog and 50%
by Abitibi-Consolidated. For year 2000 joint ventures were held in
the same companies, but with an ownership interest of 1/3 in Pan
Asia Paper Company. In 1999 joint ventures were held in Pan Asia
Paper Company only.
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3,204
2,566

638

5,609
71

5,680
236
699
151

1,086
305

1,998
516

2,819

3,181
2,609

572

3,318
135

3,453
181
668
143
992

58
1,854

448
2,360

1,886
1,553

333

3,374
37

3,411
127
504
186
817

23
1,855

547
2,425

2001 2000 1999

Share of the operating profit
Operating revenue
Operating expences
Operating earnings 
Share of the balance 
Operational fixed assets
Long-term receivables
Total fixed assets
Inventory 
Short-term receivables
Other liquid assets
Total current assets
Deferred tax
Long-term debt
Short-term debt
Total debt

1,331
-10

7,088
5,015
5,897

19,321

14,490
2,494
3,327
-792

5
-203

19,321
205

19,526

931
-15

4,161
6,173
3,240

14,490

11,559
1,958
1,463
-550

14
46

14,490
7,861

22,351

827
-16

2,802
5,857
2,089

11,559

9,884
1,300

667
-446
-110
264

11,559
168

11,727

20. Shareholders’ equity
2001 2000 1999

Other consolidated equity
Share capital
Own shares
Share premium reserve
Distributable reserve
Other consolidated equity
Total consolidated equity

Shareholders’ equity
Shareholders’ equity 31.12.2001 
excluding minority interests
Earnings for the year
Share issues
Provisions for dividend
Change in own share holding
Translation difference
Shareholders’ equity 31.12.2001 
excluding minority interests
Minority interests
Total shareholder equity

As at 31 December 2001 Norske Skog had a total holdings of own 
shares of 1,168,898 shares equivalent to 0.9 % of the total number of
shares. The shares were acquired in the merger with Aktieselskapet
Union (Union Co.) in 1999, and are primarily used in the share owner-
ship program for the employees and settlement of bonus agreements.

At the Shareholders meeting held on 3 May 2001 the Board of
Directors were given the authority to acquire up to 10% of the com-
pany’s share on certain conditions. The authority was given for a 
period of 18 months.

7,861
-760
166

-
-4,323

-2,487
-252
205

168
7,305

226
375

-133

-
-80

7,861

145
2

26
-

-5

-
-

168

21. Minority Interests
2001 2000 1999

Minority 01.01.
Changes in minority due to sales/purchases
Share of profit for the year
Share of fair value adjustments
Paid out dividend
Deconsolidation of
Norske Skog Canada Ltd.
Currency translation differences
Minority 31.12.

Included in Paid out dividend is NOK 4,241 million paid to 
minorities in Norske Skog Canada Ltd.

9,527
17,154
26,681

2,771
26,038
28,809

855
7,047
7,902

22. Unsecured long-term liabilties
Unsecured long-term liabilities has the following distribution

2001 2000 1999

Bond loans
Debt to financial institutions
Total

7,205

19,476
26,681

4,771

24,038
28,809

2,873

5,029
7,902

Unsecured long-term liabilities
2001 2000 1999

Unsecured long-term liabilities
Unsecured long-term liabilities 
in other countries
Total

Bonds
Holdings of the company’s own bonds at year-end amount to
NOK 110 million nominal. These are deducted from interest
-bearing debt in NOK.

During 2001 Norske Skog issued a new bond loan with a limit
of NOK 6,900 million. Of this bond issue NOK 6,900 million has
been drawn at the end of 2001. In addition NOK 490 million
is drawn on existing loans. The total value of unused loans is 
NOK 560 million.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

9.0116
7.9735
5.6662
3.7469
4.6031
0.0068
0.2041
0.8549
0.2508
1.2156
3.9303

797
437
341
854
452

167,742
133
141
470
133

6

7,180
3,488
1,932
3,199
2,082
1,144

27
121
118
161

24
19,476

7,205
26,681

5.2
5.2
5.3
7.2
5.9
6.8
7.4
5.6
6.6
5.4
4.1

7.5
6.2

Unsecured long-term debt by currency, current portion included:

Currency Average 
amount Currency NOK interest

As at 31.12.01 (million) rate million rate in %

USD
EUR
CAD
NZD
AUD
KRW
THB
SEK
CZK
FRF
BRL
Total long-term debt 
Long-term debt NOK
Total long-term debt in the balance sheet

1,944
5,533
1,725
2,975
2,011
2,597

666
17,451

-
-

899
-

2,453
776

5,399
9,527

1,944
5,533
2,624
2,975
4,464
3,373
6,065

26,978

Repayment plan
The company’s total debt as at 31 December 2001 matures as follows

Debt Total
banks Bonds debt

2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
After 2007
Total

At the end of 2001 Norske Skogindustrier ASA has USD 520 milli-
on in unused credit lines.

When raising some long-term loans without mortgage, a 
declaration of negative mortage is issued. Furthermore there are
some loan contracts that have terms related to financial key figures.
At year end 2001 these terms are fulfilled.

In December 1998 Norske Skogindustrier ASA signed a 7-year
committed drawing rights agreement for USD 450 million. With-
drawals from this facility can be made in various currencies and at
floating interest rates. Lenders are Norwegian and international
banks. In addition Norske Skogindustrier ASA has an existing
committed drawing rights facility for USD 315 million that comes
to maturity in 2004 and is partly unused. Of the USD 765 million
drawing rights available, USD 245 million has been utilised as at
31.12.2001.

198
725

0
70

0
0
6

5,447
94

3,006
0
0

1,098
0

10,644

960
57

267
0

258
1,383

6
92
11

931
1,122

147
11

5,303
10,548

25. Foreign exchange and 
interest off-balance instruments

Foreign exchange contracts
Purchase contracts Sales contracts

NOK million equivalent equivalent

AUD
CAD
CHF
CZK
DKK
GBP
JPY
NOK
SEK
USD
KRW
THB
NZD
EUR
Total             

Sums of principals in foreign currencies are translated into NOK at
spot rates on 31 December 2001.
All futures contracts related to operations mature in 2002.

Floating
Floating

Fixed
Fixed
Fixed
Fixed
Fixed
Fixed

Floating 
Fixed
Fixed
Fixed

2005
2003
2006
2004
2003
2004
2006
2004
2005
2011
2011
2011

Fixed
Fixed

Floating
Floating
Floating
Floating

Fixed
Floating

Fixed
Floating
Floating
Floating 

55
145

50
50
15
75

150
150
400
100
100

Interest rate swaps

Currency Million Receives PaysMaturity

AUD
AUD
NOK
NOK
NOK
NOK
NOK
NOK
NZD
USD
USD
USD
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275
22

297

355
-

355

520
-

520

23. Other short-term liabilities
2001 2000 1999

Short-term bank debt
Other short-term interest bearing liability
Total

The group has unused bank overdrafts of NOK 290 million.
There are no limitations to the use of the facility.

517
1,678

233
792

1,556
815

5,591

629
2,280

517
554

2,119
516

6,615

315
1,288

479
446
612
506

3,646

24. Short-term liabilities
2001 2000 1999

Public dues and holiday allowances
Accounts payable
Sundry interest-free short debt
Provisions for dividend
Accrued expenses
Taxes payable
Total

1,302 1,191 1,446

26. Mortgages
The following loans are secured by real estate mortgages as at 31.12

2001 2000 1999

Outstanding balance,other mortgage debt



27. Environment
In 2001 the environmental investments was NOK 70 million. For
2000 this figure was NOK 173 million and for 1999 NOK 38 million.
As a result of the extensive investments in prior years regarding en-
vironmental issues, the investments for the last three years are less
than priro years. It is expected that this also will apply for future years.

30. Contingencies
An agreement for the sale of the forests in southern Norway has
been reached. As at 31 December 2001 the concession process had
not been completed. Therefore no gain or loss on the sales has
been recognised in the accounts. The consession process is 
expected to be finalised during 2002.

The transaction may result in a gain of NOK 161 million 
provided the buyer is given the necessary consessions.

28. Other commitments
In 1999 Norske Skog made a cash deficiency support commitment 
relating to a USD 120 million loan in the joint venture Pan Asia Paper
Company Ltd., owned 50% by Norske Skog. The underlying term loan
has been repaid in full and Norske Skog is released from its commit-
ment as at the 8 March 2002.

In 1998 Norske Skog finalised a lease and buy back arrangement
with American investors for PM 5 and PM 6 at Saugbrug. The present
value of the cost of the lease back is approximately NOK 4,000 million
and is irrevocably deposited in favour of the American investor.Although
this sum has been deposited, Norske Skog is not exonerated from lia-
bility for payment. However the credit risk is extremely small as the
funds are held in a bank that has AA rating. Should the bank’s rating
drop below AA at any future time, Norske Skog is entitled to move the
deposit to another bank. Deposited rental costs and prepaid rental
earnings are entered net in the balance sheet. Should Norske Skog be
unable to perform the leasing agreement it is under obligation to re-
compense investor for any losses. The investor’s loss will vary over the
term of the lease and will at most amount to NOK 700 million. The
possibility of Norske Skog being unable to perform the contract is 
extremely unlikely. The contract could only be broken off as the result
of extraordinary circumstances in the nature of force majeure.

The EU Commission initiated, in April 1995, an investigation of the
largest news paper producers in Europe to reveal any relationship that
are in dispute with the EU’s competition rules. A “Statement of Objec-
tions” was issued in April 1999, and an inquiry for the EU commission
was held during Autumn 1999. The investigation has not been finalised.

In 1999 Norske Skog, Abitibi-Consolidated and Hansol Paper esta-
blished Pan Asia Paper company joint venture. The contractual relation-
ship between the shareholders is specified in a shareholder’s agreement.
A contractual assumption for the joint venture is that the partner’s
future expansion within Pan Asia's market must be carried out through
Pan Asia, and that Pan Asia shall promote a strategy for growth. The stake
of 33.65% of Malaysian Newsprint Industries (MNI) which Norske
Skog acquired from Fletcher Challenge Ltd. in 2000 is being affected by
this shareholder’s agreement. Pan Asia has a call-option to acquire
Norske Skog’s stake in MNI at an agreed price. Hansol Paper exited
Pan Asia in 2001 and sold its one-third stake in equal parts to Norske
Skog and Abitibi-Consolidated. The shareholder’s agreement is beeing
renegotiated to fit a 50/50 joint venture. The shareholders have agreed
to redefine Pan Asia’s market area so to exclude Australasia from it and
to remove the Pan Asia option for this region. It is further agreed
that no commission will be payable from Norske Skog to Pan Asia
upon the finalisation of the amended agreement.

29. Foreign exchange risk and interest risk
Foreign exchange risk
Norske Skog has both direct and indirect economic risk related to the
development in foreign exchange rates. In addition the Group’s balance
sheet is exposed to foreign exchange risk due to the translation of the
subsidiary’s balance sheets into NOK.
Transaction risk
Approximately 90% of the Group’s income is in foreign currency, whilst
approximately 60% of the Group’s costs are in NOK (2001-figures). The
main currencies the Group has an exposure to is EUR, USD, GBP, AUD
and NZD. The transaction risk is considered as 12 months expected
future cash flow in foreign currency on a rolling basis. 50 - 100% of the
Group’s risk exposure related to subsidiaries is hedged. The profit or
loss from the hedging transactions are included in the financial items
in the consolidated accounts. Foreign exchange gains and losses like
this will more or less have counterparts in increases and decreases in future
net operating income.
Balance sheet risk
The Group accounts are in NOK. Balance sheet risk appears when the
subsidiarie’s balance sheets are translated into NOK. Norske Skog per-
fom hedging activites againts this risk. The Group’s debt is drawn up
based on the mix of currencies of the assets in the balance sheet. The
gains and losses on these transactions are booked to equity, in the same
manner as the translation differences from the subsidiaries.
Indirect economic risk (economic exposure)
Norske Skog has an indierect exposure to changes in foreign currencies.
This is due to the fact that the Group’s competitive strength is affected
by the development in the currencies of the Group’s competitor’s dome-
stic currencies. The currencies in question are SEK, EUR, USD and CAD.
At present there are no hedging activities performed against this risk.

Interest rate risk
Norske Skog considers it to be risk reducing to have mainly floating in-
terest rates on net debt. This is related to the correlation between Norske
Skog’s earnings and the economic cycles. The economic risk in the debt
portfolio is measured as interest rate sensitivity. To reveal the interest
rate risk, either securities or hedging instruments outside the balance
sheet are used. As an effect of the interest rate stategy Norske Skog has
had long term bonds to reveal the interest rate risk on long term debt.

Norske Skog and Klabin Fabricadora de Papel e Celulose SA each
owns 50% of the share in the joint venture Norske Skog Klabin 
Comercio e Indutria. Norske Skog Klabin Comercio e Indutria admi-
nisters the means of production and the input factors for a period that
expires in the year 2003. At the end of the period most of the company’s
assets will be tied to its market positioning. Norske Skog is commited
to buy out Klabin at a fixed price (USD 43.6 million).

The Group’s Head Office in Oslo was sold during 2001. The offices
are now rented by the Group,the annual rental expense is NOK 16 million.
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1,770
448

24
2,242

1,751
465

1
2,217

1,854
300
196

2,350

Book value of assets securing this debt as at 31.12

2001 2000 1999

Machinery
Buildings
Forest, land and other real estate
Operating fixed assets
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2

3
4
7

10

5

9,079
25

4,010
1,317
1,214

640
7,206
1,873

537
-3,287
-2,750

115
-762
359

-403

1,195
-792
403

9,893
330

4,198
1,339
1,588

682
8,137
1,756

899
-1,831

-942
222

1,036
-173
863

-313
-550
-863

8,988
-113

3,673
1,244
2,119

710
7,633
1,355

274
-469
-195

1,160
-313
847

-401
-446
-847

8,976
-7,008

499
-2,124

-166
177

-293
12

2,859
-3,095

-517

-2,228
-551

3,327
548
208

2,141
2,349

6

7
7

10,104
-6,733

844
-1,673

-277
2,265

-557
43

-190
-19,391
-20,095

18,024
-443

1,463
19,044

1,214

927
2,141

8,711
-6,966

206
-654
-285

1,012

-747
39

1,410
-225
477

-1,751
-325

0
-2,076

-587

1,514
927

Profit and loss account
NOK million Notes 2001 2000 1999

Operating revenue
Change in inventory
Cost of materials
Wages, salaries and personnel expenses
Other operating expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Operating expenses
Operating earnings
Financial revenue
Financial expenses
Financial items, net
Other items
Earnings before taxation
Taxation
Net earnings for the year
Application of profit for the year:
Allocated from/to other equity
Dividend to shareholders
Total

Statement of Cash Flow
NOK million Notes 2001 2000 1999 

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Cash used in operations
Financial revenue received
Financial expenses paid
Taxes paid
Net cash flow from operating activities
Cash flow from investment activities
Investments in operational fixed assets
Sales of operational fixed assets
Net change in intercompany receivables
Net financial investments
Net cash flow from investment activities
Cash flow from financial activities
Net change in long-term liabilities
Dividend paid
Share issues
Net cash flow from financial activities
Total change in liquid assets

Liquid assets as at 1 January 
Liquid assets as at 31 December 
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7
7

3

8
5
3

9

72
5,907
8,812

203
129

54
28,601
37,799
43,778

329
236
565
452
528
925
-43

1,862
1,100

504
745

2,349
4,776

48,554

1,331
-10

7,088
8,409

5,015
13,424

288
81

1,719
22,763
24,851

8,945
481

49
792

12
10,279
48,554

4,565

24
6,519
3,642

762
152
220

24,765
29,541
36,084

345
245
590

5,385
104

1,176
-13

6,652
1,197

229
715

2,141
9,383

45,467

931
-15

4,161
5, 077

6,173
11,250

774
69

1,694
22,669
25,206

7,898
410

53
550
100

9,011
45,467

2,714

25
7,556
1,894

59
178

38
5,918
8,087

15,668
554
366
920
197

60
1,336

-29
1,564

20
229
678
927

3,411
19,079

827
-16

2,802
3,613

5,857
9,470

689
83

1,436
3,737
5,945
2,326

372
246
446
274

3,664
19,079

837

Balance Sheet
NOK million Notes 2001 2000 1999

Assets
Intangible fixed assets
Operational fixed assets
Intercompany receivables
Other long-term assets
Pension plan assets
Shares in other companies
Shares in subsidiaries
Securities and long-term financial assets
Fixed assets
Finished goods
Raw materials and work in progress
Inventory
Intercompany receivables
Other receivables
Accounts receivable
Provision for bad debts
Receivables
Commercial papers
Bonds
Cash and bank deposits
Liquid assets
Current assets
Total assets

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Own shares
Share premium reserve
Paid in equity
Retained earnings:
Other equity
Shareholders’ equity
Deferred taxes
Pension obligations
Mortgage loans
Non-secured long-term liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Other short-term liabilities
Accounts payable
Public dues and holiday allowances
Provisions for dividend
Taxes payable
Current liabilities
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Guarantees

Lysaker, 5 March 2002

Lage Westerbø Jon R. Gundersen
Chairman Deputy chairman

Halvor Bjørken Jan Vidar Grini Lars Wilhelm Grøholt Stig Johansen Kåre Leira

Øivind Lund Egil Myklebust
Jan Reinås



-122
83

-214
-253

1,525
219
129
-81
-39

1,753
1,500

419
-131
288

-26
84

-37
21

2,026
107
150
-70
156

2,369
2,390

668
106
774

-44
130
-85

1

2,002
149
178
-83
213

2,459
2,460

689
-

689

A specification of temporary differences and deferred tax is shown
below. (Tax rate 28% 1999, 2000 and 2001)

  2001 2000 1999
Reserve in accounts receivable
Reserve in inventory
Other short-term items
Total short-term items

Accelerated depreciation
Allocated capital gains
Pension plan assets
Pension obligation
Other long-term items
Total long-term items
Total temporary differences

  2001 2000 1999
Deferred tax on termporary differences
Tax on currency items 
Total deferred tax

1. Accounting principles
The company’s accounting principles are the same as those for the
consolidated accounts, which are described on page 72 and 73. The
equity method for subsidiaries is used in accordance with regulatory
requirements. All figures are stated in NOK million unless other-
wise stated. The company's notes are similar to the consolidated
notes. Only those notes which are different, are shown below.

2. Operating revenue
Operating Revenue  includes ordinary revenue from sale of goods and
services to companies within the Group to the value of NOK 1,858
million, the corresponding figure in 2000 was NOK 1,945 million.
All intercompany deliveries, intercompany profits and intercom-
pany debts between departments are eliminated in the accounts.

4. Other operating expenses
Losses on bad debts amounting to NOK 31 million are included in operating expenses.

NOTES NORSKE SKOGINDUSTRIER ASA
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49
57

-70
1
2

4
43

48
58

-69
5
2

2
46

46
55

-64
8
2

5
52

3. Pension costs and pension liabilities
Net periodic pension cost

2001 2000 1999

Benefit earned during the year
Interest costs on prior period benefit
Expected return on plan assets
Periodic employer tax
Expended portion of changes of AFP
Expended portion of differences 
in estimates
Net periodic pension cost

Status of pension plans reconciled with the balance sheet

   
   

31.12.01 31.12.00 31.12.99 31.12.01 31.12.00 31.12.99

Projected benefit obligation (PBO)
Plan assets at fair value 
Plan assets in excess of / less than(-) PBO
Changes AFP plan
Unrecognized gain (-) / loss on plan assets 
Net plan assets / pension obligations
Employer tax accruals
Pension assets / pension obligations (-) in balance sheet

See note 4 to the consolidated accounts regarding assumtions and further information

-985 -1 004 -911 -138 -139 -165
1 111 1 043 1 013 22 33 26

126 39 102 -116 -106 -139
0 0 0 22 24 26
3 113 74 20 19 36

129 152 176 -74 -63 -77
0 0 2 -7 -6 -6

129 152 178 -81 -69 -83

-761
-77
153
464

-133
420

66

-14
0
0
0

-14
373
359

1,288
-441

45
-378

-51
-180
283

-74
-14

-106
0

-194
21

-173

1,160
-33
-73

0
0

69
1,123

-308
0
0

-20
-328

15
-313

5. Taxes
A specification of the difference between earnings before taxation
and the basis for taxation is shown below.

  2001 2000 1999
Earnings before taxation
Permanent differences
Group contribution 
Currency items
Equity items
Change in temporary differences
Basis for taxation

 2001 2000 1999
Taxes payable including withholding tax
Tax on currency items
Tax on equity items
Group contribution
Sum taxes payable
Change in deferred tax
Total tax expense



7. Operational fixed assets
Goodwill Land, Machinery Fixtures and Plant
and other buildings and and fittings,tools, under

NOK Million exclusive rights other property plant office equipment construction Total

Acquisition cost
Acquisition cost 31.12.2000
Addition 2001 at cost
Sales 2001 at cost  
Reclassification   
Acquisition cost 31.12.2001
Revaluation
Revalation 31.12.2000
Sales 2001 at cost
Revaluation 31.12.2001
Depreciation
Accumulated ordinary depreciation 31.12.2000
Ordinary depreciation 2001
Depreciation on fixed assets sold 2001
Reclassification
Accumulated ordinary depreciation 31.12.2001
Booked value
Booked value 31.12.2000
Booked value 31.12.2001

33 3,045 10,266 241 200 13,785
0 43 179 18 53 293
0 -216 -29 -6 0 -251

64 10 -15 52 -111 0
97 2,882 10,401 305 142 13,827

0 84 13 0 0 97
0 -22 0 0 0 -22
0 62 13 0 0 75

9 1,188 5,981 161 0 7,339
6 108 485 41 0 640
0 -45 -9 -2 0 -56

10 0 -35 25 0 0
25 1,251 6,422 225 0 7,923

24 1,941 4,298 80 200 6,543
72 1,693 3,992 80 142 5,979

   ‒   Goodwill Land, Machinery Fixtures and Plant
      and other buildings and and fittings,tools, under
NOK million exclusive rights other property plant office equipment construction Total

1997 Acquisition
Disposal

1998 Acquisition
Disposal

1999 Acquisition
Disposal

2000 Acquisition
Disposal

2001 Acquisition
Disposal

Sum 5 år Acquisition
Disposal

1 127 170 0 419 717
0 69 5 0 0 74
0 243 454 0 618 1,315
0 42 3 0 0 45
0 35 86 28 598 747
0 33 6 0 0 39
0 103 265 20 169 557
0 20 7 5 11 43
0 43 179 18 53 293
0 0 7 5 0 12
1 551 1,154 66 1,857 3,629
0 164 28 10 11 213

Depreciation Depreciation Book value
     Year plan 2001 31.12.2001

Union 1999 20 6 72
Depreciation according to useful life based on expected synergies.
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-762
640

-166
-17
25

457
177

1,288
682

-277
210
375
-13

2,265

1,160
710

-285
-237

2
-338

1,012

6. Net cash flow from operations
The nexus between earnings before tax and cash flow from 
operations is shown below.

2001 2000 1999

Earnings before tax
Ordinary depreciation
Taxes paid
Change in receivables
Change in stocks
Change in current liabilities
Net cash flow from operating activities
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4,161
2,927

-
-
-

7,088

916
400

5
-
-

1,321

6,173
-

37
-403
-792

5,015

11,250
3,327

42
-403
-792

13,424

8. Shareholders’ equity
Share

Share premium Other
capital reserve equity Total

Shareholders’ equity 31.12.2000
Share issues
Change in own shareholding
Earnings
Provision for dividend
Shareholders’ equity 31.12.2001

As at 31 December 2001 the share capital was divided into
133,137,088 shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 10.
Own shareholding was 1,168,898 shares.

13.6
9.2
8.0
6.7
4.1
2.6
2.4
1.9
1.8
1.7
1.7
1.5
1.4
1.3
1.2
1.0
1.0

  Ownership %

J P Morgan Chase, England
State Street Bank & Trust Co., USA
Viken Skogeierforening, Hønefoss
Folketrygdfondet, Oslo
Agder-Telemark Skogeierforening, Skien
Skogeierforeningen Nord, Trondheim
Mjøsen Skogeierforening, Lillehammer
Storebrand Livsforsikring/IF, Oslo
Glommen Skog/Fond, Elverum
Bank of NY, Belgium
Gjensidige NOR, Oslo
Rederiaksjeselskapet Henneseid, Skien
Odin-fondene, Oslo
Vital Forsikring, Bergen
DnB Investor, Oslo
VPF Skagen Vekst, Stavanger
Havlide A/S, Skien

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0

697
7,163

53
555

2,755
67

1,462
1,163

255

100
3

50

626
782

    No. of shares Options

Nominated by shareholders
Ivar Korsbakken, Oslo, Chairman
Emil Aubert, Porsgrunn
Ole H. Bakke, Trondheim
Svein Haare, Hokksund
Olav Hørsdal, Frolands Verk
Dieter Oswald, Bø in Telemark
Halvard Sæther, Lillehammer
Helge Urstrømmen, Elverum
Svein Aaser, Drøbak

Nominated by the employees
Bjørn Olav Hanssen, Skogn
Magnus Straume, Union
Ove Magne Anseth, Braskereidfoss

Observers from the employees
Trond Andersen, Saugbrugs
Rolf Bråthen, Follum

0
0
0
0
0

9,510

0
0
0

7,353
694

1,155
645
212

15,430

485
318

50

     No. of shares Options

Lage Westerbø, Aurdal, Chairman
Jon R. Gundersen, Oslo, Deputy Chairman
Halvor Bjørken, Verdal
Lars W. Grøholt, Hov
Øivind Lund, Drammen
Jan Reinås, Bærum

Nominated by the employees
Kåre Leira, Skogn
Jan Vidar Grini, Union
Stig Johansen, Braskereidfoss

9,510
0

9,510
9,510

0
7,933
9,510

15,430
212

5,580
4,973

964
2,395
5,814

   .  No. of shares Option

Jan Reinås
Ida Goodreau
Claes-Inge Isacson
Jan Kildal
David Kirk
Vidar Lerstad
Jan A. Oksum

9. Guarantees
The company has guaranteed debt for its subsidiaries to the total of
NOK 4,565 million.

10. Financial expenses
The financial expenses includes NOK 1.7 billion realized exchange
loss due to transferring of group loans and share holdings from 
Norske Skogindustrier ASA to other entities in the Group.
The losses have been eliminated on Group level.
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Auditor’s Report for 2001
(Translation from Norwegian)

To the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of
Norske Skogindustrier ASA
We have audited the annual financial statements of Norske Skog-
industrier ASA as of 31 December 2001, showing a loss of NOK
430 million for the parent company and a profit of NOK 2,660
million for the group. We have also audited the information in the
directors’ report concerning the financial statements, the going
concern assumption, and the proposal for the appropriation of the
loss. The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the 
statements of income and cash flows, the accompanying notes and
the consolidated accounts. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s Board of Directors and Managing
Director. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements and on other information according to the 
requirements of the Norwegian Act on Auditing and Auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Norwegian
Act on Auditing and Auditors and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway. Those standards and practises 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of mate-
rial misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting prin-
ciples used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. To the
extent required by law and auditing standards an audit also com-
prises a review of the management of the Company’s financial 
affairs and its accounting and internal control systems. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion,
- the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with

law and regulations and present the financial position of the
Company and of the Group as of 31 December 2001, and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then 
ended, in accordance with accounting standards, principles and
practises generally accepted in Norway.

- the Company’s management has fulfilled its obligation in respect
of registration and documentation of accounting information 
as required by law and accounting standards, principles and 
practises generally accepted in Norway

- the information in the directors report concerning the financial
statements, the going concern assumption, and the proposal for
the appropriation of the loss is consistent with the financial 
statements and comply with law and regulations.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN & CO

Henning Strøm (sig)
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)

Oslo, 5 March 2002

The Corporate Assembly’s statement to the 
General Meeting regarding the annual 
accounts for 2001

Norske Skog’s Group accounts report a profit (after tax and 
before minorities) of NOK 2,660 million in 2001, against a corres-
ponding profit of NOK 2,184 million in 2000. Owing to internal
financial restructuring within the Group, the parent company
Norske Skogindustrier ASA reported a loss of NOK 403 million in
2001. All these internal transactions within the Group have been
eliminated, and consequently have no effect on the profit figure in
the Group accounts.

The Corporate Assembly recommends that the General 
Meeting approve the profit and loss statement and balance sheet
for 2001 for Norske Skogindustrier ASA and the Group, and agrees
with the Board’s proposal for distribution of dividend and for 
covering the deficit shown by Norske Skogindustrier ASA.

Lysaker, 5 March 2002

Ivar B. Korsbakken
Corporate Assembly Chairman
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Raw material

Timber: General term for
wood as a raw material.
Primarily used as a general
name for pulpwood and saw
logs timber, but also of sawn
timber as raw material for 
woodproducts factories.

Pulpwood: Logs suitable for
the production of chemical or
mechanical pulp.

Saw logs: Logs suitable for the
production of timber.

Chips: Wood chopped into 
pieces 20-50 mm long, 4-5 mm
thick and 15-20 mm wide,
produced from round logs, or
as a secondary product from
the sawmills.

Waste paper: Used newspapers
and magazines, waste paper
from offices and printshops,
used packaging.

Pulp

Cellulose: Organic substance
which is the most important
component of the cell walls in
wood fibre; it accounts for
roughly about 40%, while 
lignin makes up 30% and 
other substances the rest.

Lignin: Organic substance
gluing the wood fibres together.

Mechanical pulp: A mixture
of fibres having been separated
through mechanical processing
in refiners or grinders.

Refiner: A machine which
makes mechanical pulp by
pressing chips between rotating
steel discs. The surface pattern
of the discs helps separate the
individual fibres in the wood.

Grinder: A machine which
makes pulp from logs; the fibres
in the wood are separated when
the logs are pressed against a
rotating grinding stone.

Thermo Mechanical Pulp
(also called TMP): Mechani-
cal pulp produced by refining
chips that are pre-heated to
100-115 °C. The high tempe-
rature softens the wood struc-
ture and helps separate the 
fibres, thus yielding longer 
and stronger fibres than are
produced by grinding.

CTMP (Chemi-Thermo
-Mechanical Pulp): Pulp 
produced in refiners where the
raw material - chips - is both
pre-heated and chemically
impregnated.

Chemical pulp: A mixture of
fibres having been separated
through a chemical cooking
process where substances other
than cellulose are dissolved
and removed.

Sulphate (kraft) pulp:
Chemical pulp produced by
cooking the wood chips with a
solution consisting mainly of
caustic soda and sodium sul-
phide in a digester. The term
sulphate reflects the fact that
sodium sulphate was tradi-
tionally used in the chemical
recovery process.

Long fibre pulp: Chemical
pulp produced from softwood
timber such as spruce or pine.

Short fibre pulp: Chemical
pulp produced from hardwood
timber such as birch or euca-
lyptus.

DIP (deinked pulp): Recycled
newspapers, magazines and 
other printed material which
are chemically treated to 
remove the ink.

Bleaching: Removal or modi-
fication of the coloured com-
ponents in the pulp, primarily
lignin, to improve its bright-
ness. Acting chemicals include
chlorine dioxide and hydrogen
peroxide, giving the pulp 
higher brightness.

Market pulp: Pulp delivered
to external end-users. Most
pulp is converted to paper in
an integrated mill.

Paper

Coating: A process in which
the paper sheet is given a thin
coating of clay and other pig-
ments, to give the sheet a good
printing surface.

Basis weight (substance):
The weight of the paper sheet
per unit area, normally in
grammes per square metre. In
North America other units of
measurement are used (lb per
3,000 square feet).

Wood containing paper 
(publication paper): General
term for paper containing
mainly mechanical pulp.
The most common grades are
newsprint, SC magazine paper
and LWC magazine paper.

Newsprint: Paper for news-
papers containing of up to
100% mechanical pulp and/or
deinked pulp. Deinked pulp is
increasingly used as a raw 
material for the production of
newsprint.

SC (Super Calendered) 
magazine paper: Uncoated
printing paper, mainly for ma-
gazines and catalogues, consis-
ting of about 50% mechanical
pulp, 20% chemical pulp and
30% clay. This paper is given a
surface treatment (super 
calendered) to give it a smoot-
her surface and better printing
characteristics.

LWC (Light weight Coated)
magazine paper: Coated
printing paper with a base sheet
of mechanical and chemical
pulp given a coating to improve
its surface - used for magazines,
catalogues and free sheets.

Fine paper: General term for
writing and printing paper of
high quality, made from 
bleached chemical pulp.

Other

Biological treatment:
A method of cleansing waste
water in which micro organisms
convert dissolved organic 
material in the effluent to 
water, CO2 and combustible
sludge.

Boiler house: The section that
produces the thermal energy
(steam/hot air) required during
the production process to give
the finished products (pulp,
paper, board, sawn timber) the
desired dry matter content.

GLOSSARY
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Norske Skogindustrier ASA
Oksenøyveien 80
N-1366 LYSAKER
Tel.: +47 67 59 90 00
Fax: +47 67 59 91 81

Regions

Norske Skog Europe
Oksenøyveien 80
N-1366 LYSAKER
P.O.Box 329
N-1326 LYSAKER
Tel.: +47 67 59 90 00
Fax: +47 67 59 92 66

Norske Skog South America
Norske Skog do Brazil Ltda
Rua Pasteur 463, 10 andar
80250-080 Curitiba PR
Brazil
Tel.: +55 41 340 2000
Fax: +55 41 342 8772

Norske Skog Australasia
Norske Skog (Australasia) Pty
Limited
Level 22, 1 Oxford Street
Darlinghurst, NSW 2010
P.O.Box 485
Darlinghurst, NSW 1300
Australia
Tel.: +61 2 9283 1444
Fax: +61 2 9283 7856

Partly owned 
companies

North America
Norske Skog Canada Ltd.
9th Floor, 700 West Georgia
Street
P.O.Box 10058 Pacific Centre
Vancouver, British Columbia 
Canada V7Y 1J7
Tel.: +1 604 654 4000
Fax: +1 604 654 4048

Asia
Pan Asia Paper Co. Pte. Ltd.
4 Shenton Way,
# 29-01 SGX Centre 2
Singapore 068807
Singapore
Tel.: +65 6327 4188
Fax: +65 6327 4264
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